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We all have
journeys
in life...

With over10 million transactions each
year, the journey of buying or selling a
caris often complex and inefficient.

Auto Trader, the UK's largest digital
automotive marketplace, addresses this by
driving efficiencies through its innovative
products and solutions that enable
smoother buying and selling experiences.

Making these journeys easier will lead
to people changing their cars more
often - awin for consumers, retailers
and manufacturers alike.

Start the journey on page 4

Auto Trader Group plc o1
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Business at a glance

Another year
of growth

Change from 52-week to
annual accounting period

As the 2017 financial year was four days
longer than the 2018 financial year,

year-on-year percentages forrevenue,
costs, profit, EPSand dividend per share

have beenadjusted throughout thisreport

toreflectlike-for-like growth.

Operating and financial review
page 28

Financial highlights'

Revenue

+7%

t0£330.1Im

2017 2018
£311.4m £330.1m

Average Revenue
Per Retailer (‘ARPR’) 2

+£149

to £1,695pcm

2017 2018
£1,546 £1,695

Operating profit

+10%

to£220.6m

Margin Margin

2017 2018
£203.1m £220.6m

Basic EPS

+15%

to17.76p pershare

2017 2018
15.64p  17.76p

Cashgenerated fromoperations®> Netexternal debt**® Total dividend per share Cashreturns to shareholders®
+£13.2m -£16.3m 5.9p +£19.7m
t0£226.1m to £338.7m interim1.9p plus final 4.0p to £148.4m
Leverage Leverage
2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018
£212.9m £2261m £355.0m £338.7m 5.2p 5.9p £128.7m £148.4m
L] L] L]
Operational highlights
Average monthly cross Advertviews per month %8 Live car stock 2° Number of retailer forecourts
platform minutes’® advertising on Auto Trader?
O, O, O, O,
+6% -0% +1% -1%
to 618m to246m t0 453,000 to 13,213

(2017: 582m)

(2017: 247m)

(2017:450,000)

(2017:13,29¢)

1 '2018'referencesthe yearended 31 March 2018 and 4 Netexternaldebtis gross externalindebtedness, 7 Crossplatformminutes as measured by comScore

the comparative ‘2017’ references the 369-day period

lesscashand cash equivalents.

MMX Multi-Platform.

ended 31 March 2017 unless otherwise stated. 5 LeverageisNetexternaldebtasamultiple of Adjusted 8 Companymeasure of the numberofinspections

2 Averagenumberduring theyear.

3 Cashgenerated fromoperationsis defined asnet
cash generated from operating activities, before

corporation tax paid.

02 Auto Trader Group plc

underlying EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxation,
depreciationand amortisation, share-based payments
andassociated NI).

of individual vehicle advertisements on the UK
marketplace for both physicaland virtual stock.

9 Physicalcarsadvertised onautotrader.co.uk.

6 Cashreturnstoshareholders comprise dividends
paid and the cost of share buybacks (excluding

transaction costs).

AnnualReportand Financial Statements 2018
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We have maintained our market leading position, —>  Chairman’sstatement

with consistent full page advert views and
increasing minutes spent on our marketplace.
Profit growth has largely been converted into cash,
which has beenreturned to shareholdersinline

with our capitalreturns policy.

Chief Executive Officer’s statement

Ourbusiness model

Operating and financial review

Our revenue streams

FORSALE
» a

Revenue from retailers, home
traders and logistics companies,
utilising Auto Trader’s products
and marketplaces.

E

=

Consumer services

Revenue from private sellers

who pay to place adverts on our
marketplace and from our partners
who provide services to consumers.

Revenue from manufacturers
and theiradvertising agencies
who advertise their brand or
services onthe marketplace.

Revenue performance Revenue performance Revenue performance
o) (o) (o)
+8% -5% +10%
to £281.2m t0£29.8m to £19.1m
(2017: £262.1m) (2017:£31.8m) (2017: £17.5m)
Auto Trader Group plc 03

Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2018



Unique journeys:

From desire,

to research,

Auto Trader makes the
consumer journey easier

Therole we play for consumers:

Consumers cansearch from
453,000'used carsand 6,000
virtual cars on the marketplace
eachmonth.

With 52% of car buyers wanting
to search for their next car by
monthly price?, we launched a
new finance search tool which
allows themto dojust that. Over
8,000 retailers feature monthly

price payments on theiradverts.

Over 8,000 retailers featurein
circa470,000reviews, helping
consumers make aninformed
and trusted decision about
who they want to buy from.

We offerafree standard
five point vehicle check
so consumers can quickly
assess the provenance
of avehicle.

We provide free vehicle
valuations, offering both a
private sale price as well as
apart-exchange price.

Powered by our valuations,
these good, great or low price
indicators give consumers full
price transparency so they can
understand the price they

are paying compared to the
market value.

Consumers can list their
vehicles for sale directly
to otherconsumers.

We offer consumers avariety

of services to help them make an
informed decision about the car
they are looking to buy. These
include finance andinsurance.

We feature over 48,000 expert
and ownerreviews, as well as
regularly updated editorial
and advice articles to help
consumersin their car buying
journey. We recently launched
anew series of expertreviews
called ‘The REV Test' which are
presented by expert female
automotive journalistsand are
aimed at helping both women
and men choose their next car
based onamonthly budget or
lifestyle change.

1 Averagephysical carsadvertised on
autotrader.co.uk.
2 Auto Trader Market Report, March 2018.

’
F
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Greater choice Over
used cars and 6,000 retailers feature monthly price
virtual new make/model payments on theiradverts

derivatives listed each month

Auto Trader Group plc
ortand Financial Statement



retailers

13,213 £1,695

utoTradérGroup plc
AnnualReportand Finac,ial Statements 2018




From
marketing,

Strategicreport / Governance / Financialstatements

to finance,

Auto Trader makes the
retailer journey easier

The role we play for retailers:

Our core classified platform
reaches the UK's largest
automotive audience. Our
product packages enable
retailers to compete effectively
onthe marketplace. Our ‘starter’
retailer package nowincludes
products suchas100images,
Live Chat, Dealer Reviews and
the Part-Exchange Guide. We
offer progressively higher levels,
giving retailers the opportunity
to pay for greater prominence
andstandoutinasearch.

After gaining FCA authorisation,
we cannow enableretailers
todisplay theirown finance
calculatoras standard on their
full page adverts on Auto Trader.
This allows retailers to show
their finance offerings much
earlieroninthe carbuying
journey, therefore increasing the
opportunity forthemto sell their
own finance overaconsumer

sourcing finance from elsewhere.

Powered by both our own and
third-party data, we offer data
intelligence solutions (i-Control
and Retail Check) enabling
retailers to buy the right stock,
attheright price.

Animprovementinthe
underlying data that powers

our valuations has allowed us
tolaunch specification-adjusted
valuations which power price
indicators consumers see

on the marketplace. Our
valuations also power our
part-exchange tool.

Weinvestintechnologyanda
security team thatis focused
oncreating asafe and secure
marketplace. We remove
misleading adverts and also
operate two-factor verification
onour platformsto protect

our customers.

As wellas providing every
retailer customer with monthly
performance dashboard
analytics to help them assess
theirperformance on

Auto Trader, we also offer free
best practice events. Inthe
lastyear over4,000 retailers
have attended a free webinar,
masterclass or conference
where ourinsight team have
shared the latest consumer
insightsand best practice advice.

Auto Trader Group plc 07
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Unique journeys:

08

From

production,

to advertising,

Auto Trader makes the
manufacturer journey easier

The role we play for manufacturers:

We know that 75% of buyers
consider new cars, so we added
over 6,000 brand new car
make/modelvariants. These
new cars are unregistered and
do not physically exist,and are
called virtualstock'.

Our platformenables
manufacturers to advertise
tothe UK's largest car buying
audience. We provide
manufacturers witharange

of manufacturerand agency
options, including anew format
InSearch, which allows brands
toserve new caradverts within
searchresults. And as 58% of
carbuyersusedvideo toinform

Avuto Trader Group plc

theirrecent purchase decision?,
we responded with new video
format advertising.

Make/model pages forallnew
carsimprove the buying journey,
and the extracontentenhances
Auto Trader's positioninthe new
carmarket. Last year we launched
our first New Car Awards - where
we asked over10,000 consumers
tovote ontheir favourite cars
based ontrue lifestyle categories
such as family car of the year

and best car forlong distances.
These accolades were well
received by manufacturers,

with some using the award
intheir marketing collateral.

Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2018

We have developed our own data
management platform (‘DMP’)
which allows us touse both first
and third-party datato create
highly targeted audience
segments foradvertising. We are
utilising our DMP together with
our Creative Solutions offering to
give manufacturers acompelling
propositionto reach new
carbuyers.

3 Google Gear Shift Research 2017.



A greater choice
of virtual stock

brand new cars covered
by our discovery search

The
automotive
market

of car buyers used video
toinform their purchases



Chairman’s statement

We continue to make
progress against our
strategy of improving

Change from 52-week to
annual accounting period

As the 2017 financial year was four days
longer than the 2018 financial year,

year-on-year percentages for revenue,
costs, profit, EPSand dividend per share

car buying in the UK

have beenadjusted throughout thisreport
toreflectlike-for-like growth.

Operating and financial review
page 28

2018 was a year of investmentin
innovation, reflecting a long-term
perspective underpinned by our
financial strength.

10

S

.

Y

Chairman

Driving sustainable growth

Creating sustainable shareholdervalue over the long term,
underpinned by adiverse, transparent and open culture.

Board diversity

As at 31 March 2018 As at 31 March 2018

Governance overview
page 50

Auto Trader Group plc
AnnualReportand Financial Statements 2018

OLT diversity

Overview

The challengestothe carindustry
inthe UK during this pre-Brexit
periodare wellreported, though
concentrated predominantlyin
the new carsector. Nonetheless,
Auto Trader continued toinnovate
and grow. Totalrevenue grew by 7%
to £330.Im,and earnings per share
(‘'EPS’) grew by 15%, principally
asaresult of rising profits but
enhanced by share buybacks.

We also continued toinnovate,
enhancing the consumer
experience and delivering
more value toretailersand
manufacturers.

Dividend and capital strategy
We are recommending to
shareholdersafinaldividend

of 4.0 pence per share, bringing
the totaldividend for the year
to 5.9 pence pershare. This15%
increase onthe previousyearis
underpinned by our EPS growth.

Our policyis todistribute
around a third of netincome
asdividends. We use the
majority of surplus cash, after
dividends, to buy back shares
while alsoreducing debt. In
2018, wereturned £148.4mto
shareholders through dividends
and share buybacks, bringing the
totalsince IPO to £282.1m.

Refinancing

Oné6June 2018 wesignedintoa
new five-year £400mrevolving
credit facility,ahead of our existing
facility maturity of March 2020.
Seethe Operatingand financial
review section formore details.

Culture, diversity and inclusion
We foster a culture of openness
and transparency. The Board
spendsasignificant proportion
of itstime on supporting the
executivesinmaintaining and
improving our culture.

Team (‘OLT’) and a third of

our Board. The proportion of
women and minorities amongst
ourworkforce hasincreasedin
recentyears, atleastinpartdue
toanumber of well supported
internalinitiatives. We recently
published our Gender Pay Gap,
which thoughimproved, still
leaves us short of the goal of
eliminating the gap entirely.
The CSRreportonpage 43
contains more detailonthe
work we are doing to continue
to fosterdiversity.

Board changes and governance
Sean Glithero stepped down
as Chief Financial Officeron

21 September 2017. During his
11years with Auto Trader, Sean
made a huge contributionina
wide range of areasand under
differing ownership structure.
We thank him for this
contributionand wish him well
inhisnewrole. Nathan Coe,
Chief Operating Officer, took
onthe additional responsibility
of Chief Financial Officer on
Sean’'sdeparture.

Asaresult, the overall Board
sizereduced fromseven

to six. Whilstvery small by
the standards of FTSE 250
companies, weremain
compliant with all provisions
of the Corporate Governance
Code. The smallBoard size
helps maintainalevel of trust
and opennessinline with our
culture.

Annual General Meeting

Our Annual General Meeting
('AGM’) will be held at10.00am
on Thursday 20 September 2018
at4th Floor,1Tony Wilson Place,
Manchester, M154FN and we
expectthatall Directors will
beinattendance.

Ed Williams
We are committed to havinga Chairman
diverse workforce,includingthe  7June 2018

Board. Women now make up 50%
of our Operational Leadership



Chief Executive Officer’'s statement

We maintained our market leading
position and our audience has
continued to grow as consumers
spend more time on the site.

Chief Executive Officer

Another year of growth

Operating and financial review, page 26

Our strategy, page 20

Corporate social responsibility, page 39

Market overview, page 14

1 AutoTraderemployee engagementsurvey, 2017
2 Glassdoor, April 2018

Strategicreport / Governance / Financialstatements

. Ourbusiness model

page18

Key performanceindicators

page 22

Delivering against our strategy
Our purposeistoleadthe
future of the digitalautomotive
marketplace and we continue
to make progress againstour
strategy of improving car buying
inthe UK. We seek to continually
evolve the automotive
ecosystem so consumers,
retailers and manufacturers
realise greater efficiencies.

Summary of operating
performance
Ithasbeenanother goodyear
forthe business despite the
toughest market conditions we
have seensince we becamea
publiccompany. We achieved
revenue growth of 7%, through our
core Retailerand Manufacturer
and Agency revenue streams, but
thishas been partially offset by
weaknessin Consumer services
where broadereconomic
uncertainty has affected our
private listings business. With
Operating profit growth of 10%,
we saw continued improvement
in Operating profitmarginto 67%.

What we’ve delivered

We have amarket leading
positionas the UK's largest
digitalautomotive marketplace.
Ouraudience has grownas
consumers spend more time
onourplatforms, viewing an
average of 94 adverts every
second of every day,and the vast
majority of ouraudience remains
unique to Auto Trader.

During the year we improved our
offering toretailer customers,
including the successfullaunch
of our new advertising packages
in April 2017, which enabled
retailers tocompete more
effectively onour marketplace.
We have also continued to
leverage our datato evolve our
consumer and retailer products,
integrated Motor Trade Delivery
('MTD’)and delivered our new
Dealer Finance productin
December 2017.

The market

The overall size of the UK's
car parc continues to grow,
whichis beneficial for our
stock-based business model.
However, inthe year to March
2018 bothnew and used car
transactions declined,and
industry forecasts suggest
that both markets will continue
todecline forthe remainder
of the calendaryear 2018.

People and culture

As we strive to become the
UK’'s mostadmired digital
business, |am delighted to
say that 90% of employees
say they are proud to work
at Auto Trader'and would
recommend the Company
toafriend?.

We are committed to
addressing the genderand
wider diversity balance thatis
commoninmosttechnology
anddigitalcompaniesand we
have made good progressin
thisarea. Along with all other
large companies, we reported
our Gender Pay Gap this

year for the firsttime. We are
dedicated toreducing this gap
aswellasincreasing diversity
atalllevels of ourbusiness
and we have implemented
anumber of initiatives which
are already having animpact.

Finally, this year we
re-assessed our business’
core values, and collectively
decided toaddasixthvalue

- community-minded -asa
reflection of our commitments
tosupportthe Auto Trader
community,aswellas the
wider communitiesin which
we operate.

Trevor Mather
Chief Executive Officer
7June 2018

Auto Trader Group plc

Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2018



Value generation story

A holistic approach
to generating value

Market overview Our business model
The automotive market, with over10 million Auto Trader is the UK's largest digital automotive
transactions eachyear, is complex and often marketplace. Our trusted brand has been built over
inefficient. We believe that by continuallyimproving 40years, where we have built a network of highly
transparency in the marketplace around pricing, engaged consumers shopping for cars. These cars
specifications of the car and dealer reviews we can are largely supplied by retailers, as well as a small
improve trust held within the industry. Greater trust, proportion from other consumers, and are then
as wellas amuchimproved buying journey, should advertised on our marketplace - the most effective
help many consumers overcome their perception automotive sales platform. We collect large amounts
that changing their caris an onerous process and, of dataand continually investin our platform,
ultimately, encourage more transactions. marketing, insight and customer relationships.
Focus areas

Consumers

Owners of the 34.7 million
cars within the UK car parc. PS m

Consumersinvolvedin

transactions as buyers, carssoldto
sometimes also sellers S S
and providers of stock via (newandused) “DIEN
part-exchange. P oe
e " 8rowing g
! ,\o“/\“ westmentinlg, :"C‘e

Retailers o

%
Retailers areinvolved / @
inthe sale of new cars, 5 0 | Auto Trader’s S
as part of amanufacturers’ ® m trusted _g
distribution network, used car sales from marketplace ! 3
and sellers of used cars. T mim—— | 1’;‘”
Much of that used car stock o
is sourced via part-exchange &
or through auctions. o5

//71' X0

Ss, -t
St “Ment in insigh*® oe,?a\
k‘based revenu®

Manufacturers

New cars are builtand STOCK
distributed either to fleet 2 4 m

and lease companies or -

sold to companies and new car

private buyers, usually registrations to
viaafranchise network. consumers

Market overview . Our business model
page14 page18
12 Auto Trader Group plc
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Our strategy KPIs

We use the metrics below to track our operational
and financial performance. This financial year,

we have moved to using statutory Operating profit,
as the growthin share-based payments hasreached
steady state as described at IPO. We have also
introduced live car stock as a new operational
measure, as thisis akeyrevenue driver.

We remain committed to our purpose of leading

the future of the digital automotive marketplace
and we have continued to make progress against our
strategy of improving car buyingin the UK. We seek
to continually evolve the automotive ecosystem so
consumers, retailers and manufacturers alike

experience greater efficiencies.

Our strategic pillars

Improve car buying

Evolve the automotive
ecosystemin the UK

Become the most admired
digital business

Our strategy
page 20

inthe UK

Financial Operational

Revenue Advertviews

£m Average number per month (millions)

330.1 246

Average Revenue Number of retailer

Per Retailer (‘ARPR’) forecourts

£permonth Average number per month

1,695 13,213

Operating profit Live car stock

£m Average number of physical cars
advertised onautotrader.co.uk per month

220.6
453,000

Operating profit Cross platform minutes

margin Monthly average minutes spent
acrossallour platforms (millions)

O,
orv 618
Basic EPS Number of full-time

pencepershare

17.76

equivalent employees (‘FTEs’)
Average number (including contractors)

824

Cash generated
from operations

Key performanceindicators
page 22

Auto Trader Group plc 13
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Market overview

The automotive
market today

UK automotive market and

12-month rolling new car registrations

associated macroeconomic 05 o
conditions o
1,000 °
0 ro
-10
-20
2016 2017 2018

New and used car sales
Agrowing number of vehicles
inthe UK, coupled with astable
desire of car owners wanting
tochange their car (average
ownershipis 3.3years),
resultedin10.4 million total

car transactionsinthe12 months
to March 2018.

New car sales have fallen from
record highs seenin 2016, with
the total number of new car
registrations down by 11%to
2.4millioninthe12 monthsto
March 2018, according to the
Society of Motor Manufacturers
and Traders ('SMMT').

Despite the decline, the overall
UK car parc has continued to grow,
increasing by 1% to 34.7 million
cars',asthe number of cars
registered outweighs the number
of carsthatare scrappedeach
year. Inthe12 months to March
2018, used car transactions were
down 3%to 7.9 million®.

14 Auto Trader Group plc

Used car prices continue to
increase. The Auto Trader Retail
Price Index shows that the price
of ausedcarinthe UK has
continued to grow; achieving
anaverage of £12,171over the
12-month period to March 2018,
anincrease of 5.4%when
compared to the same period
the previousyear. Thisisona
like-for-like basis - stripping
out theimpact of changesin
the mix of carsbeing sold.

Looking forward, industry
predictions suggest that new
cartransactions will decline
againin 2018 by similar levels
experiencedin 2017. However,
the used car marketisless
volatile and therefore we
anticipate only asmalldecline
inthe number of used car
salesin2018.

UK economy and EU
Referendumimplications
Against abackdrop of the UK
negotiatingits exit fromthe EU,
the economy remained fairly
buoyantinthe calendaryear 2017.
GDP grew by 1.7% with similar
levels predicted for calendar
year 2018. Inflation has continued
to climb steadily to 2.3%in March
2018, with the largest downward
contributionto change in the rate
coming from prices for motor

AnnualReportand Financial Statements 2018

@ Year-on-year growthin the month Number of new car registrations

12-month rolling used car transactions
(%)

9,000 30
|
6,000 20
3,000 10
0 +0
-10
-20
-30
2016 2017 2018

@ Year-on-year growth for the month Number of used car transactions

Auto Trader Retail Price Index
(%)

15,000 15.0
12.
12,000 5
10.0
9,000
75
6,000
5.0
0 I I I 0
=25
5.0
2016 2017 2018

@ Year-on-year price growth for the month
® Year-on-year mix growth for the month
Average price of a trade car for the month



34.7m

Strategicreport / Governance / Financialstatements

2.4m

7.9m 10.4m

carsregistered
inthe UK'

Our business model

fuels, whichrose by less than However, there are concerns
theydidayearago. Interestrates  abouttheimplications
remain low, although the Bankof  surrounding the UK’'s departure

Englandincreasedits baserate from the EU. Economic conditions
to0.5%in November 2017, the first  and, critically for the automotive
increase since July 2007; this industry, currency volatility and
continued low level of interest consumer confidence levels
rates has contributedto the couldallbe adversely affected.
attractiveness of car finance For our business specifically, if
dealsandtherefore overall prices of carsincrease and
vehicle sales.

1 SMMT UK carparc.

2 SMMT new carregistrations.
3 DVLAusedcartransactions.

new carsregistered used carssold cartransactions

inthe12 months inthe12months inthe12 months

to March 20182 to March 2018° to March 2018
Our strategy KPIs

consumer confidence levels
decrease, thenthere’'s apotential
impactonthe number of actual
cartransactions. This would

likelyimpactourr

etailersand

theirability to spend on our
marketplace. Turnto page 34
formoreinformationabout the
impact of the EU Referendum

onAuto Trader.

The automotive market, with over 10 million car transactions
eachyear, is complex and often inefficient. Through the
evolution of our digital platforms and our innovative data
products, we continue to make the car buying process
easier for consumers, retailers and manufacturers.

2 2.4m

new car
registrations
) Newcarssold 4 o
viaretailers
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Auto Trader Group plc
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Market overview continued

Improving the

car buying experience

Simplifying the car

buying journey

The automotive retail sector
isafastevolving one. The way
people search for their nextcar,
the way they pay forit,and the
carsthemselves, haveall
changed dramatically over the
lastdecade. Today, 94% of
consumers conduct their car
buying research online, spending
anaverage of 13hours looking
fortheirnext car*, choosing from
analmostendlesslist of brands,
specifications, budgets

and deals.

However, for many car buyers
thischange has created a
complexand often frustrating
process. Ouraward-winning
CarBuyers Report found that
85% of consumers entering the
process expectittobe hard,
with 60% giving up their pursuit
forthe perfect carand making
apurchase simply out of
exhaustion. The problemis
evenmore prevalentamongst
younger buyers.

At Auto Trader we are committed
tocreating anend-to-end buying
experience thatis easy,
convenient, transparentand safe
forconsumers,and one which
reflects their evolving retail
needs and expectations. As part
of this commitment, we provide
ourretailer customers with the
products, tools, dataandinsight
to create amore engaging,
efficientand simplified buying
journey for today’s car buyers.

16 Auto Trader Group plc

Building trust through
transparency

One of the biggest challenges
faced by the automotive industry
istrust. Just 7% of consumers
claimto trust car dealers,and
asaresult nearly aquarter of
carbuyers (23%) find visiting a
dealership dauntingand 22%
see cardealershipsas
untrustworthy®. We have worked
hard to address thisissue. We
have built relationships with the
leading third-party review sites
and have aggregated over
470,000reviews, as wellas
developed our own ‘open’
review platform. We are now the
numberone dealer review sitein
the UK, with over 8,000 retailers
providing reviews. This level of
transparency offers consumers
greater confidence and trust
inthe dealer,and forretailers,

it provides the opportunity
todifferentiate themselves
amongst competitors.
Underlining the positive
influencereviews have on
consumers, car buyers spend
22%more time on full page
advertsthatcarryreviews than
those thatdon'té.

Forconsumers,akeyfactorin
establishing trustis price
transparency. In fact, 76% of car
buyersbelieve that transparent
pricingis the mostimportant
factor whenbuyingacar’. Last
year we launched Price Indicator
to help consumers validate the
price of acarversus similarones
onourmarketplace. Advertsare
labelled as having either a Great
Price, Good Price or Priced Low,
determined by comparing prices
against Auto Trader market
valuations. The calculations are
based on make, model,
derivative, age, mileage and

AnnualReportand Financial Statements 2018

94%

of consumers
conduct their car
buying research
online*

52%

of buyers worked out
their monthly budget
whenresearching
their nextcar®

88%

of new cars bought
on finance’®

1.5m

valuations
conducted per
month

adjusted forany optional extras
onthe car. We combine and
analyse data from circa 500,000
trade used car listings every day,
as wellasadditionaldealer
forecourtand website data,
ensuringindicatorsare an
accurate reflection of the live
retail market. Adverts with

Price Indicator are viewed over
four million times every day.

With 33% of buyers walking away
froma part-exchange duetoa
disagreementon the valuation
offered', our valuations are also
used to build trustin the price of
the carconsumersare selling.
Our Part-Ex Guide Price is
designed to bring consumers
andretailers together. It gives
potential car buyers a
convenient wayin whichto get
anaccurate part-exchange guide
price ontheir car based onour
powerfulvaluations.



Looking forward

Our business model

/ Governance / Financial statements

>

Operating and financial review

Our strategy

KPIs

New car sales
continue to decline

Industry predictions suggest that new car transactions willdecline againin

2018 by similar levels experienced in 2017. The used car market, which makes

up two thirds of annual car transactions, is less volatile and therefore the

industry expects only asmalldeclinein the number of used car salesin 2018.

Brexit negotiations

If prices of carsincrease and consumer confidence levels decrease, then

there'sapotentialimpact on the number of car transactions, which mayimpact

onourretailers’ profitability.

Consumer Consumers spend anaverage of 13 hours researching their next car online and only visit1.6 dealerships
behaviour change before they buy“. Consumers willdemand acomplete end-to-end buying journey and willdo more of
the processonline and visit fewer dealerships to make their purchase.

Cars bought 88%of new cars, and circa 30% of used cars, were bought on finance in 2017°. As thisis set toincrease,
on finance making the financing of used cars especially more competitive, accessible and easier to understand

Forretailers, the toolnot

only encouragesamore
cost-effective source of stock,
butitalsoenables smoother
negotiations with engaged car
buyers earlierin the car buying
process. Accordingly, circa 9,000
retailers choose to promote our
toolon their full page adverts.
Each month, 1.5 million valuations
are carried out, with over 85,000
enquiries senttoretailers.

Demystifying finance

Our latest Market Report
revealed that over half of car
buyers (52%) already consider the
costofacarasamonthlyprice,
rather thanthe full retail value®.
However, despite 88% of new
carsboughton financein 2017,
andcirca30%of used,consumers
have told us that financeis one
of the most challenging and
confusing aspects of the modern
carbuyingjourney?. And for our
retailer customers, alltoo many
were losing out on lucrative

willbe crucial to driving more options for buyers and more sales for retailers.

finance deals to alternative
lenders, such as high-street
banks and specialist providers.
Toaddress both challenges, we
introduced finance across our
retaileradverts, integrating
finance options from over 6,000
retailers. Fornon-Financial
Conduct Authority (‘FCA’)
authorisedretailers, we
partnered with car finance
broker, Zuto.

To furtherenhance the finance
experience, in December 2017

we launched asearch by monthly
price functionality, makingiteven
easier forconsumerstofindacar

based ontheirmonthly budget.

Forconsumersit'sadded greater

simplicity and convenience. For
our customersit providesa

welcome competitive advantage

with the opportunity to engage
with carbuyersatthe very

beginning of their buyingjourney,

notattheendofit.

Despite a growing number

of competitive brandsand
platforms, our ability to evolve
and adaptalongside changing
market conditions means we
remainthe UK's largest digital
automotive marketplace for new
andused cars. With 55 million
cross platformvisits" we are
the mostvisited automotive
website, with anaudience three
times larger than our nearest
competitor. With car buyers
spending 618 million minutes on
Auto Trader'?, we also have the
mostengaged audience. What's
more, we are the most trusted
automotive classified brandin
the UK, with nearly 10 times more
consumers claiming to trust
Auto Trader over our nearest
competitor.

10

Auto Traderinternal data.

Auto Trader Market Report
(September2016).

Auto Traderinternal data.

Auto Trader Market Report
(September2016).

Auto Trader Market Report (March 2018).
Auto Trader Market Report (March 2018).
Auto Traderinternal data.

Cross platformvisits as measured by
comsScore (average during the year).
Cross platformminutes as measured
by comsScore (average during the year).

Auto Trader Group plc
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Our business model

Leveraging the scale of our
network to generate value

Market overview Our business model

Inputs How we generate value

Auto Traderis the UK's largest

o _ We generate value by investing in the largest
digital automotive marketplace.

Our trusted brand has been built and most trusted automotive marketplace...

over the last 40 years through
advancementsin our technology
and products, coupled with a

highly skilled digital workforce. DI E N
pOo - NCs

‘“e\‘\t in grow:ng

es
X « gstmenti 'npla,f 9008
/)7

s

Our
people

Avuto Trader’s
trusted
marketplace

Technology

9,
Us, 29
""adxa ﬁul Anq 1ed b

e, B
tMent in insigh*
“based revenv®

STock

Brand
strength

...this generates greater consumer engagement,
alarger choice of stock and therefore revenue.

Strategic pillars

Improve car buying Evolve the automotive Become the most

inthe UK ecosystemin the UK admired digital business

'

18 Auto Trader Group plc
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Our strategy KPIs

Value outputs

Trust in the market

Brand reputation

Market position

Data & insight

Revenue

Shareholder returns

Auto Trader Group plc
Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2018
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Ovur strategy

To be the UK’s leading digital
automotive marketplace

Market overview

Strategic pillars

Our business model

Focus areas

Our strategy

20

Improve
car buying
inthe UK

Evolve the
automotive
ecosystem
in the UK

Become the
most admired
digital business

Avuto Trader Group plc
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(1]

Increase consumer
audience, advert
views and use of our
valuation tools

Having the largest and most engaged consumer
audienceis one of the key componentsinour
network effects business model. Investingin the
best consumer experience and growing audience
underpins the value we deliver to our retailers. Part
of thatexperience s the free valuation tool we offer.

(2

Improve stock
choice, volumes
and accuracy

Consumers visit Auto Trader because of the volume
and choice of trusted stock from our fragmented
customer base. It'simportant we maintain coverage
across age, price, region, make and model to ensure
we can meet the buying needs of all our consumers.
Stockisunderpinned by accurate taxonomy, which
we continue toimprove.

(3]

Grow ARPRina
balanced, sustainable
way by creating value
for our customers

Average Revenue Per Retailer (‘ARPR’) growthis
driven by three levers: stock, price and product.
Overathreeto four-year period we look to balance
their contribution, as we seek to attain long-term
sustainable growth.

(4]

Enhance our
relevance and value
to manufacturers

Whilst the majority of ourrevenue comes fromretailers,
thereis considerable opportunity with manufacturers.
We know three out of four consumers are open to
buying new cars highupin the buying funnel, which
promotes ouraudience of in-market car buyersasa
valuable target audience for manufacturers.

(5]

Extend our product

offering further down the

buying funnel, towards
online transactions

There's considerable market research suggesting

that consumers are becoming more opentotheidea

of transacting cars online. We believe having the
component parts of the deal will be a key differentiator
forusasabusiness.

(6]

Create and maintain
high-performing,
data-oriented teams

Auto Trader's people are one of our mostimportant
assets. We continually investin their development,
ourenvironmentand promoting diversity and
inclusion. Datais at the heart of how we operate
asabusinessandhow our people work.




2018 progress

Strategicreport / Governance / Financialstatements

. Riskmanagement

page 32

Principalrisks and uncertainties

page 34

Relevant risks

How we measure progress

We have maintained our share of
audience versus competitors and kept
full page advertviews, our key measure
of audience engagement, consistent
yearonvyear.

2]
3]

Brand: Failure to protect our brand could resultinareduction
inaudience.

Increased competition: Competitors could develop a superior
consumer experience which we find hard toreplicate, resulting
inlossof audience share.

- Advertviews
- Cross platform minutes

We grew the number of live cars on site
1%intheyear, giving consumers greater
choice. We offered free consumer
adverts for cars priced under £1,000,
to gainshareinthis space.

Economy, marketand business environment: Declining used cars
transactions could lead to areductionin the amount of car stock
inthe market.

Increased competition: Competitors could expand from specific

types of stock, with smaller niche audiences, into other types of
stockanddisrupt our market position.

- Live stock

- Number of retailer forecourts

ARPR saw good growth of £149in2018.
Product was the largest growth
contributor, with the launch of our
advanced and premium packages,

as wellas added value productsincluded

Economy, market and business environment: Declining new
and used cars transactions could lead to areduction of retailers’
advertising spend, resultingindowngrades and pressure on
customer wallet.

- Revenue
- Operating profit
- Operating profit margin

- Numberofretailer forecourts
- Average Revenue Per Retailer

in the packages. Price and stock also o Failure toinnovat.e:dis.ruptivetechnologies and'changing ('ARPR’)

contributed to growth. consumer behaviours: Ifwg relytpo muchon priceand do not - Live stock
innovate our product offering toincrease value, we could see
downgrades and cancellations offsetting the growth expected
frompricinginitiatives.

We saw a solid year of growthinour - Revenue

Manufacturerand Agencyline. We've
seensignificantinvestmentinthe team,
recruitinganumber of people with OEM
experience andinvestingin our product
offering for these customers.

Economy, market and business environment: Declining new car
registrations could lead to areductionin manufacturer spend on
digitaldisplay advertising.

© Brand: Failure to change perception of manufacturers that we are

adestination for new carbuyers couldresultinlost opportunity
toattract more of the ¢.£500 million manufacturers spend on
digitaladvertising.

- Operating profit

- Operating profit margin
- Advertviews

- Cross platformminutes

The business has made good stridesin
delivering some of the component parts
of online transactions. We acquired Motor
Trade Delivery ('MTD’)in April, whichacts
asamarketplace for logistics companies,
and have also developed our finance
proposition to display monthly payment
prices on Auto Trader.

O Failure toinnovate: disruptive technologies and changing

consumer behaviours: If we do notinnovateinthisarea, thereis
ariskthat we miss out onthe opportunity to be at the front of
industry developments and lose market share.

- Revenue
- Operating profit
- Operating profitmargin

- Number of retailer forecourts
- Average Revenue Per Retailer

('ARPR’)

We've held our headcount flatyear-on-
year, buthaveincreased our developer
anddatascienceratios. Datacontinues to
playanever more prominentrole driving
business decisions, with capability
increasing across the organisation.

O Employees: Manchesterand London continue to growin

terms of competition for top talent, particularly in data science
and developers.

Risk that applies to all focus areas:

5 ITsystemsandcybersecurity

- Operating profit
- Operating profit margin

- Number of full-time equivalent

employees (‘FTEs’)

Measures that apply
toallfocus areas:

- BasicEPS
- Cash generated from
operations

Auto Trader Group plc
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Key performance indicators

Financial KPIs

Market overview Our business model Our strategy KPIls
Revenue Average Revenue Operating profit
£m Per Retailer (‘ARPR’) £m

+7%

£ permonth

+£149

2016 2017 2018

2016 2017 2018

® © ©

Margin Margin Margin

2016 2017 2018

Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas
000 (3] 000060
Definition Definition Definition

The Group generatesrevenue fromthree
different streams: Trade, Consumer
services and Manufacturer and Agency.
Tradeis furtheranalysedinto three

classes: Retailer, Home Trader and Other.

Progress

Revenueincreased 7%year-on-year,
with much of the growth coming
through our Retailer line, supported by
Manufacturerand Agency. This growth
was slightly undermined by adeclinein
Consumer services, due toareduction
in private listings.

Average Revenue Per Retailer ('ARPR') is
the average monthly revenue generated
fromretailer forecourts divided by the
average monthly number of retailer
forecourts.

Progress

ARPR grew £149inthe year. This was
largely a function of product growth,

as we launched anew set of packages,
monetising part-exchange, video,
dealerreviews andintroducing further
prominence productsin our new
advanced and premium levels. This was
supportedbyac.3%underlying price
riseand modest levels of stock growth.

Lastyear we announced we are no longer
reporting Underlying operating profit.
Instead, the focusis now onthe statutory
measure of Operating profit.

Operating profitisasreportedinthe
consolidatedincome statementon
page 88. Thisis defined asrevenue less
administrative expenses.

Operating profitmarginis Operating profit
asapercentage of revenue.

Progress

Operating profit grew10%due to top line
revenue growth of 7% and wellmanaged
costs. Margin continued toimprove, albeit
ataslowerrate thanpreviousyears.

Relevantrisks

0060000

Relevantrisks

0060000

Relevantrisks

0060000
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pence pershare

+15%

£m

+£13.2m

2016 2017 2018

2016 2017 2018

Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas
000060 00060
Definition Definition

Basic earnings pershareis defined as
profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the parent divided by the
weighted average number of sharesin
issue during the year.

Progress

Basic EPS grew at15%,demonstrating

the Group's high operational gearing.

Part of the growth drops through from
profit, butit was supported by areduction
inthe weighted average number of shares
inissue during the year.

Cash generated from operations as
reportedinthe consolidated statement
of cash flows onpage 92. Thisis defined
as cash generated from operating
activities, before corporation tax paid.
Thisis consideredtobeamore
meaningfulmeasure of performance than
the statutory measure of cash generated
from operating activities, which canbe
distorted by changesin funding structure
andthetime lag thatapplies tothe
payment of corporation tax.

Progress

Cash generated from operations
increased to £226.1million, giving
£13.2million growthintheyear. This
represented a high proportion of profit
convertedinto cash, whichwas largely
returned to shareholders through
dividends and share buybacks.

Relevantrisks

006000

Relevantrisks

000000

/ Governance / Financialstatements

Linked to remuneration

o

9 Directors’ remunerationreport
page 66

Focus areasrelevant to our KPIs

Improve car buyingin the UK

o Increase consumer audience, advert
views and use of our valuation tools

9 Improve stock choice, volumes
and accuracy

Evolve the automotive ecosystemin the UK

e Grow ARPRinabalanced, sustainable
way by creating value for our customers

@ Enhanceourrelevance andvalue
tomanufacturers

© Extendour product of fering further
down the buying funnel, towards online
transactions

Become the most admired digital business

@ Createandmaintain high-performing,
data-oriented teams

9 Our strategy
page 20

Risks relevant to our KPIs

@ ctconomy, marketandbusiness
environment

© Brand
o Increased competition

@ railure toinnovate: disruptive technologies
and changing consumer behaviours

e IT systems and cyber security
0O tmployeeretention

S Principalrisks and uncertainties
page 34
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Key performance indicators continued

Operational KPIs

Market overview Our business model Our strategy KPIls
Cross platform Advertviews Number of retailer
minutes Average number per month forecourts

Monthly average minutes spent across
allour platforms (millions)

+6%

(millions)

-0% 0o

Average number per month

-1%

618
521

2016 2017 2018

243 247 246

2016 2017 2018

2016 2017 2018

Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas
000 000 00
Definition Definition Definition

Monthly average minutes spentacrossall
our platforms, as defined by comScore.

Progress

Cross platformminutes, as measured by
comScore,increased 6% year-on-year.
Thiswasin partdue toamethodology
changein calculation, however we've
retained our market share when
measured against our competitor set.

Advertviews are click-throughs from
initial searchresult pages to see the more
detailed specification of the vehicle.
Research hasshownthatahigherlevel

of advertviews correlates with a higher
number of retailer sales.

Progress

Advertviews were broadly flatin the year.

The absolute volume remains highas we
delivered onaverage 246 million advert
views permonth, aconsiderable volume
of engagement for our customers with
theiradverts.

The average number of retailer forecourts
permonththatare advertising vehicles on
the Auto Trader marketplace over the
financialyear.

Progress

Number of retailer forecourts was flat,
following ayear of decline in 2017. We still
saw asmalllevel of declineinindependent
forecourts, but this was of fset by growth
in Franchise and non-car channels.

Relevantrisks

000000

Relevantrisks

000000

Relevantrisks

000000
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Number of full-time
equivalent employees
(‘FTEs’)

Average number (including contractors)

0%

Live car stock

Average number per month

+1% o

859 824 824

2016 2017 2018

2016 2017 2018

Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas
Definition Definition

Full-time equivalentemployees are
measured on the basis of the number

of hours worked by full-time employees,
with part-time employeesincluded on
apro-ratabasis. Number of FTEs
(whichincludes contractors)isreported
internally each calendar month, with

the full-year number being generated
fromanaverage of those 12 time periods.

Progress

FTEs were flat year-on-year following a
number of years of decline. Much of that
decline was due to the transition from
printtodigitaland we are now atalevel
of headcount that feelsright for the
business moving forward.

The average number of physical cars
thatare advertised on autotrader.co.uk
permonth.

This KPl has beenincluded for the first
timeinthe current financial year. Retailer
advertising revenueis dependentonthe
level of stockadvertised onour platforms
andsothisisakeyrevenuedriver.

Progress

Live car stock onsiteincreased by 1%.
Thiswas aresult of greater penetration
into our existing customer bases’
available stock as they saw greater
value of investing more in Auto Trader.
Thisadded stock helpedreinforce
ournetwork effects, giving greater
choice toconsumers.

Relevantrisks

000060

Relevantrisks

0000060
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Linked to remuneration

o

9 Directors’ remunerationreport
page 66

Focus areasrelevant to our KPIs

Improve car buyingin the UK

@ Increase consumeraudience, advert
views and use of our valuation tools

@ 'mprove stock choice, volumes
and accuracy
Evolve the automotive ecosystemin the UK

e Grow ARPRinabalanced, sustainable
way by creating value for our customers

@ Enhanceourrelevance andvalue
tomanufacturers

© Extendour product of fering further
down the buying funnel, towards online
transactions

Become the most admired digital business

@ Createandmaintain high-performing,
data-oriented teams

9 Our strategy
page 20

Risks relevant to our KPIs

@ ctconomy, marketandbusiness
environment

© Brand
e Increased competition

@ Failure toinnovate: disruptive technologies
and changing consumer behaviours

e IT systems and cyber security
0O tmployeeretention

S Principalrisks and uncertainties
page 34
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Operating and financial review

Innovation and growth

Operating review

Introduction

We are pleased with the progress we have
made thisyear, both froman operationaland
financial perspective. Despite the backdrop
of aslightly tougher market, we have
continued to deliverimprovements for
customers, consumers and our business
which hasresultedinastrong financial
performance.

Improving car buying in the UK

We have launched new products that make
carbuying more efficient, with the most
prominent of these being the ability to search
foracarby monthly payment. With over half
of carbuyers (52%) considering the price of
theirnext carasamonthly figure rather than
the fulladvertised price', we responded by
launching the ability for consumers to search
for their next car by monthly paymentin
December 2017.

The change was not only designed to meet
consumers’ growing expectations of being
able to search foreverything they buy on

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer monthly payments, but also to support
retailers attract more buyers to their cars
andincrease their finance penetration by

. : promotingtheirowp fipance offersmuch

D es p |te th e ba C kd ro p Of earlieroninthe buyingjourney.

5 Atthe startof t.h.e year we relaunched our
a slightly tougher market, e
we have continued to deliver Deale keview andha ParcEXenange
. Guide. We also of fer progressively higher
I m p rove m e ntS fo r C U Sto m e rS : package levels, giving retailers the
consumers and our business S
which has resulted in a strong ﬁ
financial performance.” Average advertviews

per month

246m

Average cross platform
minutes per month*
. Key performanceindicators 61 8
page 22 |1 1
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Average number of
retailer forecourts
advertising per month

13,213

Average number of live
car stock advertised on
our site per month

453,000

opportunity to pay for greater prominence to
stand outinsearch. Alongside these changes
toourcore packages we alsore-platformed
our core vehicle upload process to make it
both easierand quicker forretailers to
advertise stock on our marketplace.

We have continued our focus on growing
penetration of our ‘Managing’ products:
i-Controland Retail Check. Approximately
3,000 retailer forecourts (2017: 2,500) listing
39%of trade stock, are using at least one of
these dataanalytics products, whichwe
have improved by adding Price Indicator
flags and evolving our valuation engine with
machine learning to take into account vehicle
specification - a first for the UK market.

We continue toinvestin our brand to ensure
itstays front of mind with consumers.

Auto Trader enjoys 91% prompted brand
awareness?with consumersandis
consistently voted as the mostinfluential
automotive website by consumersinthe car
buying process. We redesigned our website
and native apps, and improved functionality
tobetterreflect our positionasthe number
one marketplace forbothusedand new cars.

/ Governance / Financialstatements

—  Ourbusinessmodel

Our strategy

With three out of every four visitors to

Auto Trader considering purchasing anew
car3, we have developed new products that
allow manufacturersand theiragencies to
reachandinfluence these buyers. Inthe last
12months we launched InSearch, our native
advertising performance product, which
allows new carsto be promoted within search
inahighly targeted way. More recently we
have further developed this product to
include avideo formatallowing us to capitalise
onthefastgrowthinvideoadvertising.

Both manufacturers andretailers cannow
use our Search APl service to operate their
websites, saving them the effort of building
backend systems and allowing them to
benefit from our taxonomy, valuations and
productimprovements. They canalso
benefit fromanewImage app, which enables
themto take 360-degree interior and exterior
shots that meet manufacturer standards.

Maintaining our market leading position

We have amarket leading positionas the
UK's largest digital automotive marketplace.
Ouraudience has grown as consumers spend
more time on our platforms, viewing an
average of 94 adverts every second of every
day*,and the vast majority of thisaudience
remains unique to Auto Trader. Our audience
isthree timeslarger than that of our nearest
competitor, with our share of cross platform
visits for the year at 54% on average®, whilst
total minutes spentincreased by 6%°.

Full page advertviews were consistent
year-on-year at 246 million per month

(2017: 247 million).

We haveincreased the level of physicalstock
onsite, with the average number of carson
the marketplaceincreasing1%to 453,000
(2017:450,000). The average number of retailer
forecourtsusing our marketplace declined
slightlyinthe yearat13,213(2017:13,296)
following a2%decline lastyear.

Auto Trader Market Report (March 2018).
AcaciaAvenue Brand Tracker (March 2018).
Auto Trader search data (2017).

Auto Traderinternaldata.

Monthly visits as measured by comScore.
Monthly minutes as measured by comScore.

oA N
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Operating and financial review continued

Revenvue

£330.1Im

(2017: £311.4m)

Operating profit

£220.6m

(2017: £203.1m)

Cash generated
from operations

£226.1Im

(2017:£212.9m)

Cashreturned
to shareholders

£148.4m

(2017: £128.7m)

28 Auto Trader Group plc

2018 2017 Days-adjusted
Revenue £m £m change
Retailer 268.7 25011 9%
Home Trader n.4 12.0 (4%)
Other 11 - n/m
Trade 281.2 26241 8%
Consumer services 29.8 31.8 (5%)
Manufacturerand Agency 191 17.5 10%
Total 330.1 3.4 7%
Revenue - Stock: Our stock lever contributed £20

In 2018, revenue grew 7% to £330.1m
(2017: £311.4m) predominantly through
Trade revenue,and more specifically
Retailer revenue, as our core business
continued to grow.

Traderevenueincreased by 8%to £281.2m.
Retailerrevenue grew 9%to £268.7m

(2017: £250.1m) as aresult of growthin ARPR,
where there wasimprovement of £149 to
£1,695 per month (2017: £1,546). Average
retailer forecourts declined by1%inthe year
t013,213(2017:13,296).

ARPR growth of £149 per month was
generated throughall three of our levers:
price, stockand product.

- Price: Our price lever contributed £43
(2017: £86) and 29% (2017: 53%) of total
ARPR growth. We restructured our retailer
advertising packages toinclude enhanced
features forall customers as part of their
subscription. All packages now have Dealer
Reviews, Part-Exchange Guide, 100 Images
and Live Chat - tools which not only help
retailers to compete effectively, butalso
provide the best experience for car buyers.
We also launched two new package tiers
- Advanced and Premium - which give
customers the opportunity to pay more
for greater prominence when consumers
searchforcars.

(2017: £48) and 13% (2017: 30%) of total

ARPR growth. The average number of

cars advertised on autotrader.co.uk each
monthincreased by1%in 2018 to 453,000
(2017:450,000) as the number of cars
advertised perretailer forecourtincreased.
Used car transactionsin the UK decreased
by 3%inthe12 months to March 2018,
however the UK car parc continues to
grow as new car registrations exceed
scrappage rates.

- Product: Our product lever contributed
£86(2017:£28) and 58% (2017:17%) of total
ARPR growth. The launch of Advanced
and Premium advertising package levels
contributed to this growth, with12% of retailer
carstockmovinginto one of these new
higher-pricedtiers by the end of the year.

The penetration of our ‘Managing’ products
(i-Controland Retail Check)increased from
19%in 2017 to 23%inthe currentyear.

Home Trader declined 4%to £11.4m

(2017: £12.0m). Other revenue comprises
logistics revenue from Motor Trade Delivery,
which contributed £1.1m since its acquisition
in April 2017.

ARPR levers
(£)

2016 2017
Key

B Price Stock Product

AnnualReportand Financial Statements 2018
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Consumerservicesrevenue decreased
5%intheyearto £29.8m (2017: £31.8m).

Private revenue decreased11%to £21.6m
(2017: £24.4m). Motoring servicesrevenue
grew12%to £8.2m (2017: £7.4m), with alarge
proportion of the growth coming through
delivering greater response to our third-party
partner for finance.

Manufacturerand Agency revenue grew
10% to £19.1m (2017: £17.5m). The automotive
industry spends ahuge amounton
advertising every yearand the addressable
digital market continues to grow. In order to
grow our market share, we have investedin
people, with experience of working at some
of the largest manufacturers; and content,
byinnovating new products such as
InSearch. InSearchis our native performance
product, which allows manufacturers to
advertise new cars directly within our main
search, providing a highly targeted way to
influencein-market car buyers.

Administrative expenses

Operating costs continue to be well
controlled, withadministrative expenses
increasing by 2%to £109.5m (2017: £108.3m).

People costs, which comprise staff costs
(excluding share-based payments)and
third-party contractor costs, increased 4%
intheyearto £51.1m (2017: £49.5m). Full-time
equivalentemployees (‘FTEs’) (including
contractors) remained flatatan average

of 824 (2017: 824).
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2018 2017 Days-adjusted
Costs £m £m change
People costs 511 49.5 4%
Share-based payments 3.7 4.5 (17%)
Marketing 16.3 16.0 3%
Other costs 31.3 30.7 3%
Depreciationand amortisation 71 8.0 (10%)
Exceptionalitems = (0.4) n/m
Total administrative expenses 109.5 108.3 2%

Ashare-based paymentcharge of £3.7m Operating profit

(2017: £4.5m) was recognised during the year,
including nationalinsurance costs (‘NI') on
potentialemployee gains where applicable.
Theyear-on-year decreaseinthe charge
was primarily due to leavers underthe
Performance Share Plan, offset by further
Performance Share Planawards madein
June 2017. We also launched asecond

Save As You Earn scheme in November 2017
which was available to all eligible employees.

Marketing spend was flatat £16.3m

(2017: £16.0m), reflecting the release of

our ‘Next Car’ campaignacross TV and
radio platforms. Other costs, which
include property costs, data services

and other overheads, increasedin the year
10 £31.3m (2017: £30.7m).

Depreciationand amortisation decreased by
10% to £7.1m (2017: £8.0m). Within this costline
is £1.0m of amortisation fromintangibles

recognised following the acquisition of MTD.

Inthe year, Operating profit grew10% to
£220.6m (2017: £203.1m). Operating profit
marginincreased two percentage points
t0 67% (2017: 65%).

The Group previously used a measure of
Underlying operating profit to highlight the
impact of certain one-off and otheritems,
including exceptionalitems, share-based
payment charges and costs related to
managementincentive schemes linked to
the previous private ownership of the Group.
From this financial year the Group will no
longerreport Underlying operating profit
andinstead will focus onthe statutory
measure of Operating profit.
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Operating and financial review continued

Profit before taxation

Profit before taxationincreased by 10%
t0£210.8m (2017: £193.4m). Finance costs
remained stable year-on-yearat£9.8m
(2017: £9.7m). Ayear-on-year reductioninthe
average level of gross debtdrawn, coupled
withamargin benefitresulting froma
reductioninthe Group's leverage, resulted
inareducedinterestcostonthe Group's
term loan. This was offset by anincrease
inthe amount of debtissue costs that were
amortised, withanacceleration of £1.im

of these costsrecognisedinthe year
following the decisioninthe yearto
refinance the debt facility by June 2018.

Taxation

The Group tax charge of £39.5m

(2017: £38.7m) represents an effective tax
rate of 19% (2017: 20%) whichisin line with
the average standard UK rate.
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Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share rose by15%to

17.76 pence (2017:15.64 pence) basedon a
weighted average number of ordinary shares
inissue of 964,516,212 (2017: 989,278,991).
Diluted earnings per share of 17.70 pence
(2017:15.60 pence) increased by 15%, based
on 967,912,689 shares (2017: 991,812,212)
which takes into account the dilutive impact
of outstanding share awards.

Cash flow and net external debt

Cash generated from operationsincreased
t0£226.1m (2017: £212.9m) and was achieved
asaresultof strong Operating profitand a
high level of cash conversion.

Corporation tax payments totalled
£39.4m (2017: £34.8m). Cash generated
from operating activities was £186.7m
(2017: £178.1m).
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Interest paid on financing arrangements

was £6.7m (2017: £7.6m). Net external debt
reduced to £338.7m (2017: £355.0m) following
Term Loanrepayments of £20.0m (2017:
£40.0m). Leverage, defined as the ratio of
netexternaldebt to Adjusted underlying
EBITDA, decreased to1.46x(2017:1.65x).

Acquisition

On 25 April 2017, the Group acquired MTD for
atotal cash consideration of £12.2m, less
cashacquired with the business of £0.3m.
The assetsand liabilities acquired have been
accounted forat fairvalueinaccordance
withIFRS 3,as describedinnote 26 to the
financial statements, with the remaining
value of £8.5m being allocated to goodwill.



Contingent liability

HMRC hasidentified a potential VAT riskin
respect of VAT applicable to ourinsurance
intermediary revenue within Consumer
services, dating back to 2013 onwards.

The Group continues to work collaboratively
with HMRC to provide clarity surrounding the
nature of the services provided. No provision
hasbeenrecognised as the Group does not
believe asettlement willbe probable, but has
estimated the maximum one-off liability at
£3.0mincludinginterestand penalties.

Capital structure and dividends

During the year, a total of 26.8m shares
(2017: 26.3m) were repurchased for a total
consideration of £96.2m (2017: £102.1m)
before transaction costs of £0.5m

(2017: £0.5m). A further £52.2m (2017: £26.6m)
was paidin dividends, giving a total of
£148.4m (2017: £128.7m) in cash returned
toshareholders.

The Directors are recommending a final
dividend for the year of 4.0 pence per share,
which together with the interim dividend
makes a totaldividend of 5.9 pence pershare,
amounting to £56.1m, in line with our policy of
distributing approximately one third of net
income. Subjectto shareholders’ approval
atthe Annual General Meeting (‘(AGM') on

20 September 2018, the final dividend will be
paid on 28 September 2018 to shareholders
ontheregister of members at the close of
business on 31 August 2018.

The Group's capital allocation policyis to
continue toinvestin the business enabling it
to grow whilstreturning around one third of
netincome to shareholdersin the form of
dividends. Any surplus cash following these
activities will be used to continue our share
buyback programme and to steadily reduce
grossindebtedness.

—tm—
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Atthe 2017 AGM, the Company's shareholders
generally authorised the Company to make
market purchases of up to 97,476,919 of its
ordinary shares, subject to minimumand
maximum price restrictions.

Thisauthority will expire at the conclusion
of the 2018 AGM and the Directorsintend
toseekasimilar generalauthority from
shareholdersatthe 2018 AGM. The
programme will be ongoing, and any
purchases of its shares made by the
Company under the programme willbe
effectedinaccordance with the Company’s
generalauthority torepurchase shares,
Chapter12 of the UKLA Listing Rules and
relevant conditions for trading restrictions
regarding time and volume, disclosure and
reporting obligations and price conditions.

Post balance sheet event

On6June 2018 the Group signed into anew
Revolving Credit Facility (the ‘New RCF’)
toreplace the existing Senior Syndicated
Term Loan and revolving credit facility.
The New RCF, whichisunsecured, has total
commitments of £400m and a termination
date of June 2023.

Interestonthe New RCFischarged at LIBOR
plusamargin of between1.2%and 2.1%
depending onthe consolidated leverage

of Auto Trader Group plc. Acommitment fee
of 35% of the margin applicable to the New
RCFis payable quarterlyinarrearsonthe
unutilised amounts of the New RCF. Thereis
norequirementtosettle all or part of the debt
earlier than the termination date in June 2023.

Chief Financial Officer
and Chief Operating Officer
7June 2018
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Risk management

Understanding and
managing our principal
risks and uncertainties

Risk management process

Werecognise that effective
risk managementis critical to
enable us to meet our strategic
objectives and to achieve

sustainable long-term growth. Atop-downandbottom-up approachis

usedtoidentify principalrisks across the

Afour-step process has been business. Whilst the Board has overall
adopted to identify, monitor responsibility for the effectiveness of
and manage the risks to which internal controland risk management,

the detailed workis delegated to the

the Group is exposed: Operational Leadership Team (‘OLT’).

Risksand controlsare
analysed and evaluated
toestablishtheroot
causes, financialimpact
and likelihood of

The OLTisresponsible
for monitoring progress
againstprincipalrisks
inacontinual process.
They are assisted by

. occurrence. The Grou
the Group'sinternal o 9 . . P
. categorisesrisksinto
auditprogramme run )
sixareas:

inconjunctionwith
Deloitte. - economy, market and

i business environment;
The Boardreviews the

Group'sriskregisterand
assesses the adequacy

- financialand
compliancerisk;

of the principalrisks
identified and the
mitigating controls and
procedures adopted.
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o - assetrisk;
- operationalrisk;
- competitiverisk; and
- product specificrisk.

The effectiveness and adequacy
of controlsinplace are assessed.
If additional controls are required
tomitigate identifiedrisks then
these areimplementedand
responsibilities assigned.
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. Our strategy

page 20

Key performanceindicators

page 22

Our framework

Risks are reviewed onan
ongoing basis and are captured
inariskregister, identifying the
risk area, the likelihood of the
risk occurring, theimpactif it
does occur and the actions
being taken to manage the risk
tothe desired level. The Board's
role is to consider whether, given
the risk appetite of the Group,
the level of risk is acceptable
withinits strategy.

Theroles andresponsibilities
of each level of this framework
are as follows:

External auditor

Operational Leadership Team

Audit
Committee

Risk register and risk review

J0)ipne jeuwsajul

Operational management

Risk governance and responsibilities

The Board’s responsibilities
- Overallresponsibility
forriskmanagement.

The Audit Committee’s

responsibilities

- Assessthe scopeand
effectiveness of risk
management processes
andinternalcontrol
systems.

Operational Leadership

Teamresponsibilities

- Identify, assess, monitor,
manage and mitigate risks
and exploit opportunities;

- Ensure appropriate internal
controlsareinplace;

- Ensure theriskregisteris
properly maintained; and

- Embedriskmanagement
asbusinessasusual.

Operational management

and internal controls

- Embedand manageinternal
controlsandrisk
management day to day as
partof businessasusual.

Oversight functions and

internal audit

- Aidinsetting appropriate
policies, provide guidance,
advice anddirectionon
implementation of those
policies and monitor the
firstline of defence.

Additional line of defence
- External auditor.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Identify, evaluate and

manage the Group's risks

The Board has carried out arobust
assessment of the principal risks facing the
Group, including those that would threaten
its business model, future performance,
solvency or liquidity.

Thisincluded an assessment of the likelihood
andimpact of eachrisk identified, and the
mitigating actions being taken. Risk levels
were modified to reflect the current view

of the relative significance of eachrisk.

The principalrisks and uncertainties identified
are detailed herein. Additional risks and
uncertainties to the Group, including those
that are not currently known or that the Group
currently deems immaterial, may individually
or cumulatively also have a material effecton
the Group’s business, results of operations
and/or financial condition.

Focus areas relevant to our risks

Improve car buyingin the UK

@ Increase consumeraudience, advertviews
and use of our valuation tools

@ Promote trustand fairnessin the marketplace

Evolve the automotive ecosystemin the UK
9 Grow ARPRinabalanced, sustainable way
by creating value for our customers

@ Extendthe penetration of products outside
of our core classified proposition

© Enhanceourrelevance and value to manufacturers

Become the most admired digital business

@ Operateasimpler, leaner and more
data-oriented business

9 Our strategy
page 20
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Principal risk

Economy, market and
business environment

Impact

Acontractioninthe number of new orused
cartransactions could lead to consolidation
of retailersand areduction of retailers’
advertising spend. Itcouldalsoleadtoa
reductioninmanufacturers’' spend ondigital
display advertising.

There are concerns about the implications
surrounding the UK's departure from the

EU as economic conditions, currency volatility
and consumer confidence levels could all

be adversely affected. If the prices of cars
increase, consumer confidence levels
decrease,and manufacturers’ appetite
tosupply cars to the UK marketreduces,

this could have anadverseimpacton

our business.

Brand

Our brandis one of our biggest assets. Our
research shows that we are the most trusted
automotive classified brandin the UK, with
nearly 10 times more consumers claiming to
trust Auto Trader over our nearest competitor.

Failure to maintain and protect our brand,
orany negative publicity that affects our
reputation (forexample, adatabreach),
could diminish the confidence thatretailers,
consumers and advertisers have in our
productsand services,andresultina
reductioninaudience andrevenue.

Increased
competition

There are anumber of online competitorsin
the motor classified market, and alternative
routes for consumers to sell cars, such as
auctions or part-exchange.

Competitors could develop superior
consumer experiences or retailer products
thatwe are unable toreplicate; orchange
focustotry to expand theirrange of stock
and disrupt our market position.

This couldimpact our ability to grow revenue
duetotheloss of audience or customers,
orerosion of our paid-for business model.




Changesintheyear

As we anticipated, new car sales have fallen
during this financial year,and the used car
market has also seendeclines of around 3%.

However, the overall UK car parc has
continued to grow as the number of cars
registered still outweighs the number of
carsthatare scrapped eachyear.

The number of retailer forecourts has
remained relatively flat.
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9 Key performanceindicators

Relevant
Key mitigations focusareas Change
We monitor new and used car transactions closely, using data 006
from SMMT and now also data directly from the DVLA. o

We have developed the Auto Trader Retail Price Index to monitor
the pricing trends of used cars by trade sellers.

We continue to diversifyintorelated and adjacent activities to
reduce our reliance onstockand toimprove the resilience of
our business model.

We closely manage our cost base and operate onaleanbasis,
and would be able torespond swiftly in the event of adownturn.

The Board has considered the potentialimplications of the UK's
departure from the EU, takinginto account the factors above, as well
asthetime lag betweentheregistration of new carsand the entry

of carsinto the used car marketplace and the strength of our value
proposition,and does not consider that there will be a significant
impactonourbusiness.

Ourresearch shows that Auto Trader

has 91% prompted brand awareness with
consumers fornew andused carsandis
consistently voted as the mostinfluential
automotive website by consumersin the
carbuying process.

We have seenasignificantreductionin
fraudulentand misleading adverts, due
to additional measures and monitoring
techniques used by our security team.

We have aclearand open culture with afocus on trust
and transparency.

We have a dedicated customer security team, who closely monitor
our site toidentify and quickly remove fraudulent or misleading
adverts.

We investin new andinnovative marketing campaigns and new ways
of engaging car buyers to continue to maintain brand awareness,
and to change perceptions of Auto Trader to be a destination for
new cars aswellasused.

Ourapproachto cybersecurityand data protection,as described on
page 36, helpsto protectus fromthe adverse impact of asignificant
databreachorcyberattack.

The competitive landscape continues
todevelop, with new business models
emerging.

Big media players are also entering the
marketplace, mostly competing for
lower-value private sales.

We have the largest and most engaged audience of any UK 00 =
automotive site. Ourinvestmentin brand as described above helpsus

to protectand grow our audience, to ensure that we remain the most

influential website aconsumer visits when purchasing avehicle.

We have a dedicated competitors’ guild to closely monitor
competitor activity.

We continue toinvestinand develop our product offering toimprove
the value we offer to consumers, retailers and manufacturers.

We workinan agile way and canrespond quickly to emerging
competitive threats.

Auto Trader Group plc
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Focus areasrelevant to our KPIs

Improve car buying in the UK

Q Increase consumer audience, advert views
and use of our valuation tools

@ Promote trustand fairnessin the marketplace

Evolve the automotive ecosystemin the UK
o Grow ARPRinabalanced, sustainable way
by creating value for our customers

o Extend the penetration of products outside
of our core classified proposition

e Enhance ourrelevance andvalue to manufacturers

Become the most admired digitalbusiness

@ Operateasimpler, leaner and more
data-oriented business

9 Our strategy
page 20
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Principalrisk

Failure to innovate:
disruptive technologies
and changing consumer
behaviours

Impact

Failure toinnovate and develop new products
ortechnologies, to execute new product
launches ortoadaptto changing consumer
behaviour towards car buying or ownership
could have anadverse impact. Forexample,
this could lead toan over-reliance on price to
driverevenue growthinanunsustainable way;
orcouldresultin missed opportunitiesas we
failtobeatthe front of industry developments.

IT systems and
cyber security

Asadigitalbusiness, we are relianton our
ITinfrastructure to continue to operate.

Any significant downtime of our systems
wouldresultinaninterruptionto the services
we provide.

Asignificant databreach, whetherasaresult
of our own failures oramalicious cyber attack,
would lead toalossin confidence by our
retailers,advertisersand consumers.

This couldresultinloss of audience, loss of
revenue, reputational damage and potential
financiallossesinthe form of penalties.

Employees

Our continued success and growthis
dependentonour ability to attract,

recruit, retain and motivate our highly skilled
workforce, witha particular focus on
specialist technological and data skills.
Failure todosocouldresultinthe loss

of key talent.




Changesintheyear

Inrecognition of changing consumer
behaviour, we have successfully launched
monthly price searchin 2018,acomplex
productrequiring FCA authorisation,
integration with external partnersand
significant development of our platform.
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—  Keyperformanceindicators

Key mitigations

Continuous researchinto changing consumer behaviour,including
our bi-annual Market Reports and Buyer Behaviour Report.

Monitoring of emerging trends, using externalresources where
needed, andregular contact with other similar businessesin other
territories.

Ability toinnovate and respond quickly due to our agile and
collaborative way of working, and continuous investment
intechnology.

Relevant

focusareas Change

S —
)

The enactment of GDPRin May 2018 has
significantly increased the financialimpact
of adatabreach. We have enhanced our
processesand policiesasrequired.

We have adisasterrecovery and business continuity planin place
whichisregularly reviewed and tested. Thisincludes the use of
two data centresandregular back ups of data.

We continuously monitor the availability and resilience of processing
systems and services andif required canrestore the availability and
access systems and datainatimely mannerin the event of a physical
ortechnicalincident.

We have dedicated security teams, including white hat hackers,
and carryoutregular penetration testing and review of threatsand
vulnerabilities. We investinIT and security infrastructure to ensure
our systemsremainrobust.

Over the last12 months we have taken the opportunity to review all
processes thatinvolve data collection, storage or processing, and
have updated and amended to ensure that they meet the enhanced
GDPRrequirements.

Allof ouremployees are required to undertake annual compliance
training whichincludes Information Security and GDPR.

We have introduced two-factor verification for all our retailers,
and foremployees, toaccess our network.

We have been PCIDSS (payment card industry data security
standard) compliant since 2013 and use an external Quality Security
Assessor to maintain best practice.

000
000

90% of employees completing our
engagementsurvey said they were
proud towork at Auto Trader.

Our Glassdoor rating based onanonymous
reviewsis4.6/5.

Launched a mentoring matching
programme.

Carried outareview of long-termincentive
plansand planto make some changes to
make them more relevantand motivating.

We use long-termincentive plans for our senior and key staff.

We carry out active succession planning and career development
planstoretainand develop the nextlevel of executives,and added
oversight of talent development to the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee.

We have astrong, value-led culture whichis embedded through
recruitment, induction, training and appraisals.

We carry outemployee engagement surveys and closely monitor
Glassdoorratings. We have regular business updates, all-employee
annualconference, networks and guilds.

Auto Trader Group plc
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Viability statement

In accordance with Provision C.2.2 of the 2014 UK Corporate
Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the prospects
and viability of the Group over a period significantly longer than
12 months from the approval of these financial statements.

Assessment of prospects
The Board has determined that a period of three years to March 2021
isthe mostappropriate periodto provideits viability statement due to:

- itbeing consistent with the Group'srolling three-year strategic
planning process;

- itreflectsreasonable expectationsin terms of the reliability
andaccuracy of operational forecasts;and

- projections looking out further than three years become
significantly less meaningful given the pace of changeinthe
digitalautomotive market.

The Group's overall strategy and business model, as set out on pages
18t0 21,are centralto assessingits future prospects. As such, key factors
likely to affect the future development, performance and position of
the Group are:

- Dataand technology: continuous investmentis madeindeveloping
platformtechnologies which leads toimprovements for consumers,
retailersand manufacturers;

- Market position: the Group has the largestand most engaged audience
of any UKautomotive site andis the mostinfluential website aconsumer
visits when purchasing avehicle; and

- People: continued success and growth are dependent on ability to
attract, retainand motivate a highly skilled workforce, with a particular
focus onspecialist technological and data skills.

The Group's prospects are assessed primarily throughits strategic
planning process. This processincludes anannual review of the ongoing
plan,led by the Group CEO and CFO/COO through the Operational
Leadership Teamandin conjunction withrelevant functions. The Board
participates fullyin the annual process and has the task of considering
whether the plan continues to take appropriate account of the external
environmentincluding technological, socialand macroeconomic changes.

The output of theannualreview processis aset of objectives which the
Group determinesto beitsfocusareas,ananalysis of the risks that could
preventthe plan being delivered, and the annual financial budget. The
latest updates to the plan were finalised in March 2018, which considered
the Group's current position andits prospects over the forthcoming years.

Detailed financial forecasts that consider customer numbers, live car
stock, ARPR, revenue, profit, cash flow and key financial ratios have been
prepared for the three-year period to March 2021.

Funding requirements have also been considered. On 6 June 2018 the
Group signedintoanew Revolving Credit Facility (the ‘New RCF’) to
replace the existing Senior Syndicated Term Loan and revolving credit
facility. The New RCF, whichisunsecured, has total commitments of
£400mandatermination date of June 2023. Thereisnorequirement
tosettleall or part of the debt before the termination date.

The firstyear of the financial forecasts forms the Group’s 2019 annual
budgetandis subjecttoare-forecasting process at the mid-point of the
year. The secondandthird years are preparedindetailand are flexed
based ontheactualresultsinyear one. Progress against financial budgets
andfocusareasare reviewed monthly by both the Operational Leadership
Teamand the Board. This controlmeasureisinplace to preventand
mitigate the impact of factors that may affect the Group’s prospects.
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Assessment of viability

The output of the Group’s strategic and financial planning process
detailed above reflects the Board's best estimate of the future prospects
of the business. To make the assessment of viability, however, additional
scenarios have been modelled overand above those in the ongoing plan,
based uponanumberof the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties
which are documented on pages 34 to 37. These scenarios were overlaid
into the planto quantify the potentialimpact of one or more of these
crystallising over the assessment period.

While each of the Group’s principalrisks has a potentialimpactand has
therefore been considered as part of the assessment, only those that
represent severe but plausible scenarios have been modelled through
the plan. These were:

Link to risk - Economy, market and business environment, Increased
competition, Failure toinnovate

Macroeconomic factors suchas consumer confidence have animpact
onthe number of new and used car transactions that occurin the UKand
therefore retailerand manufacturer profitability. Acontractioninthe
number of new andused car transactions, when coupled with failure to
innovate new productsin order to grow ARPRin a sustainable way, could
lead toretailers reducing theiradvertising spendin favour of competitors.

This scenario assumes ashockreductionin live car stockaround a pricing
event. The number of retailers advertising stock with the Group was
assumed toreduceinashortspace of time with furtherreductionsin the
year after the shock event. No cost savings were assumed.

Link torisk - IT systems and cyber security, Brand

Theimpactof anyregulatory fines has been considered. The biggest
of theseis the General Data Protection Regulation (‘GDPR’) fine for
databreaches, which was enactedin May 2018.

This scenario assumes a data breachresultingin the maximum fine,
coupled with significant reputational damage to the Group's brand.
Aseverereductioninrevenue was modelled through each of the Trade,
Consumer services and Manufacturerand Agency areas. Marketing costs
were increased to modela potential need toincrease traffic.

The scenariosabove are hypotheticaland severe for the purpose of
creating outcomes that have the ability to threaten the viability of the
Group; however, multiple control measures areinplace to preventand
mitigate any such occurrences from taking place.

Theresults of the stress testing demonstrated that due to the Group's
significant free cash flow, access to the New RCF and the Board's ability
toadjustthe discretionary share-buy back programme, it would be able
towithstand theimpactand remain cash generative.

Viability statement

Based ontheirassessment of prospects and viability above, the Directors
confirmthatthey have areasonable expectation that the Group will be
able to continuein operationand meetits liabilities as they fall due over
the three-year period ending March 2021.

Going concern

The Directors also considereditappropriate to prepare the financial
statements onthe going concern basis, as explained in the Basis of
preparation paragraphinnote1to the financial statements.
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How we are
making a
difference

Apart of our strategyis tobecome
the most admired UK digital business.
To achieve this we have built a digital
culture thatis values-oriented,
customer-centric and data-driven
with afocus on an agile approach

to change and, importantly,
underpinned by creating a diverse
andinclusive workforce.

Measuring the impact
of our CSR strategy

These are just some of the metrics we
are focused on,inorder to measure our
‘Make adifference’ strategy:

88% 90%

of employees would proud towork at
recommend Auto Trader Auto Trader score
asagreatplace towork

4.6/ £170k

Glassdoorrating donated to charity

50% 4,000

womenonourOLT retailersreached through
insight programme /
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Our culture

Our cultureis built around
evolving our digital, values-
oriented approach to ensure

our people are proud of our
diversity, our focus onthe
wildly important, our rapid
response to change and
our continued success

and growth.

9

Overview

People are the Group’s most
valuableresource and the
success of the Groupistothe
creditof allitsemployees.
Lastyear we were focused
oncreatingasimpler, leaner,
and more data-oriented
organisation. To ensure our
cultureis digital, agile and
enables our teams to be quick
torespond to change, we have
continued to focus on creating
and maintaining consistently
high-performing, data-oriented
squads across the whole

Auto Trader business. Our culture
isshaped by the evolution of
ourvalues of being determined,
reliable, curious, courageous,
humble and community-minded.
These values often manifest
themselvesinour fast-paced
and highly customer-oriented
approachin our commitment
to being an exciting, innovative
anddigital-led company.

40 Auto Trader Group plc
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Corporate social responsibility
at Auto Traderisdriven by our
values and culture andis focused
on making a difference to our
employees, our community

and ourindustry. This,along
with our diversity andinclusion
strategy,isembeddedinto how
we operate on a daily basis.
Asanemployer,itcomprises
employee engagement, rewards
and recognition schemes,
people development, health
and safety, the environmental
impact, sustainability and
energy efficient operations.

Asacompany, we are keen

to give backto ourlocal
communities in whichwe
operate,aswellas supporting
charities and causes that

are close to ouremployees’
hearts. We continue to focus
our community supportin four
areas: employees’ individual
charitable fundraising efforts,
promoting the two volunteering
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Values and value-led
Purpose and principles-driven

Driven by -
Based . . Digital
ontrust innovation and
and data-

driven

daysthatare available toall
employees eachyear, Give as
You Earn, whichis one of our
Incredible Benefits, and through
the Auto Trader Community
Fund which supports grassroots
projectsin Greater Manchester
and Greater London. We
constantly lookat ways we can
make a positive contribution
toourindustry; whether

that's developing the next
generation of talent, sharing
best practice advice with our
retailer customers through
masterclassesand larger-scale
industry events, or helping the
industry asawhole to operatein
amore transparent, progressive
and diverse manner.
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Our values

To truly reflect our culture and the
behaviours we all adhere to every
day, we updated our values this year.
We made the decision to change
inspirational to courageous and we

added community-minded to
encapsulate our business’s focus on
supporting not only the Auto Trader
community but the wider
communities in which we operate.

Be determined

We are passionate about our customers,
showing stamina and resilience, and have
the convictionto do theright thing. We will
rollup our sleeves to get the job done.

Bereliable

We are outcome-oriented and we do
what we say we willdo. We perform under
pressure and have a strong work ethic.

Be curious

We are always learning. We question why,
we search for better ways, ask questions
and actively listen.

Be humble

We are open, honest, approachable and
we treat each other fairly. We recognise
successinourselvesand others but admit
and learn from mistakes.

Be courageous

We are bold in our thinking, overcoming
fears, challenging the conventional and
we will run towards and embrace change.

Be community-minded

We look after each other, respect
diversity and advocate inclusion. We are
committed to making a difference to the
communities around us and think of others
before ourselves.

e
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Making a
difference
to diversity
and inclusion

9

Ensuring Auto Traderisadiverse andinclusive
employer that contributes positively to the
communities in which we operate remains
akey strategic priority for our business. Our
dedicated diversity andinclusion working
group has committed to design and deliver
acomprehensive strategy concentratingon
alldiversity strands, with a focus on LGBT+,
gender equality, disability and neurodiversity
and BAME for thisyear.

Diversity - foreveryone at Auto Trader -
means respect forand appreciation of
differencesin: gender, age, sexual orientation,
disability, race and ethnic origin, religion

and faith, marital status, social, education
background and way of thinking. We believe
thatinclusionis a state of being valued,
respectedand supported forwhoyouare.

Our colleagues across the business have
worked collaboratively with our Diversity
and Inclusion group and achieved
positive results.

We continued our one-day Diversity and
Inclusion workshops, which every new joiner
attends within their first three months,
focusing on creating common understanding
of the concepts aswellas exploring
participants’ unconscious biasesand how
they canimpact their own behaviourand
relationships with other people inside and
outside of work. This year we extended the
invite to customers and business partners,
who participatedin the workshop and took
learnings back to their own organisations.

This year we launched a Diversity and
Inclusion monthin August to bring together
some already successfulinitiatives with new
ones, aiming to educate, celebrate and make
adifference. We introduced workshops by
the National Autistic Society, Stonewalland
Mental Health First Aid England. The latter
resultedinus creating our team of Mental
Health First Aiders, available to provide
supportto colleaguesinour officesand
outinthe field. Our Auto Trader Women's
Network hosted a talk with two inspirational
senior leaders sharing their personal stories
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aswomenin the digitalindustry and our
Photography Club created an exhibition
celebrating the diverse city of Manchester.

Ouraccessibility andinclusive design
working group ran workshops to introduce
employees to some of the challenges
disabled and neurodiverse people
potentially face and help them understand
how they can make a difference when
creating products for our customers. The
month ended with more thanahundred of
ouremployees taking partin the Manchester
Pride Festival Parade and being awarded
Best Corporate Entry for their passionate
showcase of support to the LGBT+
community.

Ouremployee groups and networks (Family
Network, Women's Network, Photography,
Book, Board game, Running and Film Clubs)
continue to bring our colleagues together,
inline with our philosophy thatinclusion
willbe achieved by respecting each other’s
differences but concentrating on finding
common ground.
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We continue our participation to promote
Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths
('STEM') careers by supporting schools by
running Code Clubs to teach young children
how to code.

We also ran summer experience days hosting
schoolsand universities, introducing them

to the digital, technology and automotive
industries. Following the success of the past
two years we continue to participatein the
Change 100 programme organised by Leonard
Cheshire Disability. We of fered two summer
placements, oneresultinginapermanent
placement to our Graduate Scheme.

Ourambition to become one of the most
diverse andinclusive employersis supported
by our Company policies and practices which
are reviewed regularlyin line with the Equality
Act 2010 protected characteristics and best
practice. Everyone fromacross the business
isinvolvedin providing feedbackto help us
continuously evolve and take positive action
to ensure our colleagues, customers and
partners feelthey can be theirauthentic

self while having a brilliant experience
working with us.



Gender Pay Gap

We published our Gender Pay Gap
information earlier thisyear, inline with the
Government's requirements for companies
with over 250 employees to do so. Although
we only had toreport data for Auto Trader
Limited (being the only company in the Group
with more than 250 employees) we voluntarily
providedinformation for the whole Group,
inordertobe more transparent.

The mean hourly Gender Pay Gap for

Auto Trader Group was 14.9% while the
median gap was17.5%. This gap is not about
inequality of pay. We are confident that
menand women are paid equally across the
business for comparable roles. Our Gender
Pay Gap arises fromunder-representation
of womenin certain highly paid functions,
including technology and other STEM related
roles; aswellasunder-representation

of womeninleadershiproles. Although

we do not believe thatany level of gapis
acceptable, our Gender Pay Gapis lower
thanthe UK high-tech sector of 25%,
showing the progress we have already
made. Our median Gender Pay Gapis lower
thanthe UK average of 18.5%.

We are committed to addressing the
Gender Pay Gap, and we are takinganumber
of actionsasoutlinedinthe fullreporton
our corporate website.

Gender diversity

Asaresult of some of the actions we

have taken, we have seen our gender
diversity continue toimprove. We're really
pleasedtoreportthat our Operational
Leadership Team (‘OLT’) is now 50% women,
and we are making good progress towards
the Hampton-Alexander targets for 33% of
womenonthe OLT and their direct reports.

Operational Leadership Team (%)

Direct reports (%)

® Men
Women
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Hourly Gender Pay Gap

14.9%

mean

17.5%

median

Women

as % of

Men Women Total total

Board 4 2 6 33%

OLT! 7 7 14 50%

OLT direct 70 26 96 27%
reports

Total

Company 509 315 824 38%

1 Seniormanagers for the purpose of s.414C of the
Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Reportand Directors’
Report) Regulations 2013.
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Corporate social responsibility continued

THE SUNDAY TIMES
BEST
COMPANIES
TOWORKFOR
2018

Making a
difference
to our
employees

9

To help us achieve our mission of being one
of the mostadmired UK digital businesses,
we have builtabusiness thatis centred
aroundits people. Oursuccessis due to the
diverse talent of ourinnovative, courageous,
talented and committed people.

Informing and consulting
our employees
We value our people and their opinions.

Everyyear we organise an all-employee
conference where we celebrate our
achievements and share the strategy
and focuses forthe year ahead.

We also hold regular business and financial
updates throughout the year to keep
employeesinformedonthe Group’s
performance and priorities as well as giving
them the opportunity to feed backand
contribute with questions andideas.

We hold regular checks throughout the year,
allowing teams to spend time togetherin
anopenand secure environment to discuss
how they feelin the workplace and how

we are doing against our key focus areas.

We also offered asecond Sharesave scheme
in 2017, promoting a culture of shared
ownership,and saw take-up rates of over 40%.
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Nick King

Training and development

Investingin our people remains a key

focus. We have adedicated Learningand
Developmentteam, specialisingin various
fieldsincluding personal, career, leadership,
systems and business-related training, and
also use external experts to bring outside
insightand knowledge whenrequired.

Allnew people joining our business are
givenabrilliant start to their careers with
us by attending athree-dayinduction
programme, allowing them to understand
the core values of our business and culture
and ways of working.

We recognise thatallour employees are
unique and have different needs and
learning styles. We offer blended learning
opportunities thatare aligned to our
collaborative andinclusive culture, including
workshops, bitesize sessions, on-the-job
solutions, attendance at conferences,
coachingand mentoring, online learning

and professional qualifications.

Ourmanagers take partinthe Practical
People Leadership Programme (‘PPLP’),

and senior leaders take partin the Leadership
Development Programme (‘LDP’), both

aimed at developing well-rounded leaders
that willdrive the future of Auto Trader.
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We have welcomed a number of apprentices,
graduates and work placements under

our future talent programme, to equip

our business with the skills needed for
ourongoing success. Every individual
isresponsible for their own careerand
personal development,and we aim for
everyone to have quarterly development
conversations with their people leaders.

Employee engagement
and recoghnition

We conducted anemployee engagement
survey again this year,and achieved a
response rate of 91% of our total workforce.
Overallengagementremains positive, with
90% of our people feeling proud to work
for Auto Trader, and 88% saying they would
recommend us as a great place to work.
There were also areas toimprove,and we
have setup working groups to concentrate
onthese,including recognition, career
developmentand physicaland mental
health. Our Glassdoorratingis 4.5 out of 5,
based onmore than 200 anonymous reviews.
Forthe second year we participatedin the
Sunday Times Top 100 Best Companies
toWork Forand we achieved a two-star
‘Outstanding’ rating and moved up the list
tonumber 32.

The Cha
Experier



Making a
difference
to our
communities

The Auto Trader
Community Fund

Disabled employees

We are part of the Department

for Work and Pensions Disability
Confidentemployer scheme and
have agreed toits commitments and
takenaction to make adifference
todisabled people.

Our dedicatedresourcing team
actively reaches out to disabled
candidates and welcomes their
applications foremployment. We
take great care to make reasonable
adjustments during the assessment
processaccording to the needs of
eachindividual to ensure that

they canperformattheir best.

We remain committed to supporting
disabled employees or those who
become disabled during their
employment with us. Recognising
thateveryoneisunique, we provide
theright supportto ensure they
continue torealise their full potential
atworkand develop their careers
with us. Thisyear we have also added
more supportand education for
managers of disabled colleagues,
forexample ‘Understanding Autism
for Managers' workshops provided
by the National Autism Society.

We have established adedicated team

of colleagues fromacross our business

who are committed to driving our Make a
Difference strategy, which aims to maximise
the supportandimpact we provide to the
communities in which we operate.

We donate tolocal causes through the
Auto Trader Community Fund, powered by
Forever Manchester (aregistered charity),
which makes awards of up to £1,000 to
community groups and grassroots projects
across Greater Manchester. Thisyear, the
fund has donated over £60,000 to various
local groups that bring people togetherand
empower them to create sustainable changes
intheirlives. Asarecognition of our efforts,
Forever Manchesterawarded us the
Business Supporter of the Year for 2017.

We are extending thisfundandarein the
process of setting up a similar fund model
tosupportcharitiesin Greater London.

Donations from Auto Trader directly to
other charities totalled an additional
£60,000 through our Auto Trader
Sponsorshipsinitiative which provides
match-funding to employees, customers
and partners fundraising for charities
thatare close to their hearts.

Our Give as You Earn (‘GAYE’) scheme
participation hasreached11% of our total
workforce and £100,000 has been donated
tovarious charities through payroll.
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But Make a Difference is more thanjust
donating money.

We encourage all our colleagues to utilise
two optional volunteering days every
year. One in four of ouremployees have
offeredtheir time and skills to support
worthy causes across the UK, such as
Barnabus, adrop-in centre for homeless
people; FareShare, to fight food waste and
tackle hunger; Didsbury Park, to maintain
eightacres of green space; and Dress for
Success, helping to empower women by
providing professional attire and skills to
gainemployment.

Tosupportthe artsand designin Manchester,
we continue our successful partnership with
HOME arts centre and supported various
initiativesincluding the PUSH festival of
fresh creative experiences fromthe North
West, showcasing some of the most exciting
film, theatre and visual arts from the region,
and sponsorship of the monthly ‘Bring the
Family' initiative, enabling the provision of
anintergenerational film programme to
audiencesin Greater Manchester.
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Making a
difference to
our industries

Our Make a Difference strategy extends
tosupporting the wider technology,
automotive, advertising and creative
industries.

Supporting STEM careers

To encourage future talent, we have
continued our partnership with Manchester
Digital by taking partin their Apprenticeship
Scheme for the second year, welcoming

an additional four apprentices. We also
supportrelevant degrees for Software
Developerand Infrastructure Technician
apprentices. We continue to offera PhD
scholarship and two summer project

grants for Data Science students from

the University of Manchester.

We work with localuniversities and schools
and host numerous experience daysin our
offices, runmockinterviews and give talks
tointroduce themto careersin digital. We
continue to participate to promote STEM
subjects and careers by supporting local
schoolsand clubsinthe Manchester area.
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25 of our colleagues have trained to
become 'STEM ambassadors’ so that they
cansupport ‘Code Clubs’, teaching young
children how to code and supporting the
'People Like Me' initiative to encourage girls
intorelevant STEM careers.

We are proud that our Director of Riskand
Compliance, Helena Fearon, was shortlisted
inthisyear’'s WomeninIT Award: Security
Champion of the Year, in recognition of her
workinthe safety and security arena. Helena
leads our customer security team and risk
and compliance function,and chairs the
widerindustry body Vehicle Safe Trading
Advisory Group ('"VSTAG') which aims to
bring the industry, police and fraud agencies
togetherto help consumers buy andsell
vehicles safelyand securely.

We hosted over100 events and conferences,
including: Manchester Youth HAC, Rails
Girls, Manimation, Real UX and Manchester
Futurists. We are also members of the
Manchester Publicity Association, working
to evolve the creative, media, publishing
anddigitalindustriesin Manchester.
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Automotive industry

The automotive industry, much like the
wider technology sector, has a significant
challenge with diversity. We work with key
media partners, recruitment businesses and
major automotive retailer groups to actively
drive the diversity agenda.

We participate in keyindustry events such
asInspiring Automotive Women, and will be
hosting anupcoming eventin partnership
with Ennis & Co. and media title ARN, which
aims to bring together the wider automotive
industry to discuss diversityissues as
wellas toencourage actionable plans for
businesses to take away.

Leading theindustry, sharing ideas, and
inspiring change and action are at the heart of
our work with our retailer customers. Through
our masterclasses, conferences, webinars,
in-house discovery days and award events
we share the latest consumer trends, best
practice advice andinsights gleaned from our
datato help shape the future of the industry.
Over 4,000 retailer customers orindustry
figuresjoined us for one of these sessions.

We want to make a difference to our
customers by rewarding their efforts,and
we do thisannually at our Retailer Awards
Ceremony - The Auto Trader Click Awards.
The awardsrecognise those at the forefront
of digitalautomotive retailing and those
thatreally do putthe consumer at the heart
of their business. These awards are used

by retailers to promote their business to
consumers on our marketplace.



Making a difference
to our environment

2018 2017

Scope: Fuel for

company cars (tCO,e)’ 390 491
Scope 2: Electricity and

gasforour offices

(tCO,e)’ 340 437
Total carbon emissions

(tCO,e)’ 731 928
Revenue (£m) 330.1 311.4
Carbonintensity? 2.2 3.0
Year-on-year change (27%)

1 Tonnesof carbon dioxide equivalent.
2 Absolute carbonemissions divided by
revenueinmillions.

Greenhouse gas emissions
statement

Auto Traderisrequired to measure and
reportitsdirectandindirect greenhouse
gas ('GHG’) emissions by the Companies
Act 2006 (Strategic Reportand Directors’
Report) Regulations 2013. The greenhouse
gasreporting periodisaligned to the
financialreporting year. The methodology
used to calculate our emissionsis based
onthe financial consolidation approach,
asdefinedin the Greenhouse Gas Protocol,
A Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard (Revised Edition). Emission factors
used are from UK government (‘BEIS’)
conversion factor guidance current for
theyearreported.

Thereportincludes the ‘Scope’
(combustion of fuel)inrelation to company
carsand ‘Scope 2' (purchased electricity
and gas) emissions associated with our
offices. We have chosen toinclude the
emissions associated with leased company
carsinScopel,asweareresponsible for
these emissions.

We have chosen to presentarevenue
intensity ratio as thisis arelevantindicator
of our growth andis aligned with our
business strategy. The reductionin our

GHG emissionsis due toareductioninour
company car fleetand continued refreshing
of energy efficient office and IT equipment.
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Health and safety

We are committed to maintaining a safe
workforce for ouremployees, customers
and visitors and anyone affected by our
business’s activities. Itis therefore our policy
thatall of the Group’s facilities, products and
services comply with applicable laws and
regulations governing safety and quality.

During the year, there were no major injuries
reported under the Reporting of Injuries,
Diseasesand Dangerous Occurrences
Regulations.

Ovur offices

As adigital business, based between our
officesin Manchester, Londonand Dublin,
we believe our environmental footprintis
small. We actively encourage our employees
to consider our environmentalimpact.

We operate recycling systemsin the
offices, established with local authorities,
and we have no waste bins by desks,
which encourages the amount of recycling
we do. We operate astaff caféinour
Manchester office and have implemented
measures toreduce the consumption of
single use plastics.

Our UK offices are both graded highly by the
BREEAM standard; Kings CrossinLondon
achieved an ‘Outstanding’ rating and our
Manchester office an ‘Excellent’ one.

We continue to use Fruitful Office to deliver
fruitto our offices each week. Fruitful Office
plants one tree in Malawi for every basket of
fruitwereceive. Last year, 2,030 trees were
planted on behalf of Auto Trader, helping the
organisation to mitigate the effects of global
warming, deforestation and providing an
income to local communities.
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Doing the
right thing

Auto Trader believesin promoting trust
and fairnessin the marketplace and
thishas become part of the way we
work across the organisation. We aspire
tobe the UK's mostadmired digital
business and we want thatadmiration
tocome fromemployees, suppliers
and customers.

The only way to deliver the best
services for our customers -and do
theright things by our people -is to
approach thingsinthe right way. We
have established policies, procedures
and training to ensure that everyone
at Auto Trader knows that they must
behave professionally, ethically

and legally, treating people with
decencyandrespect.

We promote a culture of compliance
and shared responsibility by providing
advice andinformation to keep our
employees and customers smart,
safeandsecure.

Eachyear, ouremployees complete
compliance training that covers
fraud, bribery, anti-money laundering,
information security and GDPR.

Anti-bribery and corruption

We are committed to carrying outall
business activitiesinan honest, open
and ethical manner. We have zero
tolerance to any aspectof briberyand
corruption, both within our business
andinrespectof any third parties with
whom we have dealings. We have an
established anti-bribery and corruption
policy and proceduresin place including
reporting of gifts and hospitality,
standard contractual clauses with
suppliers and annual online compliance
training forallemployees.
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Modern slavery policy

We have a zero-tolerance approach to
modernslaveryand are committed to

acting ethically and withintegrityinall our
business dealings and relationships, and
toimplementing and enforcing effective
systems and controls to ensure modern
slaveryisnot taking place anywherein
ourown business orinany of our supply
chains. We are committed to ensuring there
istransparencyin ourown businessandin
ourapproach to tackling modernslavery
throughout our supply chains. We expect the
same high standards fromall our contractors,
suppliersand other business partners.

Whistleblowing

We provide anindependent whistleblowing
service if employees needtoreport
anything untoward or experience any serious
malpractice or wrongdoingin our business.
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Still cool

Maintaining a trusted
marketplace

Consumers trust Auto Trader to show
genuine, accurate adverts when they
search forvehicles. We have adedicated
customer security team who monitor our
site toidentify adverts that are potentially
fraudulent or misleading, whether that
be amisleading price orinaccurate
mileage in theiradvert. We also have
functionality to enable users of our site to
reportamisleading advert whilstthey are
searching, which we theninvestigate and,
if necessary,remove from the site.




“Auto Trader
believesin
promoting trust

and fairness in the

marketplace and
this has become
part of the way
we work across
the organisation.”

Protecting our customers’
and consumers' data

Protecting the data of our consumers
and ourretailer customersisalsoan
important focus forus.

We invest heavily in security and data
protection. We have adedicated
security squad and we invest to ensure
that our systemsare robustand that
we remain compliant with PCI/DSS
(payment cardindustry, data security
standard). Over the last12 months

we have taken the opportunity to
review all processes thatinvolve data
collection, storage or processing,and
have updated and amended to ensure
thatthey meet the enhanced GDPR
requirements.
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Human rights and equal
opportunity

The Group is committed to treating
allitsemployeesandjob applicants
fairlyand equally. Itis our policy not to
discriminate based on their gender,
sexual orientation, marital or civil
partner status, gender reassignment,
race, religion or belief, colour,
nationality, ethnic or national origin,
disability or age, pregnancy, or trade
union membership or the fact that
theyare a part-time worker ora
fixed-termemployee. The equal
opportunities policy operated

by the Group ensures all workers have
adutytoactinaccordance with this.

The Company’s Strategicreportis
setoutonpages1to49. Approved by
the Board on7June 2018 and signed
onits behalf by:

Chief Financial Officer
and Chief Operating Officer
7June 2018

Auto Trader Group plc
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Governance overview

A robust framework of
governance underpinned
by a culture of openness
and transparency

Chairman

“The Company
complied with all
provisions set out
In the Corporate
Governance Code
for the period.”

Corporate governance statement
page54
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lam pleased tointroduce our corporate
governance statement whichincorporates
reports from the Chairmen of each of our
Board Committees. These reports explain
our governance policies and proceduresin
detailand describe how we have applied
the principles of corporate governance
containedinthe UK Corporate Governance
Code 2016 (the ‘Code’).

Compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code

The Company complied with all provisions
setoutinthe Code for the period.

Directors

Sean Glithero stepped down as Chief
Financial Officer on 21 September 2017
afterilyears with Auto Trader. Sean made
asignificant contribution to the success

of Auto Trader’s transformation froma print
toadigital business and wasinstrumentalin
taking our Company from private ownership
toalisted UK plc. We would like to thank him
for his tremendous contribution and wish him
wellin his next venture. Nathan Coe, Chief
Operating Officer, took on the additionalrole
of Chief Financial Officer from that date.

The composition of the Board is keptunder
continualreview to ensure thatithasthe
skills, experience and balance required for
the proper stewardship of the business.
We have three independent Non-Executive
Directors, who bring with them significant
commercialand financial expertise and are
wellplaced to support the Executive Team
inimplementing our strategy. We have two
Executive Directors and therefore comply
with the relevant provision of the Code for
atleast half of the Board to be independent,
excluding myself.

All Directors will of fer themselves for
electionorre-election by the shareholders
atthe forthcoming AGM.

Board effectiveness

Inour third year as apremium listed
business, we engaged an external company,
Independent Audit Limited, to facilitate our
Board evaluation process.

Acomprehensive review process was
carried out,including areview of Board
and Committee papersand observation
of meetingsas wellasinterviews with
every Board member.
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Committees of the Board

The Board has established the following Committees and has
delegated certain functions and tasks within theirapproved Terms
of Reference. Thisallows the Board to operate efficiently and focus
onrelevantareas of itsresponsibilities.

The membership of each Committee andasummary of itsroleis
below. The full Terms of Reference of each Committee are published
onthe Company’s website at plc.autotrader.co.uk/investors

Nomination
Committee

Audit

Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Disclosure
Committee

Reviews the structure,

size and composition of

the Board andits Committees,
and makes recommendations
tothe Board. Also covers
diversity, talent development
andsuccession planning.

Reviews andreportstothe
Board onthe Group's financial
reporting, internal control,
whistleblowing, internal
auditand theindependence
and effectiveness of the
externalauditors.

Members Members Members Members
- Ed Williams (Chairman) - David Keens (Chairman) - JillEasterbrook (Chairman) - Trevor Mather
- DavidKeens - JillEasterbrook - DavidKeens - Nathan Coe
- JillEasterbrook - Jeni Mundy - Jeni Mundy - Claire Baty
- Jeni Mundy

| | | |
Role and Terms Role and Terms Role and Terms Role and Terms
of Reference of Reference of Reference of Reference

Responsible forallelements
of theremuneration of the
Executive Directors, the
Chairman and senior
employees.

Assiststhe Boardindischarging
itsresponsibilities relating to
monitoring the existence of
Inside Informationandits
disclosure to the market.

Read more
page 60

Read more
page 62

Read more
page 66

’ plc.autotrader.co.uk/investors

The review demonstrated that our Board
and each Committee continue to function
well, with only minor recommendations
forimproving effectiveness further.

The performance of every Director also
remains effective. More detail can be found
on page 56.

Remuneration Policy review

We also carried outareview of our
Remuneration Policy during the year, and
having consulted widely with shareholders
and governance advisory agencies, we will
be proposing some changes to our policy for
approvalatthe 2018 AGM. We believe that
the changes being proposed willresultina
policy which will serve to attract, retainand
motivate our executive colleagues, without
being excessive. More details can be found
inthe Remuneration Policy on pages 68.

Annval General Meeting

Our Annual General Meeting (AGM') willbe
heldat10.00 am on Thursday 20 September
2018 at 4th Floor, 1 Tony Wilson Place,
Manchester, M154FN and we expect that
all Directors will be inattendance.

Ed Williams
Chairman
7 June 2018
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Board of Directors

The dates of appointmentshown are the dates on which the Directors were first
appointed to the Board of Auto Trader Group plc or the Group's previous parent company,
Auto Trader Holding Limited.
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1. Ed Williams

Chairman

Ed has beenaNon-Executive Director
of Auto Trader since November 2010
and Chairman since March 2014.

He was the founding Chief Executive

of Rightmove plc, servingin that capacity
from November 2000 untilhisretirement
from the businessin April 2013. Rightmove plc
was floated on the London Stock Exchange
inFebruary 2006. Prior to Rightmove,

Ed spent the majority of his careerasa
management consultant with Accenture
and McKinsey & Co. Ed holdsan MAin
Philosophy, Politics and Economics from

St Anne’s College, Oxford.

Strategicreport /

2. Trevor Mather
Chief Executive Officer

Trevorjoined Auto Trader as Chief Executive
Officerin June 2013. Previously, Trevor was
Presidentand CEO of ThoughtWorks, a global
ITand software consulting company.

Trevor joined ThoughtWorks in 2001, to
kick-startthe UK branch of the company, and
thentookresponsibility forallinternational
operations before becoming CEOin 2007.

He helped oversee the business grow from
a300-person North American company to
a2,200-person global business with
operationsin 29 citiesaround the world

with aparticular personal focus on helping
businesses become truly digital. Before his
time at ThoughtWorks, Trevor spentalmost
10years at Andersen Consulting (now
Accenture) focusing on e-business solutions.
Trevorholdsan MEngin Aeronautics and
Astronautics from Southampton University.
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3. Nathan Coe

Chief Financial Officer
and Chief Operating Officer

Nathanwas appointed to the Board as Chief
Operating Officer (‘COQ’) in April 2017 and
as Chief Financial Officer ('CFQ’) in July 2017.
Nathanjoined Auto Traderin 2007 to oversee
the transition from a magazine business to
being a pure digital company. He was
responsible forlaunching anumber of new
business areas,and led the Company’s early
entry and subsequent growthin mobile and
online. For the pasttwoyears, Nathan has
beenthejoint Operations Director, sharing
responsibility for the day-to-day operations
of the business.

Prior tojoining Auto Trader, Nathan

was at Telstra, Australia’s leading
telecommunications company, where he
led Mergersand Acquisitions and Corporate
Development forits mediaandinternet
businesses. He was previously a consultant
at PwC, having graduated from the
University of Sydney withaB.Com. (Hons).

November 2010. June 2013. April 2017.
Yes. N/A. N/A.
IdealistaS.A. Burns Sheehan None.
Limited; Forever Manchester.
Nomination (Chairman). Disclosure. Disclosure.
4. David Keens 5. JillEasterbrook 6. Jeni Mundy

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

David was appointed asaNon-Executive
Directoron1May 2015.

David was previously Group Finance
Director of NEXT plc (1991to 2015) and its
Group Treasurer (1986 to1991). Previous
managementexperience includes nine years
inthe UKand overseas operations of
multinational food manufacturer Nabisco
(1977 t01986) and prior to that seven years
inthe accountancy profession. Davidisa
member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and of the Association
of Corporate Treasurers.

May 2015.

Independent Non-Executive Director

Jillwas appointed asaNon-Executive
Director to the Board on1July 2015.

Jillis currently the CEO of Boden,
the clothingretailer.

Jillwas previously at Tesco PLC (2001-16)
where she was amember of the Executive
Committee, having held avariety of roles
across Strategy and Operations.

Jillstarted her career at Marks & Spencer
inbuying and merchandising and also spent
time as amanagement consultant with
CapgeminiErnst & Young.

July 2015.

Independent Non-Executive Director

Jeniwas appointed asaNon-Executive
Directoron1March 2016.

Jeniwas previously at Vodafone (1998 to
2017). Mostrecently she held Group Director
rolesacross Product Managementand
Sales. Prior to that she was Chief Technology
Officeronthe UKand New Zealand
Executive Boards.

Jenistarted hercareerasa
Telecommunications Engineer with
BellSouthin New Zealand and holds
anMScin Electronic Engineering from
Cardiff University.

March 2016.

Yes.

Yes.

Yes.

JSainsbury plc.

Boden Limited.

None.

Audit (Chairman), Nomination, Remuneration.

Remuneration (Chairman), Nomination, Audit.

Remuneration, Nomination, Audit.
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Corporate governance statement

This corporate governance statement explains key features
of the Company’s governance framework and how it
complies with the UK Corporate Governance Code published
in 2016 by the Financial Reporting Council.

Introduction

This statementalsoincludesitems
required by the Listing Rules and the
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules (‘DTRs’). The UK Corporate
Governance Code (the ‘Code’) is
available on the Financial Reporting
Council website at frc.org.uk

Compliance with
the 2016 Code

The Company has compliedin full
with all provisions of the 2016 Corporate
Governance Code during the year.

Thisreportisstructured to follow
each of the sections of the Code:

Leadership

Effectiveness

Governance

Relations with shareholders

Accountability

Remuneration

Board and Committee meetings

and attendance

Board meetings are planned around the key
eventsinthe corporate calendar, including
the half-yearly and finalresultsand the
Annual General Meeting (AGM’'),and a
strategy meetingis held eachyear.

Inmonths where there is no Board meeting,
afinancialupdate callis held at which the
Board discusses results with operational
management. Once ayear, Directors
spendaday visiting customers.

During the year, the Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors have met without
Executive Directors present. Inaddition,
the Non-Executive Directors have met
without the Chairman and the Executive
Directors present.
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Board responsibilities

The Board hasadopted aformalschedule

of mattersreserved foritsapprovaland has
delegated other specific responsibilities to
its Committees. The schedule sets outkey
aspects of the affairs of the Company which
the Board doesnotdelegate. Itisreviewed at
leastannually,andis published on our website
atplc.autotrader.co.uk/investors

Refer to page 51 forasummary of
these matters.

Insurance

The Company maintains appropriate
insurance to cover Directors’ and officers’
liability foritself andits subsidiaries and such
insurance was in force for the whole of the
financial year ending 31 March 2018.

:LETL Audit Remuneration Nomination
Number of scheduled meetings held 8 4 7 3
Director
Ed Williams 8 n/a n/a 3
Trevor Mather 8 n/a n/a n/a
NathanCoe 8 n/a n/a n/a
David Keens 8 4
JillEasterbrook 8 4
Jeni Mundy 8 4
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Boardroles

Toensure a cleardivision of responsibility
atthe head of the Company, the positions
of Chairmanand Chief Executive Officerare
separate and not held by the same person.

The division of rolesand responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officerissetoutinwriting
and has beenapproved by the Board.

David Keensis the Senior Independent
Director.

Strategicreport / Governance / Financialstatements

- Leadership and governance of the Board.

- Creating and managing constructive
relationships between the Executive
and Non-Executive Directors.

- Ensuring ongoing and effective communication
betweenthe Board andits key shareholders.

- Settingthe Board's agendaand ensuring that
adequate timeis available for discussions.

- Ensuring the Boardreceives sufficient,
pertinent, timely and clearinformation.

- Responsible for the day-to-day operations
andresults of the Group.

- Developing the Group's objectivesand
strategy and successful execution of strategy.

- Responsible for the effective and ongoing
communication with shareholders.

- Delegatesauthority for the day-to-day
management of the businessto the
Operational Leadership Team (comprising the
Executive Directors and senior management)
who have responsibility forall areas of
the business.

Non-Executive Directors Senior Independent Director Company Secretary

- Scrutinise and monitor the performance
of management.

- Constructively challenge the Executive
Directors.

- Monitor the integrity of financialinformation,
financialcontrols and systems of risk
management.

Overall authority for the management
and conduct of the Group’s business,
strategy, objectives and development.

- Actsasasounding board for the Chairman.

- Available to shareholdersif they have
concerns which the normal channels through
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officeror
other Directors have failed toresolve.

- Meetswiththe other Non-Executive
Directors without Executive Directors
present.

- Leads the annualevaluation of the
Chairman’s performance.

Monitoring delivery of business strategy
and objectives; responsibility for any
necessary corrective action.

- Available toall Directorsto provide
advice and assistance.

- Responsible for providing governance advice.

- Ensures compliance with the Board's
procedures,and with applicable rules
andregulations.

- Actsassecretary tothe Boardandall
Committees.

Oversight of operationsincluding
effectiveness of systems of internal
controls and risk management.

Approval of changes to the capital,
corporate and/or management structure
of the Group.

Providing leadership
for the long-term success
of the Group

Approval of the Annual Report and
Financial Statements, communications
with shareholders and the wider
investment community.

Approval of the dividend policy.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Board composition, balance

and independence

At the date of thisreport, the Board

consists of the Non-Executive Chairman,
threeindependent Non-Executive Directors
and two Executive Directors.

All of the Non-Executive Directors (David
Keens, JillEasterbrook and Jeni Mundy) are
consideredtobeindependentincharacter
andjudgement, and free of any business or
otherrelationship which could materially
influence their judgement. Ed Williams was
consideredtobeindependenton
appointment. The Chairman’s fees and the
Non-Executive Directors’ fees are disclosed
onpages75and79,andtheyreceivedno
additionalremuneration from the Company
during the year.

Therefore, at 31 March 2018 and to the date

of thisreport, the Companyis compliant with
the Code provision that atleast half the Board,
excluding the Chairman, should comprise
independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Boardandits Committees have an
appropriate balance of skills, experience
and knowledge of the Group to enable them
todischarge theirrespective dutiesand
responsibilities effectivelyinaccordance
withmain principle B.1of the Code.
Biographies of allmembers of the Board
appear on pages 52 and 53.

Appointments to the Board

The Board has established a Nomination
Committee, chaired by Ed Williams, with

all other members comprisingindependent
Non-Executive Directors,and one of the
main responsibilities of this Committeeis
toidentifyand nominate candidates for
appointmentas Directors to the Board.

The work of the Committeeis described
onpages 60and 6.

Non-Executive appointments to the Board
are foraninitial term of up to three years.
Non-Executive Directors are typically
expectedtoserve two three-yearterms,
although the Board may invite the Director
to serve foranadditional period.
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Letters of appointment

The Chairman and the Non-Executive
Directors have letters of appointment which
are available forinspectionat the registered
office of the Company during normal
business hours and at the place of the AGM
fromat least15 minutes before and until the
end of the meeting. These letters set out
the expected time commitment from

each Director.

External directorships

Any externalappointments or other
significant commitments of the Directors
require the priorapproval of the Board.
Trevor Matheris adirector onthe board
of Burns Sheehan Limited, arecruitment
business, for whichhe does notreceive
any remuneration. The Board approved
the appointmentand confirmed thatit
was satisfied that there was no conflict of
interest arising. Trevoris also Chair of Forever
Manchester, a charity which Auto Trader
supports through donations. Nathan Coe
doesnot have any external directorships
asatthe date of thisreport. The Boardis
comfortable that externalappointments
of the Chairman and the Non-Executive
Directors do notimpactonthe time that
any Director devotes to the Company.

Inaccordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association, the Board hasaformal system
inplace for Directors to declare conflicts of
interestsand forsuch conflictstobe
considered forauthorisation.

Induction and development

Allnewly appointed Directorsreceive an
induction briefing on their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of a publicly
quoted company. Thereisaformalinduction
programme to ensure that newly appointed
Directors familiarise themselves with the
Group andits activities, either through
reading, meetings with the relevant member
of senior management or through sessionsin
the Board meetings.

Each Board meeting contains a presentation
from senior management onone of the focus
areas for the year. Specific business-related
presentations are given to the Board by
senior managementand externaladvisors
when appropriate - refer to the table of
activities opposite.

All Directors are offered the opportunity to
meet with customers and take partinsales
callstounderstand the business froma
customer’s perspective. Thereisaformal
day of ‘dual calling’ where Board members
accompany the sales force on their visits
tocustomers. All Directorsnow receive a
weekly newsletter from our sales and service
teamtoensure theyare keptinformed of the
latest customer dialogue and sentiment.

Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2018

The Board asawholeisupdated,
asnecessary,inlight of any governance
developmentsasand when theyoccur,
andthereisanannualLegaland Regulatory
Update provided as part of the Board
meeting. All Directors are required to
complete our annual compliance training
modules covering anti-bribery, anti-money
laundering, data protectionand
information security.

As part of the Board evaluation, the Chairman
meets with each Director to discuss any
individual training and developmentneeds.

Information and support available

to Directors

Fulland timely access to all relevant
informationis given to the Board. For Board
meetings, this consists of aformal agenda,
minutes of previous meetings and a
comprehensive set of papersincluding
regular operationaland financialreports,
provided to Directorsinatimely mannerin
advance of meetings.

All of the Directors have theright to have
their opposition to, or concerns over,

any Board decision noted in the minutes.
Directors are entitled to take independent
professionaladvice at the Company’s
expenseinthe furtherance of their duties,
where considered necessary.

All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary,
Claire Baty.

Election of Directors

The Board canappointany personto be
aDirector, eithertofillavacancyorasan
addition to the existing Board. Any Director
soappointed by the Board shall hold office
onlyuntilthe next AGM and shallthen be
eligible for election by the shareholders.



Board and Committee activities in 2018

Strategicreport /

/ Financialstatements

April

Strategy

Operational

Financial

Shareholders

Risk and governance

June

July

November October September

February

March

Monthly operational Monthly financial Monthly report Regular feedback Approval of material
report with key reportwithresults, of people changes, frominvestor contracts.
achievements and KPIs, outturnand recruitment, meetings. Governance and
issuesinthe month, externalview. resourcing needs Quarterly regulatory updates.
view of theindustry, andemployee shareholder
competitors and engagement. analysis.
customers.
Acquisition of Motor Annualreview
Trade Delivery of governance
Limited. framework.
Accelerate audience, Business continuity
adviewsand planning and disaster
valuations growth. recovery.
Approval of Annual Bonusapproval Confirmation of Review and approval
Reportand for2017 PSP targets Group's capital of Groupriskregister.
Preliminary Results and grants. structureandthe Review and approval
Announcement. dividend policy. of viability statement.
Approval of final
dividend.
Improve stock Appointment of Reviewed feedback
choice, volumes Nathan Coe asjoint fromanalystsand
andaccuracy. CFO/COO0. investors fromresults
Develop consistently ~roadshow.
high-performing,
data-oriented teams
AT-wide.
Become known by Appointment Reviewed feedback Review and approval
consumers, retailers of Deloitte as frominvestorsand of Modern Slavery
and manufacturers as Remuneration proxy advisory Statement.
anew car destination. Committeeadvisors. agenciesinadvance  Griminal offence
of Annual General of tax evasion.
Meeting (‘(AGM’).
Insurance
programme.
Strategy off-site Diversity and Review approach
including customer inclusion. toriskmanagement.
visits. Succession planning.
Pricing and product
strategy for2018.
Approval of Initialreview of Approvalofinterim Review and approval

half-yearly report.

Capital strategy and
refinancing.

Remuneration Policy.

dividend.

of Groupriskregister.

2019 Operating plan.

ROlonmarketing
activity.

Review of tax
compliance.

Gender Pay Gap
reportingand
actionplan.
Approval of changes
toRemuneration

Policy tobe proposed

toshareholders.

Reviewed feedback
fromanalystsand
investors fromresults
roadshow.

Legalandregulatory
update.

Review of internal
control framework.
Review of progress
towards GDPR
compliance.

Large customers
update.

2019 Financial plan.

Salaryreviews
and bonustargets
for2019.

Feedback from
Capital Markets Day.

Feedback from
shareholder
consultationon
Remunerationreview.

ExternalBoard
evaluation feedback
andactionplan.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Board evaluation and effectiveness

Inthe third yearas alisted company, the Board engaged Independent Audit Limited to facilitate an external evaluation of the Board,
Committeesandindividual Directors during the year.

Thisincluded interviews with each of the Board Directors and members of senior management, review of Board and Committee papers
and observation of Board and Committee meetings. The draft findings were discussed with the Chairman and then presented to the Board

in March 2018.

The Board and Committees operate with arelatively
informal and high trust approach, and should monitor

that this continues to function well.

This will be keptunder continuous review, and specifically focused on during
meetings of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors, including review

of any behavioural early warnings, weakening business performance relative
tothe economic cycle, andretrospective review of major decisions taken.

The Board should develop a systematic approach
to building a view of and measuring the culture

of the business.

measure and track culture.

Aculturalscorecard willbe developed and used by the Board to formally

The Nomination Committee should focus on succession
planning and motivation of senior managers beyond

the Board.

Board level.

The Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee have been broadened
to explicitlyinclude talent development and succession planning below

The Board should consider opportunities for deeper
and wider contact between the Non-Executive

Directors and the wider workforce.

More opportunities for contactare being developed,including employee

forums, attendance atall-employee events and greater exposure to areas
of the business onanadhocandinformal basis.

Board papers should be reviewed to ensure they are
consistentand concise, and address the desired areas.

The Company Secretary willreview all Board papers to ensure that every
paperhasaclear purpose and positioning to give focus to Board discussions.

Inaddition,anassessment of the Chairman’s performance was carried out, led by the Senior Independent Director, and feedback

was provided to himindividually.

Overall, the results showed that the Board and its Committees continue to operate well,and that each individual Director continues

to make an effective contribution.

C

The Board has established an Audit
Committee, chaired by David Keens

and comprised entirely of Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The Committee
has defined Terms of Reference which
include assisting the Board in discharging
many of its responsibilities with respect
tofinancialand businessreporting,
riskmanagementandinternal control.
The work of the Committee is described
onpages 62to 65.

Financial and business reporting

Assisted by the Audit Committee, the Board
has carried out areview of the 2018 Annual
Reportand considers that,inits opinion, the
reportis fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company’s
positionand performance, business model
and strategy. Refer to the Audit Committee
reporton page 63 for details of the review
process.

See pages18to 21inthe Strategicreport
foradescription of our business model,
strategy and focus areas.

See page 38 forthe Board's statementon
going concernand the viability statement.
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Risk management and internal control

The Company does not have a separate
Risk Committee; the Boardis collectively
responsible for determining the nature and
extent of the principalrisksitis willing to
takeinachievingits strategic objectives.
The processesinplace forassessment,
management and monitoring of risks are
describedinaseparate section on pages
32t0 33.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility
forestablishing and maintaining the Group's
system of risk management andinternal
controlsanditreceivesregularreports from
managementidentifying, evaluating and
managing the risks within the business. The
system of internal controls is designed to
manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives and
can provide only reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Audit Committee
reviews the system of internal controls
throughreportsreceived from
management, along with others from
internaland external auditors. Management
continues to focus onhow internal controls
andrisk management can be further
embedded into the operations of the
business and on how to deal with areas of
improvement which come to the attention
of managementand the Board.

Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2018

The Board, assisted by the Audit Committee,
has carried outareview of the effectiveness
of the system of risk management and
internal controls during the year ended

31 March 2018 and for the period up to the
date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements containedin the
AnnualReport. The review covered all
material controls, including financial,
operationaland compliance controls and
risk management systems. The Board
considered the weaknesses identified and
reviewed the developing actions, plans and
programmes thatit considered necessary.
The Board confirms that no significant
weaknesses or failings were identified as
aresult of the review of effectiveness.



D

The Board has established aRemuneration
Committee, chaired by Jill Easterbrook and
comprised entirely of Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The work of the
Committeeis described on pages 66 to 80.

The Board hasacomprehensive investor
relations programme to ensure that existing
and potentialinvestorsunderstand the
Company’s strategy and performance.

As part of this programme, the Executive
Directors give formal presentations to
investorsandanalysts onthe half-year

and full-yearresultsin Novemberand June
respectively. These updates are webcast
live and then posted onthe Group’s website
andare available toall shareholders.

Theresults presentations are followed
by formalinvestorroadshowsin the UK
and overseas.

In March 2018, a Capital Markets Day was
held, attended by institutionalinvestors,
buy-side and sell-side analysts. During the
Capital Markets Day, the Executive Directors
presented anupdate on progress made since
the IPO, information aboutlong-termrisks
and opportunities, the automotive market
and the competitive environment. Members
of senior managementalso presented more
detailonthe Company’s customers,
consumers and products, including
productdemonstrations.

Allannouncements, investor
presentations, the Capital Markets Day
presentations and the Annual Reportare
onthe Company’s website:
plc.autotrader.co.uk/investors

During the year, the Company carried outan
extensive consultation processinrelation
to the Remuneration Policy to be proposed
at the 2018 AGM, whichincluded contact
with the top 30 investors,and with proxy
advisory agencies.

Thereisalsoanongoing programme of
attendance atconferences, one-to-one
meetings and group meetings with
institutionalinvestors, fund managers and
analysts. These meetings cover awide range
ofissues, including strategy, performance
and governance, but care is exercised to
ensure thatany price-sensitive informationis
released toallshareholders, institutionaland
private, at the same time. Meetings which
relate to governance are attended by the
Chairman oranother Non-Executive Director
asappropriate. Private shareholders are
encouragedto give feedbackand
communicate with the Board through
ir@autotrader.co.uk

Strategicreport /

The Boardreceivesregularreportson
issuesrelating to share price, trading activity
and movementsininstitutionalinvestor
shareholdings. The Boardis also provided
with currentanalyst opinions, forecasts and
feedback fromitsjoint corporate brokers,
Bank of America, Merrill Lynch and Numis,
ontheviews of institutionalinvestorsona
non-attributed and attributed basis,and
ontheviews of analysts fromits finance

PR agency, Powerscourt. Any major
shareholders’ concernsare communicated
tothe Board by the Executive Directors.

The Chairman, the Senior Independent
Directorand other Non-Executive Directors
are available to meet with shareholders and
arrangements can be made through the
Company Secretary.

Annual General Meeting

The AGM of the Company will take place
at10.00amon Thursday 20 September 2018
atthe Company’'sregistered office at

4th Floor,1Tony Wilson Place, Manchester,
MI54FN. All shareholders have the
opportunity to attend and vote, in person
or by proxy, atthe AGM.

Allproxy votesreceivedinrespect of each
resolution at the AGM are counted and the
balance forand against,and any votes
withheld, areindicated. At the meetingitself,
voting onall the proposedresolutionsis
conductedonapollratherthanashow of
hands, inline withrecommended best
practice. The Chairman, the Chair of each of
the Committees and the Executive Directors
are presentat the AGM and available to
answer shareholders’ questions.

The Notice of the AGM canbe foundina
booklet whichis being mailed outat the

same time as this Annual Report. The Notice of
the AGM sets out the business of the meeting
andanexplanatory note onallresolutions.
Separate resolutions are proposed inrespect
of each substantiveissue. Results of
resolutions proposed at the AGM willbe
published on the Company’s website:
plc.autotrader.co.uk/investors following
the AGM.

/ Financialstatements
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Report of the Nomination Committee

Chairman of the Nomination Committee

Composed of the Chairman and threeindependent
Non-Executive Directors.

Atleast one meeting held peryear.

Meetings are attended by the Chief Executive Officer
and other relevant attendees by invitation.

Formoreinformation on the Committee’s Terms of
Reference visit plc.autotrader.co.uk/investors

Three meetings were held during the year:

Meetings attended/ Percentage of
totalmeetingsheld meetingsattended

Ed Williams (Chairman) 3/3 100%
David Keens 3/3 100%
JillEasterbrook 3/3 100%
Jeni Mundy 3/3 100%
Our progress in 2018:

- Appointment of Nathan Coe injointrole of Chief Financial
Officerand Chief Operating Officer and continued monitoring
of succession planning.

- Further focus ondiversity andinclusion.

- Renewal of additional three-year term for the Chairman
and Senior Independent Director.

- Engagement of external Board evaluators and review
of therecommendations.

In 2019 we will:

- Continue to monitor Board and senior management succession
inthe context of the Company’s long-term strategy.

- Renewal of additional three-year terms for Non-Executive
Directors.

- Support managementand the Board in promoting diversity
insenior managementand across the workforce.
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Dear shareholders,

lam pleased to present the Report of the Nomination Committee
for2018.

Role of the Committee

The Committee reviews the structure, size and composition

of the Boardandits Committees, and makes appropriate
recommendations to the Board forappointments to the Board.

The Committee also has specific responsibility to oversee
diversity andinclusion across the whole Group; and as aresult of
the external Board evaluation, now monitors talent development
below Board level.

How the Committee operates

Allmembers of the Committee are independent Non-Executive
Directors. The Chairman of the Board chairs all meetings of

the Committee unless they relate to the appointment of his
successor; forthese meetings, the Senior Independent Director
(‘SID")isinvited to take the Chair unless the SID isin contention
fortherole.

The Committee meets atleastannually,and onanad hoc basis as
required throughout the year. Only members of the Committee
have theright to attend meetings; however, the Chief Executive
Officerattends forall or part of meetings so that the Committee
canunderstand hisviews, particularly on key talent within

the business.

Succession planningin action
The Committee recognises that effective succession planning
iscriticalto the Company’s long-term success.

Our succession plans were putinto action when Sean Glithero
announced hisintention toresignin July 2017. The Committee
consideredthe options forreplacing Sean,and agreed that,
inline with the succession plan, Nathan Coe was the most
suitable candidate for CFOin addition to his existing role as
COO0,andso was appointed as joint CFO/COO with effect from
21September 2017.

Following Nathan's appointment and Sean’s departure, the
Committee reviewed and updated the succession planto ensure
orderly succession for the Board and senior management,in the
context of the Group's strategy. The succession plan takesinto
account future skills requirementsin the context of the Group’s
strategy, as wellasrecognising the importance of growing and
developing ourinternal talent.

Policy on appointments to the Board

The mostimportant priority of the Committee has been,and
will continue to be, ensuring that members of the Board should
collectively possess the broad range of skills, expertise and
industry knowledge, and business and other experience
necessary for the effective oversight of the Group.

Appointments are made on merit, against objective criteria
and with due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The Committee takes account of avariety of factors before
recommending any new appointments to the Board, including
relevant skills to perform the role, experience, knowledge and
diversity, including gender diversity.

We have a target of women representation on our Board of 25%,
and we continue to meet this target, as two of our six Board
membersare women.



Diversity and inclusion

The Nomination Committee’s Terms of Reference alsoinclude the
responsibility to oversee diversity andinclusion across the whole
Group, notjustat Board and senior management level.

The Company has established a Diversity and Inclusion Guild,
with representation fromacrossall parts of the business and led
by members of our Operational Leadership Team. This guild is
responsible for developing and driving our strategy to create a
diverse,inclusive and conscious Auto Trader,and reports to the
Nomination Committee onits activities and progress.

Diversity at Auto Trader means respect forand appreciation of
differencesin: gender, age, sexual orientation, disability, race and
ethnic origin, religion and faith, marital status, social, educational
background and way of thinking. We do not set targets but we do
aim for our employee workforce to be reflective of the communities
inwhich we operate, across all aspects of diversity.

We acknowledge the recommendations of the Hampton-Alexander
Review and we are committed to strengthening womenrepresentation
atsenior management leveland throughout the organisation,
particularlyin parts of the business where women are currently
unrepresented, suchastechnology.

We are pleased toreportthat 50% of our Operational Leadership
Team (‘OLT’)and 27% of the OLT's direct reports are women.

External Board evaluation

During the year, there was an externally facilitated Board evaluation.
Thisis describedin detail on page 58 of the corporate governance
statement.

Independence and re-election to the Board
Inaccordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all Directors
willretire and of fer themselves for election or re-election to the Board.

The Directors who have beenin post throughout the year have been
subject to aformal evaluation process, and both the Committee and
the Board are satisfied that all Directors continue to be effectivein,
and demonstrate commitment to, their respective roles on the Board
and that each makes a valuable contribution to the leadership of

the Company.

The Board therefore recommends that shareholders approve the
resolutions to be proposed at the 2018 AGM relating to the election
andre-election of the Directors.

I will be available at the AGM to answer any questions on the work
of the Committee.

Chairman of the Nomination Committee
7June 2018

Strategicreport /
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Board composition
As at 31 March 2018

@® Chairman

Independent Non-Executive Directors

® Executive Directors

Board diversity
As at 31 March 2018

® Men
Women

Board tenure
As at 31 March 2018

® Over5years
2-5years
® Upto2years
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Report of the Audit Committee

Chairman of the Audit Committee

Composed of threeindependent Non-Executive Directors.

David Keens is considered by the Board to have recent
andrelevant experience. Allmembers have significant
commercial and operating experience in consumer
and digital businesses.

At least three meetings held peryear.

Meetings are attended by the Chief Financial Officer
and Chief Operating Officer, Chief Executive Officer,
internal auditors and external auditors by invitation.

Formore information on the Committee’s Terms of Reference
visit plc.autotrader.co.uk/investors

Four meetings were held during the year:

Meetings attended/ Percentage of

total meetingsheld meetingsattended

David Keens (Chairman) 4/4 100%
JillEasterbrook 4/4 100%
Jeni Mundy 4/4 100%
Our progress in 2018:

- Focus onkey areas of judgement, including acquisition
accounting for Motor Trade Delivery and treatment of contingent
liability for VAT treatment of insurance revenue.

- Review of effectiveness of internalaudit function, internal
controls and risk management framework.

- Evaluate effectiveness andindependence of external audit.
- Review of GDPR compliance.

In 2019 we will:
- Agree with KPMG any changes for their 2019 audit.

- Review theimpact of changes to accounting policies for IFRS 9,
IFRS15and IFRS16.

- Continue toreview the effectiveness of the internal audit
functionandrisk management framework.
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Dear shareholders,
lam pleased tointroduce the Audit Committee report for 2018.

The Committee operates under defined Terms of Reference
and assists the Board in discharging many of its responsibilities
over monitoring the integrity of the Group's financialreporting;
the effectiveness of the internal controland risk management
framework; the internal audit function; and the independence
and effectiveness of the externalauditors. The Committeeis
comprised entirely of independent Non-Executive Directors.

| fulfilthe requirement fora Committee member to have recent
andrelevant financial experience, and allmembers (and
therefore the Committee as awhole) have competencein
consumer and digital businesses.

The Committee met four times during the year, arranged around
ourexternalreporting and audit cycle and with an additional
meeting thisyearinrelation to GDPR compliance. Meetings are
attended by the CFO/COO and other members of management
by invitation,and with representation from KPMG and Deloitte.
The Committee reviewed significantaccounting matters withan
appropriate level of challenge and debate. We believe that the
informationin this AnnualReport clearly explains progress
againstour strategic objectivesandis fair,balanced and
understandable.

The Committee plays akeyrolein ensuring that we continue
tohavearobustinternalcontrolandrisk managementprocess.
Ourinternalaudit functionis outsourced to Deloitte LLP, who
continue to provide us with specialist expertise in delivering
arisk-basedrolling review programme.

Atthe 2017 AGM, shareholders approved the Board's
recommendationto re-appoint KPMG LLP as our external
auditors. The Committee has carried outareview of the
effectivenessandindependence of KPMG and has
recommended to the Board that they are re-appointed
atthe 2018 AGM.

David Keens
Chairman of the Audit Committee
7June 2018



Financialreporting
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The primaryrole of the Committeeinrelation to financialreportingis to review and monitor the integrity of the financial statements,
including annual and half-yearreports, resultannouncements, dividend proposals and any other formalannouncement relating to the

Group's financial performance.

The Committee assessed the quality and appropriateness of the accounting principles and policies adopted, and whether management had
made appropriate underlying estimates and judgements. In doing so, the Committee reviewed managementreportsinrespect of the main
financialreportingissues and judgements made, together withreports prepared by the external auditor on the 2018 half-year statementand

2018 Annual Report.

The Committee, with assistance from management and KPMG, identified areas of financial statementriskand judgement as described below.

Revenue recognition

Revenue recognition for the Group’srevenue streamsisnotcomplex. The Committee was satisfied with the explanations provided

However, thisremained an area of focus for KPMG due to the large
volume of transactions and asrevenue is the most material figure in
the financial statements.

KPMG carried out areview of our revenue recognition policies;
performed detailed analytical procedures; tested completeness
and existence of revenue by matching sales information from sales
systems to the financial systems and to cash receipts; reviewed
customer contracts; tested revenue cut-off and assessment of
deferredandaccruedrevenue; and carried out other computer-
assisted audit techniques.

KPMG also reviewed the Group’s assessment of IFRS 15 which
will be adopted from1April 2018 when it becomes mandatory.

and conclusions reached.

Share-based payments

The Company has anumber of share-based paymentarrangements,
accounted forunder IFRS 2, which requires the use of valuation
models and certainassumptionsin determining their fair value at
grantandintherecognition of chargesand, assuch,isanareaof
judgement for management.

The Committee reviewed the assumptions made by management,
particularlyinrelation to profit forecasts that determine the
proportion of shares granted under the PSPand DABP. The
Committee reviewed the comments within KPMG's reportinto the
calculation of the charge and satisfied itself that the share-based
paymentaccountingis appropriate andinaccordance with
accounting standards.

Acquisitionaccounting

Management's assessment of the allocation of goodwilland
intangible assets as part of the acquisition of Motor Trade Delivery
requires significant judgement.

KPMG evaluated the process and models used, challenged the
assessment of the identification of intangible assets and verified
thereliabilityandrelevance of the dataused.

The Committee reviewed the assumptions made by management
inrespect of the identification and valuation of intangible assets,
andthe allocation of consideration, and was satisfied that these
were appropriately accounted forunder IFRS 3.

Going concern and viability statement

The Directors must satisfy themselves as to the Group's viability and
confirmthatthey have areasonable expectation thatit will continue
to operate and meetitsliabilities as they fall due. The period over
which the Directors have determined itis appropriate to assess the
prospects of the Group has been defined as three years. In addition,
the Directors must consider if the going concernassumptionis
appropriate.

The Committee reviewed management's schedules supporting the
going concernassessmentand viability statements. These included
the Group’s medium-term planand cash flow forecasts for the
period to March 2021. The Committee discussed with management
the appropriateness of the three-year period,and discussed the
correlation with the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties as
disclosed onpages 34 to 37. The feasibility of mitigating actionsand
the potential speed of implementation to achieve any flexibility
required was discussed. The Committee evaluated the conclusions
over going concernand viability and the proposed disclosuresin the
financial statements and satisfied itself that the financial statements
appropriately reflect the conclusions.

Auto Trader Group plc 63

Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2018



Report of the Audit Committee continued

Fair, balanced and understandable

Attherequest of the Board, the Committee has reviewed the content

of the 2018 Annual Reportand considered whether, takenas awhole,
inits opinionitis fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company'’s
position, performance, business modeland strategy. The Committee
was provided with an early draft of the Annual Report,and provided
feedbackonareaswhere further clarity orinformation was required
inorder to provide acomplete picture of the Group's performance.

The finaldraft was then presented to the Audit Committee for review
before beingrecommended forapproval by the Board. When forming

its opinion, the Committee reflected on discussions held during the
yearandreportsreceived from the external auditor and considered
the following main areas:

Isthereport
fair?

- Isacomplete picture presented and hasany
sensitive material been omitted that should
have beenincluded?

- Are key messagesin the narrative aligned
with the KPIsand are they reflectedin the
financialreporting?

- Are therevenue streams describedinthe
narrative consistent with those used for
financialreportingin the financial statements?

Isthe report
balanced?

- Isthere agood level of consistency between
thereportsinthe frontand thereportingin
the back of the AnnualReport?

- Doyou get the same messages whenreading
the frontend and the backendindependently?

- Isthere anappropriate balance between
statutoryand adjusted measuresand are
any adjustments explained clearly with
appropriate prominence?

- Are the keyjudgementsreferredtointhe
narrative reporting and significantissues
reportedin the Report of the Audit Committee
consistent with disclosures of key estimation
uncertainties and criticaljudgements set out
inthe financial statements?

- How do these compare with therisks that
KPMG are planning toinclude in theirreport?

- Isthere aclearand cohesive framework
for the Annual Report?

- Are theimportant messages highlighted
and appropriately themed throughout
thedocument?

Isthe report
understandable?

- Isthereportwritteninaccessible language
and are the messages clearly drawn out?

Following the Committee’s review, the Directors confirm that,
intheiropinion, the 2018 Annual Report, takenas awhole, is fair,
balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company'’s position
and performance, business modeland strategy.
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Risk management and internal control

The Committee’sresponsibilitiesinclude areview of the risk
management systems and internal controls to ensure that they
remain effective and that any identified weaknesses are properly
dealt with. The Committee:

- reviews annually the effectiveness of the Group’sinternal
control framework;

- receivesreports fromthe Group’s outsourced internal audit
functionand ensuresrecommendations are implemented
where appropriate; and

- reviewsreports fromthe externalauditors on anyissuesidentified
inthe course of their work, including any internal controlreports
received on controlweaknesses, and ensures that thereisan
appropriate response from management.

The Group hasinternal controls and risk management systemsin
placeinrelationtoits financialreporting processes and preparation
of consolidated accounts. These systems include policies and
procedures to ensure thatadequate accounting records are
maintained and transactions are recorded accurately and fairly

to permitthe preparation of financial statementsinaccordance
with IFRS. The internal control systemsinclude the elements
described below.

Risk
management

Whilstrisk managementisamatter for the Board
asawhole, the day-to-day management of the
Group's key risks resides with the Operational
Leadership Team (‘OLT’)andisdocumentedina
riskregister. Areview and update of the risk
registerisundertakentwice ayearandreviewed
by the Board. The management of identified risks
isdelegated tothe OLT,and regular updatesare
given to executive managementat quarterly
steering group meetings.

Financial
reporting

Group consolidationis performed onamonthly
basis withamonth-end pack produced that
includesanincome statement, balance sheet,
cash flow statement and detailed analysis.

The month-end packalsoincludes KPIsand these
arereviewed each month by the OLT and the
Board. Results are compared against the Plan

or Reforecastand narrative provided by
management to explain significant variances.

Budgeting and
reforecasting

Anannual Planis producedand monthly results
arereported against this. A half-year Reforecast
isproduced. The Planand the Reforecastare
prepared using abottom up approach, informed
by a high-levelassessment of marketand
economic conditions. Reviews are performed
by the OLT and the Board whilst the Planis also
comparedto the top down Medium Term Plan
(‘MTP’) as asense check. The Planis approved
by the OLT and the Board, and the Reforecastis
approved by the OLT and reported to the Board.

Delegation of
authority and
approval limits

Adocumented structure of delegated authorities
and approval for transactionsis maintained
beyondthe Board’'s Terms of Reference. Thisis
reviewed regularly by management to ensure
itremains appropriate for the business.

Segregation
of duties

Procedures are defined to segregate duties
over significant transactions, including
procurement, payments to suppliers, payroll
and discounts/refunds. Key reconciliations
are prepared and reviewed on a monthly basis
to ensure accurate reporting.




Internal audit

Deloitte has beenappointed as the Group’s outsourced internal
audit function. They are accountable to the Audit Committee and use
arisk-based approachto provide independentassurance over the
adequacy and effectiveness of the controlenvironment. The internal
auditwork plan for 2018 was approved by the Audit Committee and
coversabroadrange of core financialand operational processes

and controls, focusing on specificriskareas, including:

- FCAcompliance framework
- Fraud risk management

- Business continuity planning
- GDPRreadiness

- Key financial controls

Managementactions thatare recommended following the audits
are tracked to completion and reviewed by the Committee to ensure
thatidentifiedrisks are mitigated appropriately.

The Committee met withrepresentatives from Deloitte without
management present and with management without representatives
of Deloitte present. There were noissues of significance raised
during these meetings.

Whistleblowing

Awhistleblowing policy has beenadopted whichincludes access
toawhistleblowing telephone service run by anindependent
organisation, allowing employees toraise concerns onan entirely
confidential basis. The Committee receivesregularreportsonthe
use of the service, any significant reports that have beenreceived,
theinvestigations carried out and any actions arising as aresult.

External auditors

One of the Committee’srolesis to oversee the relationship with the
externalauditor, KPMG, and to evaluate the effectiveness of the
service provided and their ongoingindependence. The Committee
has carried out areview based ondiscussion of audit scope and
plans, materiality assessments, review of auditors’ reports and
feedback frommanagementonthe effectiveness of the audit
process, and has concluded that the external auditor remains
effective andindependent.

During the year the Committee reviewed KPMG's findings of the
externalauditorinrespect of theirreview of the half-yearly report
for the six-month period ending 30 September 2017,and inrespect
of the audit of the financial statements for the year ended

31March 2018. The Committee met with representatives from
KPMG without management present and with management without
representatives of KPMG present, to ensure that there were no
issuesin the relationship between managementand the external
auditorwhichitshould address. There were none.

The Committee hasreviewed, and s satisfied with,
theindependence of KPMG as the external auditor.

Strategicreport / / Financialstatements

Non-audit services provided by the external auditor

The externalauditoris primarily engaged to carry out statutory audit
work. There may be other services where the external auditoris
consideredto be the most suitable supplier by reference to their
skillsand experience. Itisthe Group's practice thatit will seek quotes
from several firms, which mayinclude KPMG, before engagements
fornon-audit projects are awarded. Contracts are awarded based
onindividual merits. Apolicyisin place for the provision of non-audit
services by the external auditor, to ensure that the provision of such

services does notimpair the external auditor’'sindependence or
objectivity,inaccordance with the EU Audit Reform.

Audit-related services

directly related to the audit
Forexample, the review of interim
financial statements, compliance
certificatesandreports to
regulators.

Acceptable non-audit services
Including, but not limited to:
workrelated to mergers,
acquisitions, disposals,
jointventuresor circulars;
benchmarking services; and
corporate governance advice.

Considered tobeapproved
by the Committee uptoalevel
of £100,000 for eachindividual
engagement,andtoa
maximum aggregate inany
financial year of the higher

of £200,000and 70% of the
average audit fees paid to

the audit firminthe last three
consecutive years.

Any engagement of the
externalauditor to provide
permitted services over these

limitsis subject to the specific
approvalinadvance by the
Audit Committee.

Prohibited services

Inline with the EU Audit Reform,
services where the auditor’s
objectivity andindependence
may be compromised by the
threat of self-interest, self-review,
management,advocacy, familiarity
orintimidation - for example, tax
services,accounting services,
internalaudit services, valuation
services and financial systems
consultancy.

Prohibited, with the exception
of certain services which

are subject to derogationif
certain conditions are met,
inaccordance withthe EU
Audit Reform.

Referto plc.autotrader.co.uk/investors for full details of the policy.
During the year, KPMG charged the Group £37,575 for audit-related
assurance services.

The Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies Market
Investigation (Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender Processes
and Audit Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014 — statement

of compliance

Asacompetitive tender was carried outin 2016, and KPMG LLP were
firstappointed as statutory auditorsin the financial year to March
2017, we have complied with the requirement that the external audit
contractistendered withinthe 10 years prescribed by EU and UK
legislationand the Code’srecommendation. The Company confirms
thatitcomplied with the provisions of the Competition and Markets
Authority’s Order for the financial year under review.

Chairman of the Audit Committee
7June 2018
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Directors’ remuneration report

Annval statement

by the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

—— | ' Dear shareholders,

lam pleasedto present, on behalf of the Board, the Report
of the Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’) inrespect
of the yearended 31 March 2018.

Performance and reward in 2018

2018 has beenanother strong year, with revenue growth of 7%
and Operating profit growth of 10%. We have also continued to
deliver good progress against our strategy. Further details can
be found on pages 20 to 21 of the Strategicreport.

Annvalbonus

The annualbonus for 2018 was based 75% on Operating profit
and 25%on strategic targets (growthin full page advert views
and penetration of managing products). Operating profit was
£220.6m, slightly above our target of £219.0m, which resulted
inapayout of 62% of maximum for this element. Full page advert
views showed aslight decline, which was below the threshold
for this element. Managing forecourts grew by a further 20% to

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Composed of threeindependent Non-Executive Directors.

Atleast two meetings held peryear. 3,000 which was just below our target of 3,100. Total bonus for
e 2017/18 was therefore 50.3% of maximum, resulting in payments
The Company Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, the Chief of £411,830 for the CEO and £228,706 for the CFO & COO. Half of
Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer and other this bonus will be deferred into shares for a two-year period.
relevantindividuals are invited to attend the meetings -

no personis present during any discussion relating to their Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’)

own remuneration. Our first PSP award following IPO was awarded in 2015 and will
S vestinJune 2018 based on performance over the three years
The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee. to 31 March 2018. The award was based 75% on Cumulative

Underlying operating profit performance and 25% on Total
Shareholder Return (‘TSR’) relative to the FTSE 250 (excluding
investment trusts). Cumulative Underlying operating profit
performance for the three years to 31 March 2018 was £603m,
which was above the maximum of £550m. TSR performance
exceeded theindexby 27%, whichis again above the maximum
target of 25%,and so overall, thisaward will vestin fullin June

Formoreinformation on the Committee’s Terms of Reference
visit plc.autotrader.co.uk/investors

Three meetings were held during the year: 2018. Under the terms of the PSP holding period, the Directors
willretainthe vested sharesreceived for atleast two years from
Meetingsat.tended/ F_’ercentageof the point of vesting.
totalmeetingsheld meetingsattended
Jill Easterbrook (Chairman) 3/3 100% The Committee judged thatannual bonus plan payouts and the
. level of PSP award vesting appropriately reflected the underlying
David Keens 3/3 100% performance of the Company.
Jeni Mundy 3/3 100%
Remuneration review
Our progress in 2018: Inlight of the requirement to seek shareholder approval foranew
- Reviewed our remuneration framework to ensure it remains policy at the 2018 AGM, during 2017/18 the Committee undertook
aligned with our strategy in advance of submitting a revised athoroughreview of our currentremuneration arrangements.
Directors’ Remuneration Policy for approval at the 2018 AGM. The Committee considered arange of options for the structure
- Consulted with shareholders in relation to this revised of remuneration going forward, but ultimately concluded that our
framework, the most notable aspect of which s the replacement currentremuneration framework has been successfuland
of TSR with Total Group revenue growth in our PSP. continues to be appropriate for the Executive Directors.

- Assessed the achievement of targets for the 2018 annual bonus
and 2015 PSP awards.

- Determined the remuneration packagesinrespect of the
exit of Sean Glitheroand the changeinrole of Nathan Coe.

- Setappropriate targets for 2019 bonuses and PSP awards
tobe grantedin 2018.

- Gave considerationto the approach to equity participationacross
the workforce and launched our second SAYE scheme in 2018.

- Approved the 2017/18 Directors’ remuneration report.

The Committee has, however, made some modifications to the
structure and assessment of performance measures for the PSP
to betteralign performance measures with our strategy as well
asto simplifyandincrease the transparency of ourapproach to
assessing performance and setting targets. These modifications
areas follows:

- Total Group revenue growth will replace relative TSRas a
performance measure for 25% of the PSP award from 2018
onwards. Revenue growthisanimportant performance
indicator of the business and the Committee believes that

In2019 we will: incentivising management to continue to grow revenue

- Continue to monitor the executive pay environment, performance through our three businesslines - Trade,
governance developments and market practice. Consumer services and Manufacturerand Agency

- Determine how pay should be implemented for 2019/20 and set - willsupportlong-term profit growth and shareholder
appropriate targets forannualbonus and long-term awards. value creation.

- Assess the achievement of targets for the 2019 annual bonus
and 2016 PSP awards.
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- Toensurerevenue performanceis aligned with long-termvalue
creation the vesting for the revenue portion of the award will be
subjecttoan ‘underpin’ whereby the Operating profit measure must
be atleast at threshold levels of performance for any portion of the
Total Group revenue element to pay out.

- Toensure sustained long-term value creation for shareholders,
afurtherunderpinwillapply to the two-year post-vesting holding
period, whereby the Committee has discretion to make a downward
adjustment if there has been amaterial subsequent deteriorationin
underlying performance which significantly departs fromany
market deterioration.

- The Committee reconfirmed that Operating profitremains the
most appropriate profit measure for the remainder of the PSP.
Although EPSis widely used by other companies forlong-term
incentives, the Committee believes that the method by which cash
may be returned to shareholders (e.g. through share buybacks)
should not affect executive compensation and therefore believes
that Operating profitisamore appropriate performance measure
forthe PSP.

Operating profit will be assessed based on growth over the
three-year performance period rather than Cumulative Operating
profitas used previously, aligning with the way revenue growth
isassessed.

Takingintoaccount shareholder feedbackand toincrease
transparency, we will disclose Total Group revenue and Operating
profit PSP targets at the time of award rather than with a one-year
delay. Targets for 2018 PSP awards are set out on page 70.

Current Proposed

25% based on TSR
relative to the FTSE 250
(excl. investment trusts)

25% based on Group

Total revenue growth

Other elements of our policy will continue unchanged.

Board changes

Sean Glithero left the Board on 21 September 2017. He received salary,
benefitsand pension to this date. No further payments were madein
lieu of notice. On hisdeparture all hislong-termincentives and
deferred bonus shares lapsed.

Implementation of policy for 2018/19

Salary and incentive opportunities

On 3July 2017,it was announced that following Sean Glithero's
departure, Nathan Coe would be taking on the role of Chief Financial
Officerinadditionto his existing role of Chief Operating Officer.

The Committee reviewed Nathan's package and agreed the following
changes toreflect the significantincreasein the size and the scope
of hisresponsibilities given hiscombined CFO & COO role:

- His base salary wasincreased to £370,000 with effect from1April
2018. Thisisanincrease of 5.7%on his current salary and represents
bothanannualadjustmentandanincrement to reflect his promotion
to CFO, inaddition to his previous COO responsibilities. For
reference, across the Group for the 2018/19 financial year, the
averageincreaseinsalary wasaround 3.5%, reflecting both the
general market, promotions andindividual rewards for performance.

Strategicreport / / Financialstatements

- Hisannualbonus opportunity will be increased, subject to the
approval of our new Remuneration Policy, to 150% of base salary
(from130%). His PSP opportunity will be increased to 200% of base
salary (from150%). This brings his incentive package inline with the
currentaward opportunities for the CEO.

- Note that Nathan’s shareholding guideline willalso increase from
150%to 200% of salary,inline with the increase to the PSP award.

This approach creates a market competitive total package, but with
theincrease to quantum driven primarily via the annualbonus and
PSP, which are subject to the achievement of stretching shortand
long-term performance targets, whichis bestaligned to the interests
of ourinvestors. Fixed pay would continue to be positioned towards
the lower end of market practice compared to companies of a similar
size and complexity to Auto Trader. Following thisincrease the
Committee believes that Nathan's salary and total compensation
package willbe appropriately positioned to reflect the size and
scope of hisdualrole anditisintended that any future salary
increases willbein line with those awarded to otheremployees
inthe business.

Forour CEO, Trevor Mather, his salary was increased by 2% to £557,134
with effect from1April2018inline with the generalincrease for other
employees across the Group. His maximum bonus opportunity and
his PSP award will continue to be 150% and 200% of salary, respectively,
inline with the Policy.

Annvalbonus

75% of the maximum bonus opportunity will be based on Operating
profitwith the remaining 25% being based on two strategic metrics
(based onstockand audience targets, whichunderpin the core health
and position of our business). Targets will be disclosed retrospectively
innextyear'sreport.

PSP

Forthe 2018 award, 75% will be based on Operating profit growth,
requiring compound annual growth over a three-year period of 10% for
maximum vesting. As outlined above, the remaining 25% will be based
on Total Group revenue growth, requiring 8% growth for maximum
vesting. The targets are disclosedin full on page 70.

The Committee consulted with our main shareholdersregarding the
proposed changes set outabove and was pleased with the level of
supportreceived.

Thisremunerationreportisinthree parts.

- This Annual Statement by the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

- The Directors’ Remuneration Policy (set out on pages 68t073),
which sets out our Policy for Executive Director and Non-Executive
Directorremuneration. The Policy will be subject to a binding
shareholdervote atthe AGM on 20 September 2018.

- The Annual Report on Remuneration (set out on pages 74 to 80),
which sets out how the Policy has beenimplemented during 2017/18
and how we intend toimplement the Policy for 2018/19. The Annual
Statement by the Chairman, together with the Annual Reporton
Remuneration, will be subject to anadvisory vote at the AGM on
20 September 2018.

Thisreporthas been preparedinaccordance with the Companies Act
2006, Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (asamendedin
2013) and the UKLA's Listing Rules.

Ihope that you willbe supportive of the AGM resolutions to approve
our Directors’ Remuneration Policy and our Annual Report on
Remuneration for 2017/18. I shall be available at the AGM to answer
any specific questions that you may have.

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
7June 2018
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

This Remuneration Policy will be put to shareholders forapprovalin abinding vote at the AGM on 20 September 2018 and will be effective
fromthis date.

Policy overview

Asoutlinedinthe Remuneration Committee Chairman’s statement, in light of the requirement to seek shareholder approval foranew
Remuneration Policy, the Committee undertook a thorough review of the currentremuneration arrangements for Executive Directors,
considering arange of potentialapproaches. The Committee concluded that the current framework remains appropriate and therefore
the Policy will be re-submitted to shareholders largely unchanged from the version approved by shareholders at the 2015 AGM.

Minor changes have been made to the Policy to clarifyits practical operation and to reflect prevailing market practice.

The Policyis structured so as to ensure that the main elements of remuneration are linked to Company strategy, in line with best practice and
aligned with shareholders’ interests. The Policy is designed to reward Executive Directors by offering competitive remuneration packages,
which are prudently constructed, sufficiently stretching and linked to long-term profitability. In promoting these objectives, the Policy aims
tobesimpleindesign, transparentand structured so as to adhere to the principles of good corporate governance and appropriate risk
management.

Afurtheraim of the Remuneration Policy is to encourage a culture of share ownership by colleagues throughout the Company, andin support
of this we have both a SIP,under which an award of free shares to commemorate the Admission was granted, and a SAYE scheme. In November
2017 we launched our second SAYE programme.

How the views of shareholders and employees are taken into account

Whilst the Committee does not consult directly with employees onthe Directors’ Remuneration Policy, the Committee doesreceive regular
updatesregarding remuneration arrangements across the Group. These updates are taken into consideration when determining the
Remuneration Policy for the Executive Directors and in particular when considering any changes to policy andincreasesin the level of fixed
remuneration. The Company regularly undertakes an employee engagement survey whichincludes questions to understand employees’
views on their ownremuneration and benefits, which the Committee also reviews.

The Committee is committed to a constructive dialogue with our shareholdersin order to ensure that our Remuneration Policy is aligned with
theirviews. The Committee consulted with shareholdersinadvance of submitting our revised Policy to the shareholder vote and carefully
consideredthe feedbackreceived. In conjunction with any additional feedbackreceived from time to time, this will be considered as part
of the Committee’s annual review of how we intend to implement our Remuneration Policy.

If any significant changes to our Remuneration Policy which require shareholder approval are proposed, the Committee will seek to engage
with major shareholders to explain our proposals and obtain feedback.

Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors

Our Policy is designed to offer competitive, but not excessive, remuneration structured so that there is a significant weighting towards
performance-based elements. Asignificant proportion of our variable payis delivered in shares with deferraland holding periods being
mandatory,and with appropriate recovery and withholding provisionsin place to safeguard against overpaymentsin the event of certain
negative events occurring. The table below provides a full summary of the Policy elements for Executive Directors.

Salary Torecruitandreward Salaries are normally reviewed annually Thereisno prescribed maximum The Committee reviews
executives of high with changes effective from1Aprilbut  salarylevelorsalaryincrease; the salaries of Executive
calibre. may bereviewed at othertimesif however,any basesalaryincreases  Directors eachyear taking
Recognisesindividual's consideredappropriate. willnormally beinline with the dueaccountofall the factors
experience, Salary reviews will consider: percentageincreasesawarded to describedinhow the salary

i otheremployees of the Group. olicy operates.
responsibilityand - personal performance; D‘ Y p policyop
performance. However,increases may be made

- Group performance; . ) S .
outside of this policy inappropriate

- the nature and scope of therole; circumstances, such as:

- theindividual's experience; and - Where a Directoris appointed on

- increaseselsewhereinthe Company.  asalarythatisatthelowerend of
the market practice range, larger
increases may be awarded as the
executive gains experience to
move the salary closer toamore
typical market level.

Periodicreviews of market practice
(forexample,incomparable companies
interms of size and complexity) will
alsobe undertaken.

The Committee considers theimpact
of any salaryincrease onthe total
remuneration package.

- Where there hasbeenachangein
the nature and scope of therole.

- Where there has beenasignificant
andsustained changeinthe size
and complexity of the business.

- Where there has beenasignificant
change in market practice.
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Benefits

To provide competitive
benefitstoensure

the wellbeing of
employees.

Executive Directors are entitled
to the following benefits:

- life assurance;
- income protectioninsurance; and
- private medicalinsurance.

The Committee may determine that
Executive Directors should receive
additionalreasonable benefits if
appropriate, takingintoaccount typical
market practice and practice
throughout the Group.

Executive Directors may be reimbursed
forallreasonable expensesand the
Company may settle any taxincurred
inrelationtothese.

Where an Executive Directorisrequired
torelocate to performtheirrole, they
may be provided withreasonable
benefitsas determined by the
Committee in connection with this

relocation (oneitheraone-off orongoing

basis),including any benefits such as
housing, travel or education allowances.

Thevalue of benefitsisnotcapped N/A
asitisdetermined by the costto

the Company, which may vary.

Pension

To provide retirement
benefits for
employees.

Directorsare eligible toreceive
employer contributionstothe
Company’s pension plan (whichisa
defined contribution plan),a salary
supplementinlieu of pension
benefits (or combination of the above)
or similararrangement.

Maximum contributioninline
with the contribution of other
employeesinthe Group, currently
5% of salary.

N/A

Annval
bonus

Toincentivise and
reward the achievement
of annual financialand
operational objectives
whichare closely linked
tothecorporate
strategy.

The annualbonusis based
predominantly on stretching financial
and operational objectives setatthe
beginning of the year and assessed by
the Committee following the year end.

Half of any bonus earnedis normally
subjecttodeferralintosharesunder the
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (‘DABP’),
typically foraperiod of twoyears from
the date of award. The deferred shares
will vest subjectto continued
employment, butthereareno further
performance targets.

Adividend equivalent provisionapplies,
asdescribed below.

Recovery and withholding provisions
apply, as described below.
Participationinthe bonus plan,andall

bonus payments, are at the discretion
of the Committee.

Financialmeasures will
normally representthe
majority of bonus, with
strategic or operational
non-financial targets
representing the balance
(ifany).

Maximum of 150% of salary.

Not more than 20% of each
partof the bonuswillbe
payable forachieving the
relevant threshold hurdle.

Measures and weightings
may change eachyearto
reflectanyyear-on-year
changes to business
priorities.

The Committee has the
discretion to adjust targets
forany exceptionalevents
including acquisitions or
disposals that may occur
during the year.

Auto Trader Group plc
Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2018

69



Directors’ remuneration report continued

Performance Toincentiviseand
Share Plan recognise successful
(‘PSP’) executionof the

Note, PSPawards Dusiness strategy over
grantedinJjune  thelongerterm.

2018 will take .
e~ To align thelong-term
this Policy. interests of Executive

Directors with those
of shareholders.

Awards willnormally be made annually Normal: maximum of 200% of salary. The vesting of awards willbe

under the PSP, and will take the form of
nil-cost options or conditional share
awards. Participationandindividual
award levels will be determined at the
discretion of the Committee within
the Policy.

Exceptional circumstances:
maximum of 300% of salary.

Awards normally vest after three years
subjecttothe extenttowhich the
performance conditions specified
forthe awards are satisfied, and
continued service.

Recovery and withholding provisions
apply, asdescribed below.

Executive Directors are required to
retain vested shares delivered under
the PSP foratleast two years fromthe
point of vesting, subject to the terms
of the holding period described below.

Adividend equivalent provision applies,
as described below.

subjecttothe achievement
of performance metrics
which may be financial, share
price or strategicin nature.

The metrics and weightings
foreachaward willbe set
outinthe AnnualReporton
Remuneration. Any strategic
measure(s) willaccount for
nomore than 25% of the
award.

The Committee has the
discretionto adjusttargets
forany exceptional events
(including acquisitions and
disposals) that occur during
the performance period.
No more than 25% of the
award vests for achieving
threshold performance.

All-employee Toencourage The Company operates two Maximum permitted based on N/A
Share Plans Group-wide equity all-employee tax-advantaged plans, HMRC limits fromtime to time.
—-SIP&SAYE ownershipacrossall namely a Save As You Earn ('SAYE')and
employees,andcreate aShareIncentive Plan (‘SIP’) for the
aculture of ownership. benefitof Group employees.
The operation of these plans will be
atthe discretion of the Committee,
and Executive Directors will be eligible
to participate onthe same basis as
otheremployees.
Share Toincreasealignment Executive Directors are expected to The minimum share ownership N/A
ownership between executives build and maintain aholding of shares  guidelineis 200% of salary for
guidelines and shareholders. inthe Company. Thisis expectedtobe current Executive Directors.

built through retaining a minimum of 50%
of the net of tax vested PSP and DABP
shares, untilthe guideline levelis met.

Notes to the Policy table

Recovery and withholding provisions

Recovery and withholding provisions apply to variable pay, to enable the Company to recover amounts paid under the annual bonus and PSP
inthe event of the following negative events occurring within three years of the payment of acash bonus, the grant date of anaward under
the DABP or the vesting date of PSP awards:

- amaterial misstatement of orrestatement to the audited financial statements or other data;
-anerrorin calculation leading to over-payment of bonus; or
- individual gross misconduct.

Should suchan eventbe suspected, there will be afurther two yearsin which the Committee may investigate the event. Theamount to be
recovered would generally be the excess payment over the amount which would otherwise be paid, and recovery may be satisfied inavariety of
ways, including through the reduction of outstanding deferred awards, reduction of the net bonus or PSP vesting and seeking a cash repayment.

Dividend equivalents
Under the DABP and the PSP, the Committee may also pay the value of dividends, at the Committee’s discretion, onvested shares (in cash or
shares) which may assume the reinvestment of dividends on a cumulative basis.

Discretion available under the Policy

Inorder to ensure that the Remuneration Policy is capable of achievingitsintended aims, the Committee retains certain discretions over

the operation of the variable pay policy. These include the ability to vary the operation of the plansin certain circumstances (such as achange
of control, rightsissue, corporate restructuring event, special dividend or acquisition or disposal) including the timing and determination

of payouts/vesting; and making appropriate adjustments to performance measures or targets as necessary to ensure that performance
conditions remain appropriate. However, it should be noted thatin the event that the measures or targets are varied for outstanding awards
inthelight of acorporate event, the revised targets may not be materially less difficult to satisfy. Should these discretions be used, they
would be explainedinthe Annual Report on Remuneration and may be subject to consultation with shareholders as appropriate.
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Operation of the PSP holding period

Executive Directorsare required toretain vested shares delivered under the PSP (on a net of tax basis, where applicable) for at least two years
from the point of vesting. In exceptional circumstances, the Committee may atits discretion allow participants to sell, transfer, assign or
dispose of some or all of the PSP shares before the end of the holding period.

Previously agreed payment

The Committee reserves the right to make any remuneration payments and/or payments for loss of office (including exercising any discretions
available toitin connection with such payments) notwithstanding that they are notin line with the Policy set out above where the terms of

the payment were agreed (i) before 17 September 2015 (the date the Company'’s first shareholder-approved Directors’ Remuneration Policy
came into effect); (ii) before the Policy set out above came into effect, provided that the terms of the payment were consistent with the
shareholder-approved Directors’ Remuneration Policy in force at the time they were agreed; or (iii) at a time when the relevantindividual was
notaDirector of the Company and, in the opinion of the Committee, the payment was notin consideration for the individualbecoming a
Director of the Company. For these purposes, ‘payments’ includes the Committee satisfying awards of variable remunerationand, inrelation
toanaward over shares, the terms of the paymentare ‘agreed’ at the time the award is granted.

Selection of performance measures

Annualbonus performance measures are selected annually toreflect the Group's key strategicinitiatives for the yearandinclude both
financialand strategic or operational non-financial objectives. A majority weighting will be placed on financial performance, ensuring that
payouts are closely linked to the Group's performance and the execution of strategy.

PSP awards to be grantedin 2018/19 will be subject to the achievement of Operating profit growth and Total Group revenue measures.
The Committee believes thiscombination of measures ensures that rewards are linked to long-term shareholder value creation.

The performance metrics used and their weighting may differ for awards to ensure they continue to support the Company’s long-term
growth strategy.

Differences in Remuneration Policy between Executive Directors and other employees

Whilst the Policy described above applies specifically to the Company’s Executive Directors, the Policy principles are designed with due
regard to employees across the Group.

‘Atrisk, performance-linked pay' isrestricted to the most senior employeesin the Company, asitis this group thatis mostinfluentialin driving
corporate performance.

The Committeeis committed to promoting a culture of widespread share ownership across all levels of the organisation. At senior levels this
will predominantly be achieved through participationin performance-basedincentive plans, whilst across the rest of the workforce it willbe
supportedviaall-employee share plans.

Illustration of application of Remuneration Policy

The chart below illustrates how the composition of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages varies under three different performance
scenarios: threshold, on-target and maximum, both as a percentage of total remuneration opportunity and as a total value.

Chief Executive Officer CFO & COO
£3,000k £3,000k
£2,536k @ Fixed remuneration @ Fixed remuneration
= £2,500k Annual variable a £2500K Annual variable
T 29000k remuneration R remoneration
S G Long-term variable s 21684k ® Long-term variable
© Z i © n
o £1500k Superation S =500k remuneration
5 S £1,037k
€  £1,000k E  £1,000k
2 £586k 2
£500k £500k £389k
£0k £0k
Minimum Target Maximum Minimum Target Maximum

Assumptions
- Minimum = fixed pay (base salary, benefits and pension)

- Target = fixed pay plus 50% of maximum bonus payoutand 50% vesting under the PSP
- Maximum = fixed pay plus 100% of bonus payout and 100% PSP vesting

Salary levels (on which other elements of the package are calculated) are based on those applying on1April 2018. The value of taxable benefits
isas disclosedin the single figure for the year ending 31 March 2018.

No share price increase isassumed and any dividend equivalents payable are notincluded.
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Service contracts and policy for payments on loss of office

The service contracts for the Executive Directors are terminable by either the Company or the Executive Director on12 months’ notice and
make provision for early termination by way of payment of a cash sum equal to 12 months’ salary and pension. The Company may continue
to provide benefits until the end of the notice period or may make a payment to the value of 12 months’ contractual benefits.

Paymentin lieu of notice can be paid eitherasalump sum orin equal monthly instalments over the notice period and will normally be subject
to mitigation. The Committee will consider the particular circumstances of each leaver and retains flexibility as to at what point, and the extent
to which, payments are reduced.

The Committee reserves theright to make any other paymentsin connection with a Director’s cessation of office oremployment where the
payments are made in good faithin discharge of an existing legal obligation (or by way of damages for breach of such an obligation) or by way
of settlement of any claim arising in connection with the cessation of a Director’s of fice oremployment or for any fees for outplacement
assistance and/or the Director’s legaland/or professional advice feesin connection with his cessation of office oremployment. SAYE options
willbecome exercisable on cessation of employment to the extent permittedinaccordance with the rules of the SAYE scheme, which does
not provide for the exercise of discretion by the Committee. On cessation, a payment may be made inrespect of accrued but untaken holiday.

Relevant details will be providedin the Annual Report on Remuneration should such circumstances apply.

Insummary, the contractual provisions on termination where the Company elects to make a paymentin lieu of notice are as follows:

Notice period 12 months by either party.

Termination payments over the notice period  100% of salary and pension contribution for the relevant period.

The Company may continue to provide benefits untilthe end of the notice period or may make
apaymentto the value of 12 months’ contractual benefits.

Change of control No enhanced provisions onachange of control.

The Executive Directors are subject toannualre-election at the AGM. Service contracts are available forinspectionat the Company’s
registered office.

Annual bonus on termination

Thereisnoautomatic or contractualright to bonus payment. At the discretion of the Committee, for certain leavers,abonus may become
payable at the normal payment date based on performance. Such bonus would normally be pro-rated for timeinemployment unless the
Committee determines otherwise. Atits discretion the Committee may also pay such bonus at the time of cessation of employment based
onperformance to that date. Any bonus paid may be paid100%in cash for the year of departure or preceding financial year if the bonus for
thatyear has notyetbeenawarded. Should the Committee decide to make a paymentin such circumstances, the rationale would be fully
disclosedinthe Annual Report on Remuneration.

DABP awards on termination

Any existing awards under the DABP will lapse on termination unless the terminationis due to death, the sale of the employing company from
the business or otherwise at the discretion of the Committee. Where an award does not lapse it will vest on cessation (or on such later date as
the Committee determines), to the extent determined by the Committee.

PSP on termination

Share-based awards are outside of service contracts provisions. Normally, PSP awards will lapse upon a participant ceasing to hold
employment. However, under the rules of the PSP, in certain prescribed circumstances (namely death, sale of employing company from the
business or otherwise at the discretion of the Committee), ‘'good leaver’ status can be applied. In exercisingits discretion as to whetheran
Executive Director should be treated as a good leaver, the Committee will take into account the performance of the individualand the reasons
fortheir departure and, in the event of this determination being made, will set outitsrationale in the following Annual Report on Remuneration.
Awards will typically vest on the originally anticipated date, although the Committee has discretion to vest awards sooner (and to assess
performance conditions accordingly if vesting occurs before the end of the performance period).

The extent to which PSP awards will vestin good leaver circumstances willdepend on:

(i) theextenttowhichthe performance conditions have been satisfied at the end of the performance period (or such other relevant time as
the Committee determines); and

(i) unlessthe Committee determines otherwise, the pro-rating of the award determined by the period of time served in employment during
the vesting period.

Change of control

Inthe event of achange of control of the Company or otherrelevant event, awards under the PSP, DABP and SIP and options under the SAYE
scheme will vest early. Vesting of awards under the PSP will be determined by applying any relevant performance condition and, unless the
Committee determines otherwise, pro-rating the award by reference to the period of time from grant to vest as a proportion of a period of
threeyears. DABP award shall vestin full,and the extent to which an SAYE option can be exercised will be determined by the Committee in
accordance with the rules of the SAYE scheme on the same basis as for otheremployees.
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Approach to recruitment and promotions

The recruitment package for anew Executive Director would normally be setin accordance with the terms of the Company’s approved
Remuneration Policy. Currently, this would include an annual bonus opportunity of up to150% of salary and policy PSP award of up to 200%
of salary (other thanin exceptional circumstances where up to 300% of salary may be made). The Committee, however, retains discretion
toinclude any other remuneration component oraward whichit feelsis appropriate taking into account the specific circumstances of
therecruitment, subject to the limit on variable remuneration of 350% of salary (450% of salary in exceptional circumstances) whichisinline
with current Policy limits. This limit does notinclude any payment(s) or award(s) made to ‘buy-out’ remuneration forfeited on leaving a
previous employer. The key terms and rationale forany such component would be disclosed as appropriate in that year’'s Annual Report
onRemuneration.

Onrecruitment, salary will be set so as toreflect the individual's experience and skills. It may be set atalevel below the normal marketrate,
with phasedincreases greater than those received by others as the Executive Director gains experience.

Where anindividual forfeits outstanding variable pay opportunities or contractualrights ata previous employer as aresult of appointment, the
Committee may offer compensatory payments or awards, in such form as the Committee considers appropriate takinginto account relevant
factors which may include the form of awards, expected value and vesting timeframe of forfeited opportunities. When determining any such
‘buyout’, the principle would be that awards would be on a ‘like-for-like’ basis unless thisis considered by the Committee not to be practical
orappropriate.

Where an Executive Directoris required to relocate from their home location to take up their role, the Committee may provide assistance with
relocation (either via one-off or ongoing payments or benefits).

Ifaninternal candidate is promoted to the Board, legacy terms and conditions would normally be honoured, including pension entitlements
and any outstandingincentive awards.

Inthe event of recruitment, the Committee may grant awards to a new Executive Director relying on the exemptionin the Listing Rules which
allows for the grant of awards, to facilitate, in unusual circumstances, the recruitment of an Executive Director, without seeking prior
shareholderapproval orunder any otherappropriate Company incentive plan.

Policy on external appointments

SubjecttoBoardapproval, Executive Directors are permitted to take on one non-executive position with another company and to retain their
feesinrespect of such position. Additionalappointments may be undertaken in exceptional circumstances. Details of outside directorships
held by the Executive Directors and any fees that they received are provided in the Annual Report on Remuneration.

Remuneration Policy for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors do not have service contracts with the Company, butinstead have letters of appointment.

Fees Toattractandretaina Feesarereviewed periodicallyand approved by the Board, Thereisnoprescribed maximum

high-calibre Chairmanand with Non-Executive Directors abstaining from any discussion  annualincrease or fee level.

Non-Executive Directors by inrelationto their fees. Both the Chairmanand the The fee levels are reviewed on a

offeringamarket competitive Non-Executive Directors are paid annual fees and do not periodic basis, with reference to

feelevel. participateinany of the Company’sincentive arrangements, the time commitment of the role
orreceive any pension provision or other benefits. and market levels (for example in
The Chairmanreceivesasingle fee covering all of hisduties. companies of comparable size
The Non-Executive Directorsreceive a basic Board fee, and complexity).

with additional fees payable for chairing the Auditand
Remuneration Committees and for performing the Senior
Independent Directorrole.

Additional fees may be paid to reflect additional Board or
Committee responsibilities oranincreased time commitment
asappropriate.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors shall be entitled
to have reimbursed all expenses that they reasonablyincurin
the performance of their duties. The Company may meetany
taxliabilities that may arise on such expenses.

The Board may introduce benefits for the Chairman or

Non-Executive Directorsifitis considered appropriate
todoso.

Letters of appointment

AllNon-Executive Directors have letters of appointment with the Company for aninitial period of three years, subject to annualre-election at
the AGM. Appointmentis terminable on sixmonths’ written notice. The appointment letters for the Non-Executive Directors provide that no
compensationis payable upon termination of employment.

Letters of appointment are available forinspection at the Company’s registered office.

Approach to recruitment

Forthe appointment of anew Chairman or Non-Executive Director, the fee arrangement would be setinaccordance with the approved
remuneration policyinforce atthat time.
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Annval Report on Remuneration

Implementation of the Remuneration Policy
for the year ending 31 March 2019

The following sets outasummary of how our Remuneration Policy will
beimplemented for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Base salary

The Executive Directors’ salaries were reviewed in early 2018 with

the changes becoming effective from1April 2018. The following table
setsout the new salaries effective 1 April 2018 (financial year 2019)
comparedtothose whichappliedin financial year 2018:

Percentage

2019 2018 change

Trevor Mather £557,134 £546,210 +2.0%
Nathan Coe £370,000  £350,000 +5.7%

On3July 2017,it was announced that following Sean Glithero's
departure, Nathan Coe would be taking on the role of Chief Financial
Officerinaddition to his existing role of Chief Operating Officer.
With effect from1April 2018 the Committee reviewed and increased
Nathan’s salary (as shown above) and hisincentive award levels to
reflect the significantincrease in the size and the scope of hisrole.
Following these increases, the Committee believes that his salary
and total compensation package are appropriately positioned.

Theincrease forthe CEOisinline with the generalincrease received
forothersenioremployees across the Group, and lower than the
average increase in salary across the wider employee population

of around 3.5% (reflecting both general market, promotions and
individualrewards for performance).

Pension and benefits

Executive Directors will continue to receive a pension contribution
attherate of 5% of base salary (inline with pensions of fered to other
employees), payable into the Company pension scheme orasacash
alternative. Ancillary benefits are providedin the form of private
medical cover, life assurance and income protectioninsurance.

Annualbonus

The maximum annual bonus opportunity willbe 150% of base salaryin
line with the Policy. Half of any bonus earned will be payable in shares,
deferred for twoyears under the DABP. The metrics and their
weightings for the year ending 31 March 2019 are:

Percentage

of total

Metric bonus

Operating profit 75%
Strategic objectives

- Stock - average live car stock

- Audience - average full page advert views 25%

Operating profitis akey performanceindicator of the business and
the Board believes continuing to deliver Operating profit performance
will generate long-termvalue for shareholders. For the Operating
profit measure, for achievement of the threshold target, 20% of this
part of the bonus opportunity becomes payable with the maximum
becoming payable for outperforming the 2018 business plan.

The Committee believes thatitisimportant to incentivise executives
todeliverkey strategic objectives to ensure that the businessis well
positioned to deliver profit growth and shareholder value in future.
The strategic targets selected for 2018/19 are aligned with our Group
KPIsand are the key metric that underpin our core business.

The strategic objectives are equally weighted, accounting for12.5%
of the bonus each. Afinancialunderpin willapply to the strategic
targets, such thatno bonus will be payable unless a threshold level
of Operating profitis exceeded.
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The targets are commercially sensitive, but the Committee intends
todisclose themin the next Annual Report on Remuneration provided
theyare no longer considered to be commercially sensitive at
thattime.

PSP
Inline with the Policy, PSP awards willbe made at the level of 200%
of base salary. Awards will be subject to the following performance
measures and targets:

The performance conditions applying to the 2018 PSP awards are set
outbelow. Each elementwillbe assessed independently of the other:

Threshold Stretch
(25% (100%

Measure vesting) vesting)

Weighting Basis

Operating  75% Operating profit 6%p.a. Equalto
profit compound annual orabove
growthrate for the 10%p.a.
threeyearsended
31March 2021
TotalGroup 25% Total Grouprevenue 5%p.a. Equalto
revenue compound annual orabove
growthrate for the 8%p.a.

threeyearsended
31March 2021

For performance between the threshold and stretch targets,
vesting will be calculated on a pro-rata basis. Thereis no vesting
forperformance below the threshold target.

Revenue growthis akey performance indicator of the business and
the Committee believes thatincentivising management to continue to
grow revenue performance through our three businesslines - Trade,
Consumer servicesand Manufacturerand Agency - will support
long-term profit growth and shareholder value creation. To ensure
revenue performanceis aligned with long-term value creation the
vesting for the revenue portion of the award will be subject toan
‘underpin’ whereby the Operating profit measure must be at least at
threshold levels of performance forany portion of the Total Group
revenue element to pay out.

Continuing to drive Operating profitis akey strategic objective of the
business. Though EPSis widely used by other companies, we believe
thatthe method by which the Company returns cash to shareholders
should not affect executive compensation and therefore for

Auto Trader the Committee believes that Operating profitisamore
appropriate performance measure.

Toalign with the approach being used to assessrevenue performance,
Operating profit willbe assessed based on percentage growth over
the three-year periodrather than Cumulative Operating profitas
previously used (for example, see the table on page 76).

The Committee set Operating profitand Total Group revenue growth
targetstakingintoaccountinternaland external expectations of
performance and organic growth of the business. The Committee
believes that these targets are appropriately stretching.

Inline with the Policy, Executive Directors will be required to hold any
vested shares forafurther period of two yearsunder the terms of the
PSP holding period.
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Single figure of remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2018 (Audited)
The table below shows the aggregate emoluments earned by the Directors of the Company in the year ended 31 March 2018.

Salaryand Annval Long-term

£'000 fees Benefits bonus incentives® Pension Total
Executive

Trevor Mather 546 1 412 1,644 27 2,630
Nathan Coe' 350 1 229 705 18 1,302
Sean Glithero? 143 = = = 7 150
Non-Executive

Ed Williams 176 = = = = 176
David Keens 73 = = = = 73
JillEasterbrook 64 = = = = 64
JeniMundy 55 = = = = 55

The following table shows the aggregate emoluments earnedin the year ended 31 March 2017.

Salaryand Annval Long-term

£'000 fees Benefits bonus incentives* Pension Total
Executive

Trevor Mather 536 1 416 - 27 980
SeanGlithero 296 1 199 = 15 51
Non-Executive

Ed Williams 173 - - - - 173
David Keens 72 = = = = 72
JillEasterbrook 63 = = = = 63
Jeni Mundy 54 = = - = 54

1 NathanCoewasappointedtothe Boardon1April 2017.

SeanGlithero stepped down from the Board on 21 September 2017.

100% of PSP awards granted in 2015 will vestin June 2018. For the purpose of the single figure the vested shares have beenvalued based on the three-month average share price
to 31 March 2018 of 359.58p. Dividend equivalents to the value of £37,386 for Trevor Matherand £16,019 for Nathan Coe have also beenincluded.

4 Therewerenolong-termincentives eligible tovestinrespect of performance to 31 March 2017.

[N

Additional information to support the single figure
Benefits
Benefitsinclude: private healthcare, life assurance and income protectioninsurance.

Pension
Employer’s pension contributions of 5% of salary were paid inrespect of Executive Directors.

Annual bonus for the year ended 31 March 2018
The performance measures, targets and actual outcomes for the annual bonus for the year ended 31 March 2018 are shownin the following table:

Actual Payout (as a % of

Performance measures Weighting Threshold Target Stretch performance maximum)

Financial Operating profit 75% £211m £219m £226m £220.6m 46.3% of the 75%

Strategic Growthin full page advertviews 12.5% >0% >2% >4% <0% 0% of the12.5%

targets New product initiatives (the 12.5% >2,800 >3100 >3.400 3,000 4%of the 12.5%
adoption of Managing products)

Total 100% 50.3% of the 100%

Payout for performance between threshold and stretchis calculated on a pro-rata basis. The payout at threshold is 20% of maximum for Financial
measures and 32% for the Strategic measures. The payout at targetis 50% of maximum for Financial measures and 64% for Strategic measures.

This level of performance resultedinabonus payout of £411,830 for Trevor Mather (CEO) and of £228,706 for Nathan Coe (CFO & COO).
Half of the bonus earned will be payable in shares, deferred for two years under the DABPin line with the Policy.

Inlight of the Company’s performance during the year under review, the Committee was comfortable with the overall level of annual bonus payout.
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Performance Share Plan vesting for year ended 31 March 2018
Our first PSP award following IPO was awarded in 2015 and will vest in June 2018 based on performance to 31 March 2018. The performance
conditions this award was based on, the targets and performance delivered are set outin the table below:

Payout

Threshold Stretch Actual (asapercentage
Measure Weighting  (25% vesting) (100% vesting) performance of maximum)
Cumulative Underlying operating 75% £510m Equaltoorabove £603m 75% of the 75%
profit £550m
TSR comparedtothe FTSE 250 Index 25% EqualtoIndex TSR EqualtoIndex TSR Index TSR 25% of the 25%
(excludinginvestment trusts)' plus 25% orabove plus 27%

Total vesting 100% of the 100%

1 Endaverage TSRperformanceiscalculated based onathree-month average to 31 March 2018; start average TSR performance is the IPO price.

Forperformance between the threshold and stretch targets, vestingis calculated on a pro-rata basis.

Executive Directors will be required to retain vested shares delivered under this PSP for at least two years from the point of vesting,
subject to the terms of the PSP holding period.

Scheme interests awarded during the year (Audited)
Awards granted in the year under the DABP and PSP are shownin the table below.

Face/maximum % award vesting

Number of Multiple of value of awards atthreshold Performance
Executive Director shares awarded salary atgrantdate* (% maximum) period?
DABP awards'
Trevor Mather 52,062 £208,092
Nathan Coe 25,783 £103,055
SeanGlithero® 24,923 £99,617
PSP awards?
Trevor Mather 273,309 200% £1,092416 25% 1 "
Nathan Coe 131,348 150% £524998 o fgr'cfgg;g
Sean Glithero?® 113,228 150% £452,572

Awards are granted as nil-cost options.

1 DABPawards were grantedinrespect of theannualbonus for the year to 31 March 2017. The awards will normally be eligible to vest two years from grant (16 June 2019) based on
continuous employment.

2 PSPawardswillnormally be eligible to vest three years from grant (16 June 2020) based on performance over the three years to 31 March 2020 and continuous employment.

3 SeanGlithero'saward lapsed when he left the Company on 21 September 2017.

4 Face/maximumvalue was calculated based onthe closing share price on the day before grant date (16 June 2017) of £3.997.

The performance conditions applying to the 2017 PSP awards shownin the table above are set out below. Each element will be
assessedindependently.

Threshold Stretch
Measure Weighting Basis (25% vesting) (100% vesting)
Cumulative Operating profit 75% The sum of the Group’s Operating profit ~ £690m Equaltoorabove
result over the three consecutive £750m
financial years ending on 31 March 2020
TSR 25% Performance relative to the FTSE 250 EqualtoIndex TSR EqualtoIndex TSR plus
Index (excluding investment trusts)' 25%or above

1 Startandendaverage TSRwillbe calculated based onthe three-month average TSR to 31 March.

For performance between the threshold and stretch targets, vesting will be calculated on a pro-rata basis. There is no vesting below
threshold performance.

Executive Directors will ordinarily be required to retain their net of tax number of vested shares delivered under the PSP for at least two years
fromthe point of vesting.
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Directors’ shareholding and share interests (Audited)

The Group has adopted shareholding guidelinesin order to encourage Executive Directors to maintain a shareholdingin the Company
equivalentinvalue to 200% of salary. If an Executive Director does not meet the guideline, they willbe expected toretain at least half of the net
sharesvesting under the Company’s discretionary share-based employee incentive schemes until the guideline is met. Both Executive
Directors currently hold wellin excess of this limit. Non-Executive Directors do not have shareholding guidelines.

The table below sets out the number of shares held or potentially held by Directors (including their connected persons where relevant) as at
31 March 2018.

Number of awards

Number of awards held under the Target Percentage of

held under the DABP conditional shareholding salary heldin

Beneficially PSP conditional on oncontinved guideline sharesasat

Director owned shares' performance employment (asa% of salary) 31March 20182

Executive Directors

Trevor Mather 12,000,000 995,438 153,283 200% 7,703%

Nathan Coe 2,883,252 440,831 7591 200% 2,888%

SeanGlithero® 2,997,581 381,741 73,380 150% N/A
Non-Executive Directors

Ed Williams 6,875,444 - - N/A N/A

JillEasterbrook - - - N/A N/A

David Keens 25,000 = = N/A N/A

JeniMundy = = = N/A N/A

1 Includesshares owned by connected persons. Only beneficially owned shares count towards the shareholding guideline.

2 BasedontheDirector’'ssalaryand the mid-market price at close of business on 31 March 2018 of 350.6p.

3 SeanGlitherosteppeddown fromthe Board on 21September 2017 and his shareholdingis shown at this date. Awards held by Sean under the PSP and DABP lapsed on the date
heleftthe business.

Trevor Mather
No. of shares/ Shares/options Shares/options Options No. of shares/ Date
options at granted lapsed exercised options at fromwhich
Scheme 31March 2017 intheyear intheyear intheyear 31March2018 Date of grant exercisable Expiry date
PSP! 446,808 = = = 446,808 19/6/2015 19/6/2018 19/6/2025
pSp? 275,321 = = = 275,321 17/6/2016 17/6/2019 17/6/2026
psp3 - 273,309 - - 273,309 16/6/2017 16/6/2020 16/6/2027
DABP 101,221 = = = 101,221 17/6/2016 17/6/2018 17/6/2026
DABP = 52,062 = = 52,062 16/6/2017 16/6/2019 16/6/2027
Total 823,350 325,371 - - 1,148,721
Nathan Coe
No. of shares/ Shares/options Shares/options Options No. of shares/ Date
options at granted lapsed exercised options at fromwhich
Scheme 31March 2017 intheyear intheyear intheyear 31March2018 Date of grant exercisable Expiry date
PSP! 191,489 = = = 191,489 19/6/2015 19/6/2018 19/6/2025
PSp2 17994 = = = 17994 17/6/2016 17/6/2019 17/6/2026
PSp3 = 131,348 = = 131,348 16/6/2017 16/6/2020 16/6/2027
DABP 50,28 = = = 50,28 17/6/2016 17/6/2018 17/6/2026
DABP = 25,783 = = 25,783 16/6/2017 16/6/2019 16/6/2027
Total 359,611 157,131 = = 516,742

1 Asnotedabove,100%of the PSP award granted in 2015 will vestin June 2018 based on Cumulative Underlying operating profit and relative TSR performance compared to the
FTSE 250 (excludinginvestment trusts) to 31 March 2018.

2 2016 PSPawardsare subject75%to Cumulative Underlying Operating profitand 25% to relative TSR performance compared to the FTSE 250 (excludinginvestment trusts) over the
three-year period to 31 March 2019. For the Cumulative Underlying operating profit portion, 25% will vest if Cumulative Underlying operating profitis £660m or greater. 100% will vest
if Cumulative Underlying operating profitis £710m or above. For performance between these points, vesting will be calculated on a pro-rata basis. For the Relative TSR portion, 25%
will vestif Auto Trader’s TSR performanceis equal to the FTSE 250 Index (excludinginvestment trusts). 100% will vest if Auto Trader’s TSR performance exceeds the FTSE 250 Index
(excludinginvestment trusts) by 25% or more. For performance between these points, vesting will be calculated on a pro-rata basis.

3 Performance measures for 2017 PSP awards are setout on page 76.

Remuneration on departure of Sean Glithero (Audited)
SeanGlithero left the Board on 21 September 2017. He received salary, benefits and pension to this date. No further payments were made
inlieu of notice. On his departure all his long-term incentives and deferred bonus shares lapsed.

Payments to former Directors (Audited)
There were no payments made to former Directors during the year.
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Performance graph and CEO remuneration table

The graph belowillustrates the Company’s TSR performance relative to the FTSE 250 Index (excluding investment trusts) of which the
Companyisaconstituent, from the start of conditional share dealing on18 March 2015. The graph shows the performance of a hypothetical
£100invested andits performance over that period.
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Source: Datastream (Thomson Reuters).

CEOremuneration
The table below sets out the CEQ's single figure of total remuneration together with the percentage of maximum annualbonus awarded over
the same period.

2018 2017 2016 2015'
CEO totalremuneration (£'000) 2,630 980 1,339 20
Annualbonus (% of maximum) 50.3% 51.8% 100% N/A2?
PSP vesting (% of maximum) 100% N/AS N/A3 N/A3

1 Fromthe date of Admissionin March 2015.
2 Private company whenbonus planimplementedin 2015.
3 Noawardswereeligible tovestinrespectof long-term performance endingin 2015, 2016 or 2017.

Percentage increase in the remuneration of the CEO
The table below shows the average increase in each component between the CEO and the average employee in the Company from 2017
t02018. The average value of benefits for employees has decreased due to areductionin the cost of private medicalinsurance.

Change inremuneration levels

Average
Component employee
Salary +2% +4%
Benefits 0% -15%
Bonus -1% -6%

Relative importance of the spend on pay

The following table shows the Group’s actual spend on pay for allemployees compared to distributions to shareholders. The average number
of employees hasalso beenincluded for context. Revenue and Operating profit have also been disclosed as these are two key measures of
Group performance.

2018 2017
£m £m % change
Employee costs (see note 5to the consolidated financial statements) 54.5 53.6 2%
Average number of employees (see note 6 to the consolidated financial statements) 822 820 0%
Revenue (see consolidated income statement) 330.1 311.4 7%
Operating profit 220.6 2031 10%'
Dividends paid and proposed (see note 23 to the consolidated financial statements) 56.1 50.7 1%

1 Daysadjusted.
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Fees for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The fees were reviewed in early 2018 and were increased by 2% with effect from1April 2018. The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors’ fees
willnext bereviewedin early 2019, with any increase becoming effective from1April 2019.

The following table sets out the new fees effective from1April 2018 (financial year 2019) compared to those which appliedin financial year 2018:

Percentage
2019 2018 change
Base fees
Chairman £180,405 £176,868 +2%
Non-Executive Director £55,713 £54,621 +2%
Additional fees
Senior Independent Director £9,551 £9,364 +2%
Audit Committee Chairman £9,551 £9364 +2%
Remuneration Committee Chairman £9,551 £9,364 +2%

Thereis noadditional fee payable to the Chairman of the Nomination Committee. The Company Chairmanis currently Chair of the Nomination
Committee.

AllNon-Executive Directors have letters of appointment with the Company for aninitial period of three years, subject to annual
re-appointment at the AGM. Appointmentis terminable on sixmonths’ written notice. The appointment letters for the Non-Executive
Directors provide that no compensationis payable upon termination of employment. The letters of appointment are available forinspection
atthe Company’sregistered office. Details of the appointment terms of the Non-Executive Directors are as follows:

Start of current term Expiry of current term

Ed Williams 6 March 2018 5 March 2021
David Keens 1May 2018 30 April 2021
JillEasterbrook 1July 2015 30 June 2018’
JeniMundy 1March 2016 28 February 2019

1 TheBoardhasapproved therenewal of this term with effect from1July 2018 to expire on 30 June 2021.

Funding of equity awards

Share awards may be funded by acombination of newlyissued shares, treasury shares and shares purchased in the market. Where shares
are newlyissued or from treasury, the Company complies with Investment Association dilution guidelines on theirissue. The current dilution
usage of all share plansis c.0.53% of sharesinissue.

Where shares are purchasedin the market, these will be held by a trust,in which case the voting rights relating to the shares are exercisable
by the Trusteesinaccordance with their fiduciary duties. At 31 March 2018 the Trust held 932,761 shares inrespect of the Share Incentive Plan.

External directorships

Auto Traderrecognises thatits Executive Directors may be invited to become non-executive directors of other companies. Such
non-executive duties canbroaden aDirector’s experience and knowledge which can benefit Auto Trader. The Company Chairmanwould
approve any such directorshipsinadvance to ensure that there was no conflict of interest. Trevor Matheris adirectoron the board of
Burns Sheehan Limited, arecruitment business, for which he does notreceive any remuneration. The Board approved the appointment
and confirmed thatit was satisfied that there was no conflict of interest arising.

Membership of the Committee

JillEasterbrookis the Committee Chairman, andits other members are David Keens and Jeni Mundy. Refer to page 66 to 67 for further details
of the membership of the Committee, the Terms of Reference, the meetings held and activities during the year.
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External advisors
During the year the Committee undertookareview of advisors and from October 2017 appointed Deloitte following a competitive tender process.

Deloitte are founding members of the Remuneration Consultants Code of Conduct and adhere to this Code inits dealings with the Committee.
The Committeeis satisfied that the advice provided by Deloitte is objective andindependent. The Committee is comfortable that the Deloitte
engagement partner and team that provide remuneration advice to the Committee do not have connections with the Company that may
impair theirindependence. The Committee reviewed the potential for conflicts of interest and judged that there were appropriate safeguards
againstsuch conflicts.

Feesare charged onatime and materials basis. During the year Deloitte was paid £62,450 for advice provided to the Committee.
Deloitte provided additional services to the Company inrelation tointernalauditand tax services.

Prior to this date, the Committee received advice from New Bridge Street (‘NBS’), part of Aon plc. NBS are also afounding member of the
Remuneration Consultants Code of Conduct and the Committee is satisfied that the advice received by NBSinrelation toremuneration matters
during the year was objective and independent. NBS did not provide any other services to the Company during the year. Aon currently provides
actuarial, valuation and administration servicesinrelation to the defined benefit pension scheme of the Company. The fees payable to NBS for
providing advice inrelation to executive remuneration over the financial year under review were £12,429, charged on a time-spent basis.

Statement of shareholder voting
Shareholdervotinginrelationtorecent AGM resolutionsis as follows:

Votes % of votes cast Votes % of votes cast
for for against against Abstentions
2015 AGM: Remuneration policy (binding) 797,281,130 98.20 14,637,737 1.80 7139,212
2017 AGM: Annual Report on Remuneration (advisory) 809,249426 9912 7198,204 0.88 51,313

Approval
This Directors’ remunerationreporthas beenapproved by the Board of Directors.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors.

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
7 June 2018
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Directors’ report

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their

Report and the audited financial statements of

Auto Trader Group plc (the ‘Company’) and its
subsidiaries (together the ‘Group’) for the financial
year to 31 March 2018.

Statutory information

Information required to be part of the Directors’ report can be found

elsewhereinthisdocument, asindicatedinthe table below, andis
incorporatedinto this Report by reference:

Employee
involvement

Strategicreport; Corporate social
responsibility (page 44)

Employees with Strategicreport; Corporate social

disabilities responsibility (page 45)
Financial Note 2 to the consolidated
instruments financial statements

Future developments
of the business

Strategicreport (pages1to49)

Greenhouse gas
emissions

Strategicreport; Corporate social
responsibility (page 47)

Non-financial
reporting

Strategicreport: Corporate social
responsibility (page 39)

Information required by LR9.8
Informationrequiredto beincludedin the Annual Financial Report by
LR9.8 canbe foundin thisdocumentasindicatedin the table below:

Note 21to the consolidated
financial statements

Allotment of shares
during the year

Directors’ interests Remunerationreport (page 77)

Significant shareholders Directors' report (page 82)

Going concern Principalrisks and uncertainties

(page 38)
Long-termincentive Directors’ remunerationreport
schemes (pages74to78)

Powers for the Company
tobuybackits shares

Directors' report (page 82)

Significant contracts Directors' report (page 82)

Significantrelated Directors' report (page 82)

party agreements

Statement of corporate Corporate governance statement
governance (pages 50to 80)

Management report

This Directors’ report, on pages 81to 83, together with the Strategic
reportonpages1to49,formthe ManagementReportforthe
purposes of DTR4.1.5R.

Strategic report

The Strategicreport, which canbe found on pagesito49,setsout the
Group's strategy, objectives and business model; the development,
performance and position of the Group’s business (including
financialand operating key performance indicators); adescription of
the principalrisks and uncertainties; and the main trends and factors
likely to affect the future development, performance and position of
the Group's business.

UK Corporate Governance Code

The Company’s statement on corporate governance can be foundin
the Corporate governance statement, the Report of the Nomination
Committee, the Report of the Audit Committee and the Directors’
remunerationreporton pages 54 to 80, all of which form part of this
Directors’ reportandareincorporatedintoitbyreference.
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2018 Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting ((AGM’) willbe held at10.00amon

20 September 2018 at the Company's registered of fice at 4th Floor,
1Tony Wilson Place, Manchester, M154FN. The Notice of Meeting sets
outtheresolutions to be proposed and specifies the deadlines for
exercising voting rights and appointing a proxy or proxies to votein
relationtoresolutions to be passed at the AGM. All proxy votes will
be counted and the numbers for, against or withheld in relation to
eachresolutionwillbe announced at the AGM and published onthe
Company’'s website.

Board of Directors

The followingindividuals were Directors of the Company for the
whole of the financial year ending 31t March 2018, and to the date
of approving thisreportunless otherwise stated:

- Ed Williams

- Trevor Mather
- NathanCoe

- DavidKeens

- JillEasterbrook
- Jeni Mundy

Sean Glitheroresigned asaDirector on 21 September 2017.
All Directors will stand for election orre-election at the 2018
AGMinline with the recommendations of the Code.

Appointment and replacement of Directors

Ateach AGM each Director thenin office shallretire from office
with effect from the conclusion of the meeting. When a Director
retiresatan AGM inaccordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company, the Company may, by ordinary resolution at the
meeting, fill the office being vacated by re-electing the retiring
Director. Inthe absence of such aresolution, the retiring Director
shallnevertheless be deemed to have beenre-elected, except
inthe casesidentified by the Articles.

Results and dividends
The Group’sand Company's audited financial statements for the year
aresetoutonpages 88to130.

The Company declared aninterim dividend on 9 November 2017
of 1.9 pence per share which was paid on 26 January 2018.

The Directors recommend payment of a final dividend of 4.0 pence
pershare (2017: 3.5 pence per share) to be paid on 28 September 2018
toshareholders ontheregister of membersat 31 August 2018, subject
toapprovalatthe 2018 AGM.

Amendment of the Articles

The Company’s Articles of Association may only be amended
by aspecialresolution at a general meeting of shareholders.
Noamendments are proposed to be made to the existing Articles
of Association at the forthcoming AGM.

Authority to allot shares

Under the 2006 Act, the Directors may only allot shares if authorised
todosobyshareholdersinageneral meeting. The authority
conferred on the Directors at the 2017 AGM under section 551 of the
2006 Act expires on the date of the forthcoming AGM, and ordinary
resolution13 seeksanew authority to allow the Directors to allot
ordinary shares up to a maximumnominalamount of £6,320,335
(632,033,500 shares, representing approximately two thirds of

the Company’s existing share capitalat 7 June 2018), of which
315,969,350 shares (representing approximately one third of the
Company’sissued ordinary share capital) can only be allotted
pursuanttoarightsissue. The Directors have no presentintention
of exercising this authority which will expire at the conclusion of
the AGMin 2019 or19 December 2019 if earlier.
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Authority to purchase own shares

The Company's share buyback programme continued during the year.
By resolutions passed at the 2017 AGM the Company was authorised
to make market purchases of up to 97,476,919 of its ordinary shares,
subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions. A total of
26,809,702 ordinary shares of £0.01each were purchasedin the year
to 31 March 2018, being 2.75% of the sharesinissue at the time the
authority was granted. The average price paid per share was 358.5p
with a total consideration paid (inclusive of all costs) of £96.7 million,
and allshares were purchased to be immediately cancelled. The
Directors will seek authority from shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM for the Company to purchase, in the market, up to a maximum
of10% of its own ordinary shares (excluding shares held in treasury)
eitherto be cancelled orretained as treasury shares.

Share capital and control

The Company’sissued share capital comprises ordinary shares
of £0.01each which are listed on the London Stock Exchange
(LSE: AUTO.L). The ISIN of the shares is GBOOBVYVFW23.

Theissued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2018 and

7 June 2018 comprises 952,161,444 of £0.01each. 4,194,989 shares were
heldintreasury at 3t March 2018. Furtherinformation regarding the
Company'sissued share capitaland details of the movementsin
issued share capital during the year are providedin note 21to the
Group's financial statements. All the information detailed in note 21
forms part of this Directors’ reportandisincorporatedintoit
byreference.

Details of employee share schemes are providedinnote 25to the
Group financial statements.

Rights attaching to shares

Allshares have the samerights (including voting and dividend rights
andrightsonareturn of capital) andrestrictionsas setoutinthe
Articles, described below. Exceptinrelation to dividends which have
beendeclaredandrights onaliquidation of the Company, the
shareholders have norights to share in the profits of the Company.
The Company’s shares are not redeemable. However, following any
grant of authority from shareholders, the Company may purchase
orcontract to purchase any of the shares on or of f market, subject to
the Companies Act 2006 and the requirements of the Listing Rules.

No shareholder holds sharesin the Company which carry special
rights with regard to control of the Company. There are no shares
relating to an employee share scheme which have rights withregard
to controlof the Company that are not exercisable directly and solely
by the employees, other thaninthe case of the Auto Trader Group
Share Incentive Plan, where share interests of a participantin such
scheme can be exercised by the personalrepresentatives of a
deceased participantinaccordance with the Scheme rules.

Votingrights

Eachordinary share entitles the holder to vote at general meetings
of the Company. Aresolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be
decided onashow of hands unless a pollis demanded. On ashow

of hands, every memberwhois presentin person or by proxy ata
generalmeeting of the Company shall have one vote. Onapoll,every
memberwhois presentinperson or by proxy shall have one vote for
every share of which they are aholder. The Articles provide adeadline
for submission of proxy forms of not less than 48 hours before the
time appointed for the holding of the meeting or adjourned meeting.
No member shallbe entitled to vote at any general meeting eitherin
person or by proxy, inrespect of any share held by him, unless all
amounts presently payable by himinrespect of that share have been
paid. Save asnoted, there are norestrictions on voting rights nor any
agreement that may resultin suchrestrictions.
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Restrictions on transfer of securities

The Articles do not contain any restrictions on the transfer of ordinary
sharesinthe Company other than the usualrestrictions applicable
where any amountisunpaid onashare. Certainrestrictions are also
imposed by laws and regulations (such asinsider trading and
marketing requirements relating to close periods) and requirements
of the Company’s share dealing code whereby Directors and certain
employees of the Company require approvaltodealinthe
Company’s securities.

Change of control

Saveinrespectof aprovision of the Company’s share schemes which
may cause options and awards granted to employees under such
schemestovestontakeover, there are no agreements betweenthe
Company andits Directors or employees providing for compensation
forloss of office oremployment (whether through resignation,
purported redundancy or otherwise) because of a takeover bid.

Significant contracts

The only significant agreements to which the Companyis a party
that take effect, alter or terminate upona change of control of the
Company following a takeover bid, and the effect thereof, are the
Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility agreements, which contain
customary prepayment, cancellation and default provisions
including, if required by alender, mandatory prepayment of
allutilisations provided by that lender upon the sale of all or
substantially all of the business and assets of the Group ora
change of control.

Interests in voting rights

At the yearend the Company had been notified,inaccordance
with Chapter 5 of the Financial Conduct Authority’s Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules, of the following significant
interestsintheissued ordinary share capital of the Company:

BlackRockInc. 100,307,795 10.55% 80,654,003 8.50%
Baillie Gifford & Co. n/a n/a 47482549 5.01%
Kayne Anderson 26,770,275 2.82% 49,059,618 518%
Rudnick Investment

ManagementLLC

ClInvestmentsinc. 37,805,677 3.93% 27,343,814 2.88%

Transactions with related parties

Asdescribedinnote 28, during the year, the Group transacted with
Burns Sheehan Limited, a third party which a Director holds a
shareholding. Thiscompanyis deemed to be arelated party. Costs
incurred were inrespect of recruitment consultancy services which
amounted to £35k (2017: £nil). There were no amounts outstanding at
theyearend. All transactions were completed atanarm’s length basis.

Compensation paid to Directors and Key Managementis as disclosed
innote 6 to the Group financial statements.

Research and development

Innovation, specificallyin software, is a critical element of

Auto Trader's strategy and therefore of the future success of

the Group. Accordingly, the majority of the Group's research and
development expenditureis predominantly related to this area.
Since 30 September 2013, the Group has changedits approach to
technology development suchthat the Group now developsits
coreinfrastructure through small-scale, maintenance-like
incrementalimprovements, and as aresult the amount of capitalised
development costs has decreased as less expenditure meets
therequirements of IAS 38 Intangible assets.



Indemnities and insurance

The Company maintains appropriate insurance to cover Directors’
and officers' liability foritself andits subsidiaries and such insurance
wasinforce for the whole of the financial year ending 31 March 2018.
The Company alsoindemnifies the Directors under a qualifying
indemnity for the purposes of section 236 of the Companies Act
2006:inthe case of the Non-Executive Directorsin their respective
letters of appointmentandinthe case of the Executive Directorsina
separate deed of indemnity. Suchindemnities contain provisions that
are permitted by the Director Liability provisions of the Companies
Actandthe Company’s Articles.

Environmental

Information onthe Group’s greenhouse gas emissionsis setoutinthe
Corporate social responsibility section on page 47 and forms part of
this Report by reference.

Political donations
There were no political donations made during the year or the
previousyear.

Post balance sheet events

On 6 June 2018 the Group signed into a new Revolving Credit Facility
(the ‘New RCF’) toreplace the existing Senior Syndicated Term Loan
andrevolving credit facility. The New RCF, whichisunsecured, has
totalcommitments of £400m and a termination date of June 2023.

Externalbranches
The Group had no active registered external branches during
thereporting period.

Financialinstruments

Details of the financial risk management objectives and policies

of the Group, including hedging policies and exposure of the entity
to pricerisk, creditrisk, liquidity riskand cash flow risk, are givenin
note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the Directors has confirmed that:

- sofarasthe Directorisaware, thereisnorelevantauditinformation
of whichthe Company’s auditors are unaware; and

- the Director has takenall the steps thathe/she ought to have
takenas aDirector to make him/herself aware of any relevant
auditinformationand to establish that the Company’s auditor
isaware of thatinformation.

This confirmationis givenand should be interpretedinaccordance
with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities inrespect

of the Annual Report and Financial Statements

The Directors areresponsible for preparing the AnnualReportand
the Group and parent company financial statementsinaccordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent
Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law they arerequired to prepare the Group financial statementsin
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union ('IFRSs as adopted by the EU’) and
applicable law,and have elected to prepare the parent company
financial statementsinaccordance with UK Accounting Standards,
including FRS102 ‘'The Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in
the UKand Republic of Ireland".
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Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statementsunless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and parent company and of their
profitorloss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and
parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

- selectsuitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

- make judgements and accounting estimates thatare reasonable,
relevant, reliable and prudent;

- forthe Group financial statements, state whether they have
beenpreparedinaccordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

- forthe parentcompany financial statements, state whether
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject
toany materialdepartures disclosed and explainedin the parent
Company financial statements;

- assessthe Group and parent company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, asapplicable, mattersrelated to going
concern;and

- use the going concern basis of accounting unless they eitherintend
toliquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations,
orhave norealisticalternative butto do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company’s
transactions and disclose withreasonable accuracy atany time the
financial position of the parent company and enable them to ensure
thatits financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
Theyareresponsible forsuchinternalcontrolas they determineis
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements thatare
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,and
have generalresponsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
opentothemtosafeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and otherirregularities.

Underapplicable law andregulations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Reportand Corporate Governance
Statement that complies with that law and those regulations.

The Directors areresponsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financialinformation included on the Company’s
website. Legislationinthe UK governing the preparationand
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
inotherjurisdictions.

Responsibility statement of the Directors in respect
of the annual financial report
We confirm, to the best of our knowledge:

- the financial statements, preparedinaccordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the
Company and the undertakingsincludedin the consolidation
takenasawhole; and

- the Strategicreportincludes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the issuerand
the undertakingsincludedin the consolidation takenasawhole,
togetherwith adescription of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face.

We consider that the Annual Report and Accounts, takenasawhole,
is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's positionand
performance, business modeland strategy.

Approval of Annual Report
The Strategicreportand the Corporate governance report were
approved by the Board on7 June 2018.

Approved by the Board and signed onits behalf.
Company Secretary

7June 2018
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Auto Trader Group plc only

We have audited the financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc
forthe year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the Group
Statement of Financial Position and Parent Company Balance Sheet,
the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group
Statement of Cash Flows, the Group and Parent Company’s
Statements of Changesin Equity,and related notesincluding the
accounting policiesinnote.

In our opinion:

- the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the
Group'sand of the Parent Company's affairs as at 31 March 2018 and
of the Group's profit for the year thenended;

- the Group financial statements have been properly preparedin
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union;

- the Parent Company financial statements have been properly

Basis for opinion

We conducted ourauditinaccordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities
are described below. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtainedisasufficientand appropriate basis for our opinion. Our
auditopinionis consistent with ourreport to the Audit Committee.

We were appointed as auditor by the shareholders on 22 September
2016. The period of totaluninterrupted engagementis for the two
financial years ended 31 March 2018. We have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities under,and we remainindependent of the Groupin
accordance with, UK ethical requirementsincluding the FRC Ethical
Standard as applied tolisted publicinterest entities. No non-audit
services prohibited by that standard were provided.

Overview

Materiality:

preparedinaccordance with UK Accounting Standards, including
FRS102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and

Republic of Ireland; and

- the financial statements have been preparedinaccordance with
therequirements of the Companies Act 2006; and, asregards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Group financial £8.0m(2017:£8.0m)
statementsasawhole 3.8%(2017: 4.1%) of Group profit before tax

Coverage 100% (2017:100%) of Group profit before tax

Risks of material misstatement vs 2017

Recurring risks Revenue recognition

Recoverability of Parent Company’s
investmentinsubsidiary

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements and
include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those which had
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.
We summarise below the key audit matters (unchanged from 2017),in decreasing order of audit significance, in arriving at our audit opinion
above, together with our key audit procedures to address those mattersand, asrequired for publicinterest entities, our results from those
procedures. These matters were addressed, and our results are based on procedures undertaken, in the context of, and solely for the purpose
of, ouraudit of the financial statements as awhole, andin forming our opinion thereon, and consequently are incidental to that opinion,and we
donot provide aseparate opinionon these.

Therisk

Ourresponse

Revenue recognition

(£330.1million;
2017: £311.4 million)

Refertopage 62

(Audit Committee Report),
page 93 (accounting
policy)and page 102
(financial disclosures).

Data processing

Revenue primarily consists

of fees foradvertising on

the Group’s website and
web-related activities, along
with retailer website build and
hosting subscription fees,
maintenance contractsand
othersubscription fees. Given
thevariety of packages available,
the ability of retailers to bespoke
the combination of products
theyreceive,andtoamend this
throughtime, as wellasthe large
volume of transactions, there
isariskthatrevenue may be
misstated due to errors made
incapturingand processing
thislarge variety of data.

Our proceduresincluded:
- Data comparisons: Using computer assisted audit techniques to match sales
information from the billing system to the accounting records;

- Tests of details: Using computer assisted audit techniques to match entire
population of billings to cash received during the year and trade debtors outstanding
attheyearend. Selectingasample of trade debtors and assessing their recoverability
withreference to postyearend cashreceipts;

- Expectation vs outcome: For customers with bespoke contracts, obtaining these
contracts and forming an expectation of the revenue to be recognised in the period,
comparing thistotheactual;

- Tests of details: Selecting a sample of transactions recorded withinamonth before
and after the period end and assessing whether revenue has beenrecognisedinthe
correct period withreference to supportinginvoices and cashreceipts;

- Tests of details: Assessing the appropriateness of accruedincome at the yearend
withreference to postyearend billings and cashreceipts. Assessing the
appropriateness of deferredincome at the yearend with reference to the prioryear
and our knowledge of the billing pattern of each revenue stream;

- Tests of details: Performing areview of credit notesraisedin the yearand postyear
endtoassess the adequacy of the credit note provision and that revenueis not
overstated; and

- Analytic sampling: Obtaining alljournals posted torevenue and, using computer
assisted audit techniques, analysing these toidentify those with unusual attributes or
those with corresponding postings to unexpected accounts. Agreeing any journals
identified back torelevant supporting documentation.

Ourresults:
- We found the amount of revenue recognised to be acceptable (2017: acceptable).
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Therisk

Ourresponse

Recoverability of parent
company’s investment
in subsidiary

(£1,212.9 million;
2017: £1,210.5 million)

Refertopage 62

(Audit Committee Report),
page 92 (accounting
policy) and page 128
(financial disclosures).

Low risk, high value:

The carryingamountof the
parentcompany’sinvestment
insubsidiary represents 73%
(2017: 74%) of the Company's
totalassets. Itsrecoverability
isnotatahighrisk of significant
misstatement or subject to
significantjudgement. However,
duetoits materialityinthe
contextof the parent company
financial statements, thisis
consideredtobetheareathat
hadthe greatest effectonour
overall parent company audit.

Our proceduresincluded:

- Comparing valuations: comparing the carryingamount of the investment to the
market capitalisation of the Group, as all of the Group's trading operations are
contained within the subsidiary andits subgroup.

Ourresults:
- We foundthe parentcompany’s assessment of the recoverability of the investment
insubsidiary to be acceptable (2017 result: acceptable).

Materiality for the Group financial statements as awhole was set at £8.0m (2017: £8.0m), determined withreference to abenchmark
of Group profitbefore tax of £210.8m (2017: £193.4m), of whichitrepresents 3.8% (2017: 4.1%).

The materiality of the parent company financial statements as a whole was setat £5.0m (2017: £5.0m), determined with reference
toabenchmark of parent company netassets, of whichitrepresents 0.4%(2017: 0.4%).

We reported to the Audit Committee any corrected oruncorrected identified misstatements exceeding £0.4m (2017: £0.4m),
inaddition to otheridentified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Of the Group's four (2017: four) reporting components, we subjected four (2017: four) to full scope audits for Group purposes, all of which
were performed by the Group audit team.

The components within the scope of our work accounted for the percentagesillustrated below.

Profit before tax
£210.8m (2017: £193.4m)

Profit before tax
Group materiality

Materiality
£8.0m

£8.0m
Whole financial

statements materiality

£7.5m

Range of materiality at four
components (£0.2m-£7.5m)

£0.4m

Group revenue Group profit before tax
% %

Misstatements reported
to the Audit Committee

Group total assets
%

100%

@ Fullscope for Group audit purposes 2018
Full scope for Group audit purposes 2017
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Auto Trader Group plc only continued

We arerequiredtoreporttoyouif:

- we have anything material to add or draw attention to inrelation to
the Directors’ statementinnote1to the financial statements on the
use of the going concern basis of accounting with no material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt over the Group and
Company’s use of that basis for a period of at least12 months from
the date of approval of the financial statements; or

- if therelated statementunder the Listing Rules set out on page 50
is materially inconsistent with our audit knowledge.

We have nothing toreportinthese respects.

The Directors are responsible for the otherinformation presented
inthe Annual Report together with the financial statements.

Our opinion onthe financial statements does not cover the other
informationand, accordingly, we do not expressanaudit opinion
or,exceptas explicitly stated below, any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

Ourresponsibilityis toread the otherinformationand, in doing so,
consider whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the
information thereinis materially misstated orinconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that
work we have notidentified material misstatementsin the other
information.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report
Based solely on our work on the otherinformation:

- we have notidentified material misstatements in the Strategic
Reportand the Directors’ Report;

-inouropiniontheinformation giveninthose reports for the
financialyearis consistent with the financial statements; and

-inouropinionthose reports have been preparedinaccordance
withthe Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ Remuneration Report

Inour opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
tobe audited has beenproperly preparedinaccordance with
the Companies Act 2006.

Disclosures of principal risks and longer-term viability
Based on the knowledge we acquired during our financial statements

audit, we have nothing materialtoadd or draw attention toinrelation to:

- the Directors’ confirmation within the Viability statement page 38
thatthey have carried out arobust assessment of the principal risks
facing the Group, including those that would threatenits business
model, future performance, solvency and liquidity;

- the Principal Risks disclosures describing these risks and explaining
how they are being managed and mitigated; and

- the Directors’ explanationin the Viability statement of how
they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period
they have done so and why they considered that period to be
appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue
inoperationand meetits liabilities as they fall due over the period
of theirassessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attentiontoany necessary qualifications orassumptions.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the viability
statement. We have nothing toreportin thisrespect.
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Corporate governance disclosures
We arerequiredtoreporttoyouif:

- we have identified materialinconsistencies between the
knowledge we acquired during our financial statements auditand
the Directors’ statement that they consider that the Annual Report
and Financial Statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for
shareholders toassessthe Group’s positionand performance,
business modeland strategy; or

- the section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Audit
Committee does notappropriately address matters communicated
by ustothe Audit Committee.

We arerequiredtoreporttoyouif the Corporate Governance
Statementdoes not properly disclose adeparture from the

11 provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified
by the Listing Rules for our review.

We have nothing toreportintheserespects.

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required toreport to youif,
inour opinion:

- adequate accountingrecords have not beenkept by the parent
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches notvisited by us; or

- the parentcompany financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are notin agreement
with the accounting recordsandreturns; or

- certaindisclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law
arenotmade; or

- we have notreceivedall the information and explanations we
require for our audit.

We have nothingtoreportintheserespects.
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Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 83,

the Directorsareresponsible for: the preparation of the financial
statementsincluding being satisfied that they give atrue and fair
view; suchinternal controlas they determineis necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group
and parentcompany’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, mattersrelated to going concern; and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless they eitherintend to
liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations,
orhave norealisticalternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtainreasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements asawhole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or otherirregularities (see below), or error,and to
issue our opinioninanauditor'sreport. Reasonable assuranceis a high
level of assurance, but does not guarantee thatanaudit conductedin
accordance with ISAs (UK) willalways detect a material misstatement
whenit exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud, otherirregularities
orerrorand are considered material if, individually orin aggregate,
they couldreasonably be expected toinfluence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Afullerdescription of our responsibilitiesis provided onthe FRC's
website at frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

Irregularities — ability to detect

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably

be expected to have amaterial effect onthe financial statements
from our sector experience and through discussion with the Directors
(asrequired by auditing standards).

We hadregardtolaws andregulationsinareas thatdirectly affect the
financial statementsincluding financialreporting (including related
company legislation) and taxation legislation. We considered the
extent of compliance with those laws and regulations as part of our
procedures ontherelated financial statementitems.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our
teamandremainedalertto anyindications of non-compliance
throughout the audit.

As with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations (irregularities),
as these may involve collusion, forgery,intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

Thisreportis made solely to the Company’s members, as abody,
inaccordance with Chapter 3 of Part16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Ourauditworkhasbeenundertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state tothem
inanauditor'sreportand forno other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept orassume responsibility to
anyone otherthanthe Company and the Company’s members,

as abody, forouraudit work, for thisreport, or for the opinions we
have formed.

forand on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1St Peter's Square

Manchester

M2 3AE

7June 2018
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Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017
Note £m £m
Revenue 3 330.1 34
Administrative expenses (109.5) (108.3)
Operating profit 4 220.6 2031
Finance costs 7 (9.8) (9.7)
Profit before taxation 210.8 193.4
Taxation 8 (39.5) (38.7)
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 171.3 154.7
Basic earnings per share 9
From profit for the year (pence per share) 17.76 15.64
Diluted earnings per share 9
From profit for the year (pence per share) 17.70 15.60

Asoutlinedin the basis of preparation on page 93, the current period is for the 365 days ended 31 March 2018 and the comparative period

is for the 369 days ended 31 March 2017.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Forthe year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017

£m £m

Profit forthe year 171.3 154.7
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Currency translation differences 0.2 0.5

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 0.2 0.5

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 171.5 155.2

Currency translation differences arise on the consolidation of the Group's subsidiaries that have a functional currency other than sterling.

Asoutlinedin the basis of preparation on page 93, the current periodis for the 365 days ended 31 March 2018 and the comparative period
is for the 369 days ended 31 March 2017.
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Consolidated balance sheet

At 31 March 2018
2018 2017
Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 10 329.8 320.4
Property, plantand equipment 11 6.0 6.7
Deferred taxation assets 19 51 a7
340.9 331.8
Currentassets
Trade and otherreceivables 14 55.5 50.7
Cashandcashequivalents 15 4.3 8.0
59.8 58.7
Totalassets 400.7 390.5
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital 21 9.5 9.8
Retained earnings 1,041.7 1,015.9
Capitalreorganisationreserve (1,060.8) (1,060.8)
Ownshares held 22 (16.9) (16.9)
Capitalredemptionreserve 0.5 0.2
Otherreserves 30.6 304
Total equity 4.6 (21.4)
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 17 340.8 357.8
Deferred taxation liabilities 19 0.7 0.2
Retirement benefit obligations 20 - -
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 18 11 11
342.6 3591
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 33.3 33.3
Currentincome tax liabilities 19.9 19.2
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 18 0.3 0.3
53.5 52.8
Total liabilities 396.1 .9
Total equity and liabilities 400.7 390.5

The financial statements from pages 88 to 123 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised forissue.

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer
7June 2018

Auto Trader Group plc
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Forthe yearended 31 March 2018

Capital Capital
Share Retained Ownshares reorganisation redemption Other Total
capital earnings held reserve reserve reserves equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at March 2016 10.0 970.9 (1.5) (1,060.8) - 29.9 (51.5)
Profit forthe year - 154.7 - - - - 154.7
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences - - - - - 0.5 0.5
Totalcomprehensive income, net of tax - 154.7 - - - 0.5 155.2
Transactions with owners
IFRS 2 - share-based payments 25 - 4.0 - - - - 4.0
Deferred tax onshare-based payments 19 - 01 - - - - 0.
Repurchase of ownshares for treasury 22 - - (15.5) - - - (15.5)
Cancellation of shares 21 (0.2) (871) - - 0.2 - (871)
Dividends paid 23 - (26.6) - - - - (26.6)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 22 - (0.J) 01 - - - -
Totaltransactions with owners,
recognised directlyinequity (0.2) (109.7) (15.4) - 0.2 - (125.1)
Balance at March 2017 9.8 1,015.9 (16.9) (1,060.8) 0.2 30.4 (21.4)
Profit fortheyear - 171.3 - - - - 171.3
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences - - - - - 0.2 0.2
Totalcomprehensive income, net of tax - 171.3 - - - 0.2 171.5
Transactions with owners
IFRS 2 - share-based payments 25 - 3.3 - - - - 3.3
Deferredtaxonshare-based payments 19 - 01 - - - - 01
Cancellation of shares 21 (0.3) (96.7) - - 0.3 - (96.7)
Dividends paid 23 - (52.2) - - - - (52.2)
Totaltransactions with owners,
recognised directlyin equity (0.3) (145.5) - - 0.3 - (145.5)
Balance at March 2018 9.5 1,041.7 (16.9) (1,060.8) 0.5 30.6 4.6
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017
Note £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 24 226.1 212.9
Tax paid (39.4) (34.8)
Net cash generated from operating activities 186.7 1781

Cash flows frominvesting activities
Purchases of intangible assets - financial systems (0.3) (0.7)
Purchases of intangible assets - other (0.3) (0.5)
Purchases of property, plantand equipment (2.3) (2.5)
Net cash outflow onacquisition of subsidiary 26 (1.9) -
Net cashused ininvesting activities (14.8) (3.7)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to Company's shareholders 23 (52.2) (26.6)
Repayment of Syndicated Term Loan 17 (20.0) (40.0)
Payment of interest on borrowings (6.7) (7.6)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation (96.2) (86.7)
Purchase of own shares for treasury - (15.4)
Payment of fees onrepurchase of own shares (0.5) (0.5)
Net cash used in financing activities (175.6) (176.8)
Netdecreaseincash and cash equivalents (3.7) (2.4)
Cash and cashequivalents at beginning of year 15 8.0 10.4
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15 4.3 8.0

Asoutlinedin the basis of preparation on page 93, the current period is for the 365 days ended 31 March 2018 and the comparative period

is for the 369 days ended 31 March 2017.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Auto Trader Group plcisapubliclimited company whichis listed on the London Stock Exchange and is domiciled and incorporated
inthe United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered office is given on the inside back cover.

Basis of preparation

The principalaccounting policies appliedin the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently appliedto all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. The financialinformation presentedis atand for the year
(365 days) ended 31 March 2018 and for the 369-day period ended 31 March 2017. Due to the publishing heritage of the business, results have
historically beenreported ona52-week basis, with the accounting period ending on the closest Sunday to 31 March. During the year ended

31 March 2017, the Board made the decision to change the period end date to be 31 March every year, to better align with our customers’ needs
andto the products and services we offer. Asa consequence of this change, the 2017 financial year was four days longer than the currentyear.

The consolidated financial statements have been preparedinaccordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS’) as adopted
by the European Union (‘EU’), IFRS Interpretation Committee ('IFRSIC’), certaininterpretations as adopted by the EU, and the Companies Act
2006 applicable to companiesreporting under IFRS. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis
andunder the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

Going concern

The Directors, after making enquiries and on the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, believe that the Group has
adequate financialresources to continue in operation for a period not less than12 months from the date of thisreport. For thisreason,
they continue to adoptthe going concern basisin preparing the financial statements.

Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain accounting estimates and assumptions. It also
requires managementto exerciseits judgementin the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
tobereasonable under the circumstances.

There are noaccounting estimates or judgements which are critical to the reporting of results of operations and financial position.

The accounting estimates believed to require the most difficult, subjective or complex judgements are as follows:
- carrying values of goodwill; and
- share-based payments.

The Group testsannually whether goodwill has suffered any impairmentinaccordance with the accounting policy stated. The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based onvalue-in-use calculations, which require the use of estimates; see note 10.

Share-based paymentarrangementsin which the Group receives goods or services as consideration forits own equity instruments are
accounted foras equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The fair value of servicesreceivedinreturn for share optionsis
calculated with reference to the fair value of the award on the date of grant. Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo models have beenused where
appropriate to calculate the fair value and the Directors have therefore made estimates with regard to the inputs to that modeland the period
overwhichthe share awardis expected to vest (note 25).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
continued

continued

New accounting standards and IFRS IC interpretations
The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRSs in the consolidated financial statements with no significantimpact
onitsconsolidated results or financial position:

- Amendments to IAS12 ‘Income Taxes'

- Amendments to IAS 7 ‘'Statement of Cash Flows’

The following standards and interpretations were issued by the IASB but have not been adopted, either because they were notendorsed
by the EU as at 31 March 2018 or they are not yet mandatory:

- IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ and IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

The Groupisrequired toadoptIFRS9and IFRS15 from1April2018. The Group has assessed the estimated impact that the initialapplication
of IFRS9and IFRS 15 will have onits consolidated financial statements and does not expect this to be material.

- IFRS16 'Leases’

IFRS16replaces|AS17 ‘Leases’ and is effective forannual periods beginning on or after1January 2019. Early adoptionis permitted for entities
thatapply IFRS15at or before the date of initialapplication of IFRS16. The Group intends to early adopt IFRS16 when IFRS 15 becomes
mandatory, being1April 2018, using the fully retrospective approach.

The Group's lease commitments will be brought onto the consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability with a corresponding
asset, both of whichareimmaterialinrelation to the netassets of the Group.

Total costsincurred remainunchanged over the life of the lease but the timing of when those costs are recognised within the consolidated
income statement willbe impacted. Based on analysis of lease commitments held by the Group at 31 March 2018, and using estimated discount
rates, the netimpacton profitis expected to be immaterial to the Group. This does notimpact the Group's cash flows.

- Amendment to IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payments Transactions (notyet EU endorsed). This standardis not
anticipated to have asignificantimpact onthe financial statements.

- Annualimprovements to IFRSs 2014-2016 (not yet EU endorsed).
- IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (notyet EU endorsed).

- IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (not yet EU endorsed).

Basis of consolidation
The Group’s consolidated financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc and all of its subsidiary
undertakings.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Groupis
exposedto,orhasrights to, variable returns fromitsinvolvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which controlis transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date thatcontrol ceases.

The purchase method of accountingis used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of anacquisitionis
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instrumentsissued and liabilitiesincurred orassumed at the date of exchange.
Costsdirectly attributable to the acquisition are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in
abusiness combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling
interest. The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interestin the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interestin the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquiredis recorded as goodwill. If the
total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interestrecognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the
netassets of the subsidiary acquiredin the case of abargain purchase, the difference isrecognised directly in the income statement.

Intercompany transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation.

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significantinfluence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between
20%and 50% of the voting rights. Where significantinfluence is not demonstrated but the shareholding is between 20% and 50% the Group would
account foritsinterestasaninvestment. Allinvestments are initially recognised at cost and the carrying value is reviewed forimpairment.
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Segmentreporting

Operating segmentsare reportedinamanner consistent with the internalreporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, whois responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has beenidentified as the Operational Leadership Team that makes strategic decisions (note 3).

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the considerationreceived orreceivable for the sale of goods and servicesinthe ordinary course
of the Group's activities. Revenue is stated net of discounts, rebates, refunds and value-added tax.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can bereliably measured, itis probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below.

Revenueisrecognisedas follows:

- Trade revenue: fees fromretailerand home trader customers for advertising on the Group’s websites and web-related activities are
recognised onastraight-line basis as the serviceis provided. Retailer website build and hosting subscription fees, maintenance contracts
and other subscription fees are recognised on a straight-line basis over the period to which they relate. Fees from logistic firms and retailers
for facilitating the move of vehicles on the Group’s Motor Trade Delivery platform are recognised at the point the vehicle has been delivered.

- Consumer servicesrevenue: fees from private sellers for advertising on the Group's websites are recognised on a straight-line basis as
the serviceis provided. Revenues from third-party partners who provide services to consumers relating to their motoring needs, such as
insurance and loan finance, are recognised as the serviceis provided to the third-party partner.

- Manufacturer & Agency revenue: revenue from manufacturers and their advertising agencies for placing display advertising on the Group's
websitesisrecognised onastraight-line basis as the serviceis provided.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distributionto the Company’s shareholdersisrecognised as aliability in the Group's financial statements in the period in which
the dividendis approved by the Company’s shareholdersin the case of final dividends, or the date at which they are paidin the case of
interim dividends.

Employee benefits
The Group operates several pension schemes and all except one are defined contribution schemes. Within the UK all pension schemes
setup priorto 2001 have been closed to new membersand only one defined contribution scheme is now opento new employees.

a) Defined contribution scheme
The assets of the defined contribution scheme are held separately from those of the Group inindependently administered funds.
The costsinrespect of thisscheme are charged to the income statementasincurred.

b) Defined benefit scheme

The Group operates one defined benefit pension scheme thatis closed to new members. The asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet
inrespect of the defined benefit schemeis the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of
the scheme’s assets. The defined benefit obligationis calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The presentvalue of the defined benefit obligationis determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates

of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating those of the related pension liability. Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes
inactuarialassumptions are charged or credited to equity in ‘other comprehensive income’ in the period in which they arise. Any scheme
surplus (to the extentit can be recovered) or deficitisrecognisedin fullonthe balance sheet.

c) Share-based payments

Equity-settled awards are valued at grant date, and the difference between the grant date fair value and the consideration paid by the
employeeischargedasanexpenseintheincome statement spread over the vesting period. Fair value of the awards are measured using
Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo pricing models. The credit side of the entryisrecorded in equity. Cash-settled awards are revalued at each
reporting date with the fair value of the award charged to the profitand loss account over the vesting period and the credit side of the entry
recognised as aliability.

Exceptionalitems

Significant non-recurringitems of income and expense are disclosed as ‘exceptionalitems’. Examples of items that may give rise to disclosure
as exceptionalitemsinclude costs of major restructuring and reorganisation of the business, corporate refinancing and restructuring costs,
gainsonthe early extinguishment of borrowings orimpairments of intangible assets, property, plantand equipment, as well as the reversal of
such writedowns orimpairments, material disposals of property, plantand equipment and litigation settlements. A full analysis of exceptional
itemsis providedinnote 4.

Foreign currency translation

a) Functional and presentation currency

Iltemsincludedinthe financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
inwhich the entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling (£), whichis the Group’s presentation currency,
androundedtothe nearest hundred thousand (£0.1m) except when otherwise indicated.
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b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at the period end exchange rates
of monetary assetsand liabilities denominatedin foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement within administrative expenses.

c) Group companies
Theresults and financial position of all Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency other thansterling are translated into sterling as follows:

- assetsand liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet; and

-income and expenses foreachincome statement are translated at average exchange rates.

Onthedisposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences that were recordedin equity are recognisedin theincome
statementas part of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
asassetsand liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Intangible assets

a) Goodwill

Goodwillrepresents the excess cost of anacquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the netidentifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition.

Goodwillis tested annually forimpairmentandis carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses are charged to
theincome statementand are notreversed. The gain or loss on the disposal of an entity includes the carrying amount of goodwill relating
tothe entity sold.

Goodwillis allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocationis made to those cash-generating units
thatare expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

b) Trademarks, trade names, technology, non-compete agreements and customer relationships

Separately acquired trademarks, trade names, technology and customer relationships are recognised at historical cost. They have a finite
usefullife and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisationis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost
over their estimated usefullives of between one and 15 years. Trademarks, trade names, technology, non-compete agreements and customer
relationshipsacquiredinabusiness combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and subsequently amortised.

c) Software
Acquired computer software is capitalised at cost, including any costs to bringitinto use,andis carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisationis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the estimated useful life of three to five years.

d) Software and website development costs and financial systems
Development costs thatare directly attributable to the designand testing of identifiable and unique software products, websites and systems
controlled by the Group are recognised asintangible assets when the following criteriaare met:

- itistechnically feasible to complete the software product or website so thatit will be available for use;

- managementintends to complete the software product or website and use or sellit;

-thereisanability touse or sell the software product or website;

-itcanbe demonstrated how the software product or website will generate probable future economic benefits;

- adequate technical, financialand other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product or website
are available; and

- the expenditure attributable to the software product or website during its development can be reliably measured.
Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product, website or systeminclude employee and contractor costs.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria, as well as ongoing maintenance and costs associated with routine upgrades
and enhancements, are recognised as an expense asincurred.

Development costs for software, websites and systems are carried at cost lessaccumulated amortisation and are amortised over their useful
lives (not exceeding five years) at the pointin which they come into use.
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Property, plant and equipment
Allproperty, plantand equipmentis stated at historical cost lessaccumulated depreciationand impairment losses. Historical cost comprises
the purchase price of the asset and expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Freehold landis not depreciated. Depreciation on otherassetsis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost less their
estimated residual values over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Land, buildings and leasehold improvements:

- Freehold buildings 50years

- Leaseholdland and buildings life of lease
- Leaseholdimprovements life of lease
- Plantand equipment 3-10years

The assets’ residual values and usefullives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheetdate. The carrying value of assets
isreviewed forimpairmentif events or changesin circumstances suggest that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Assets will be
written down to theirrecoverable amountif lower than the carrying value,and any impairmentis charged to the income statement.

Gainsandlossesondisposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carryingamount and are recognised in theincome
statement withinadministrative expenses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have anindefinite usefullife, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually forimpairment. Assets
thatare subjecttoamortisation and depreciation are reviewed forimpairment whenever events or changesin circumstancesindicate that
the carryingamount may not be recoverable. Animpairmentlossisrecognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
itsrecoverable amount. The recoverable amountis the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to selland value in use. For the purposes of
assessingimpairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financialassets other than goodwill that have suffered animpairmentare reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.

Inassessing value inuse, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Foran asset that does not generate largely
independent cash flows, the recoverable amountis determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairmentlossesrecognisedinrespect of cash-generating units are allocated first toreduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assetsin the unit (or group of units)ona
pro-ratabasis.

Financial assets

The Group classifiesits financial assetsin the categories of loans and receivables and at fair value through profit or loss. The classification
dependsonthe purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.

Loansandreceivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quotedinanactive market. They
areincludedincurrentassets, except for maturities greater than12 months after the balance sheet date which are classified as non-current

assets. The Group'sloans andreceivables comprise trade and otherreceivables and cash and cash equivalentsin the balance sheet. Loans

andreceivables areinitially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried atamortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financialassets measured at fair value are those held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. Derivatives are categorised
asheld fortrading unless they are designated as hedges. Assetsin this category are classified as current assets. Financial assets carried at fair
value through the profit or loss account are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. They
are subsequently re-measured to fair value and gains or losses arising from changesin the fair value are recognised in the income statementin
the periodinwhich they arise.

Financialassetsand liabilities are of fsetand the netamountreportedin the balance sheet when thereis alegally enforceable right to offset
therecognised amounts and thereisanintention to settle onanetbasis, orrealise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets
isimpaired. Afinancial assetisimpaired onlyif thereis objective evidence of impairmentas aresult of one or more events that occurred after
theinitialrecognition of the assetand that this eventhas animpact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be
reliably estimated. The amount of the lossis measured as the difference between the asset’s carryingamount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interestrate. The carryingamount of the assetis reduced
and theamountof the lossisrecognisedin theincome statement.

If,inasubsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreased and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
aftertheimpairmentwasrecognised, the reversal of the previously recognised impairment lossis credited to the income statement.
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Derivative financialinstruments and hedging
The Group does not currently use derivative financialinstruments for hedging or for speculative purposes.

Tradereceivables

Trade receivables are recognisedinitially at fair value and subsequently measured atamortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision forimpairment. A provision forimpairment of trade receivablesis established when there is objective evidence that the Group
willnotbe able to collectallamounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cashequivalentsinclude cashinhand, short-term deposits held on call with banks and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowingsin ‘current liabilities’ on the balance sheet.

Trade payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costsincurred, and are subsequently carried atamortised cost, with any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value being recognisedin the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Finance andissue costs associated with the borrowings are charged to the income statementusing the effective interest rate method from
the date of issue over the estimated life of the borrowings to which the costsrelate.

Borrowings are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. Where an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modificationis treated as a de-recognition of the originalliability and the recognition of a new liability, such that the difference
inrespective carryingamounts together with any costs or feesincurred are recognised in the income statement.

The buyback of bank borrowings represents the discharge of the obligation to repay the debt. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability extinguished and the consideration paidis recognised as an exceptional gainin the income statement, asitis a significant
non-recurringitem.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12months after the balance sheet date.

Provisions

Aprovisionisrecognised when a presentlegal or constructive obligation exists at the balance sheet date asaresult of apastevent,itis
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and areliable estimate of that obligation can be made. Where
there areanumber of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlementis determined by considering the class
of obligations asawhole. If the effectis material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-taxrate
thatreflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the obligation.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised but are disclosed unless an outflow of resourcesis remote. Contingent assets are not recognised
butare disclosed where aninflow of economic benefitsis probable.

Leases

Leasesinwhichasignificant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.
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Taxation

The taxexpense for the period comprises currentand deferred taxation. Taxisrecognised in the income statement, except to the extent
thatitrelatestoitemsrecognisedin ‘other comprehensive income’ or directly in equity. In this case the taxis alsorecognisedin ‘other
comprehensiveincome’ or directly in equity, respectively. Management periodically evaluates positions takenin tax returns with respect to
situationsinwhich applicable tax regulationis subject tointerpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expectedtobe paidto the tax authorities.

Current taxationis provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) calculated using the rates of taxand laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Deferred taxationis providedin full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities
andtheir carryingamountsin the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxationis determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expectedtoapply whentherelated deferred tax assetisrealised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferredtaxationassetsare recognised only to the extent thatitis probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences canbe utilised.

Deferred taxationis provided ontemporary differences arising oninvestmentsin subsidiaries except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differenceis controlled by the Group and itis probable that the temporary difference will not reverseinthe foreseeable future.

Deferred taxationassetsand liabilities are offset when thereis alegally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilitiesand when the deferred taxation assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity
ordifferent taxable entities where thereisanintention to settle the balance onanetbasis.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shownin equity asadeduction
fromthe proceeds.

Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from equity attributable to the Group's
shareholders. Where such shares are subsequently cancelled, the nominal value of the shares repurchasedis deducted from share capital
and transferred to a capitalredemptionreserve.

Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital to hold in Treasury, the consideration paid for the sharesis shown as own shares
held within equity.

Shares held by the Employee Share Option Trust

The Employee Share Option Trust ('ESOT’) provides for the issue of shares to Group employees principally under share option schemes.
The Group has control of the ESOT and therefore consolidates the ESOT in the Group financial statements. Accordingly, sharesin the
Company held by the ESOT areincluded in the balance sheet at cost asadeduction from equity.

Share premium and other reserves
The amount subscribed for the ordinary sharesin excess of the nominal value of these new sharesisrecordedin ‘share premium’.
Costs thatdirectly relate to theissue of ordinary shares are deducted from share premium net of corporation tax.

The capital reorganisationreserve arose on consolidation as aresult of the share-for-share exchange on 24 March 2015. It represents the
difference between the nominalvalue of sharesissued by Auto Trader Group plcin this transaction and the share capitaland reserves of
Auto Trader Holding Limited.

The capitalredemptionreserve arises from the purchase and subsequent cancellation of the Group's own equity share capital.
Otherreserves comprise the currency translation reserve on the consolidation of entities whose functional currency is other than sterling.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share ('"EPS’) forits ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. For diluted EPS,
the weighted average number of ordinary sharesis adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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a) Financialrisk factors

Inthe course of its business the Group is exposed to market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity
riskand technology risk. The Group’s overallrisk management strategy is to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance
and net assets of the Group. These policies are setand reviewed by senior finance managementand all significant financing transactions
are authorised by the Board of Directors.

Market risk

i. Foreignexchange risk

The Group has no significant foreign exchange risk as 98% of the Group’srevenue and 97% of costs are sterling-denominated. As the amounts
are notsignificant, no sensitivity analysis has been presented.

The Group operatesinlireland. Foreign currency-denominated net assets of overseas operations are not hedged as they represent arelatively
small proportion of the Group’s net assets. The Group operates adividend policy, ensuring any surplus cashisremitted to the UKand
translatedinto sterling, thereby minimising the impact of exchange volatility.

ii. Interestraterisk
The Group'sinterestrateriskarises fromlong-termborrowings under the Senior Facilities Agreement with floating rates of interest linked
to LIBOR. The Group monitorsinterestrates onanongoing basis but does not currently hedge interestrate risk.

iii. Creditrisk

Creditriskis therisk that financial loss arises from the failure of a customer or counterparty to meetits obligations under a contract. The Group
has dedicated standards, policies and procedures to controland monitor all suchrisks. Although the Group is potentially exposed to credit
lossinthe event of non-performance by counterparties, such creditriskis controlled through credit rating reviews of the counterparties and by
limiting the totalamount of exposure to any one party. The Group does not believeitis exposed to any material concentrations of credit risk.

Tradereceivables

Creditriskrelating to trade receivablesis managed centrally and the creditrisk for new customersis analysed before standard payment
termsand conditions are offered. Policies and procedures exist to ensure that existing customers have an appropriate credit historyand a
significantnumber of balances are prepaid or collected via direct debit. Sales to private customers are primarily settled using major debit or
credit cards whichreduces theriskin this area. Overall, the Group considers thatitis not exposed to a significantamount of either customer
creditor bad debtrisk, due to the diversified and fragmented nature of the customer base.

The cost of bad debts for the year ended 31 March 2018 was 0.6% of revenue (2017: 0.6%).

Cash and cash equivalents
As at 31 March 2018, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of £4.3m (2017: £8.0m). The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank
and financialinstitution counterparties, which are rated between P-1and P-2 based on Moody’s ratings.

iv. Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecastingis performed centrally by the Group treasury manager. Rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements
are monitored to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs. Such forecasting takes into consideration the Group's debt
financing plans.

Surplus cash held by operating entities over and above the balance required for working capital managementisinvested centrally in
interest-bearing currentaccounts and money market deposits with appropriate maturities or sufficientliquidity as required by the
above-mentioned forecasts.
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The tables below analyse the Group's financial liabilities and undrawn commitmentsinto relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
periodat the balance sheet date to contractual maturity date. Derivative financialinstruments are includedin the analysis if their contractual

maturities are essential for anunderstanding of the timing of the cash flows. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual

undiscounted cash flows. As disclosed in note 17 of these consolidated financial statements, the borrowings are currently drawn down under
asyndicated debtarrangementand repayments can be made at any time without penalty. As such, thereis no contractualinterest cost.

Interest paidintheyearinrelationto borrowings amounted to £6.7m.

Between Between
Less than 1and2 2and5 Over
1year years years Syears
At 31 March 2018 £m £m £m £m
Borrowings - 343.0 - -
Trade and other payables 5.1 - - -
Undrawnrevolving creditand other facilities - - 30.0 -
Total 51 343.0 30.0 -
Between Between
Lessthan 1and 2 2and5 Over
1year years years S5years
At 31March 2017 £m £m £m £m
Borrowings - - 363.0 -
Trade and other payables 71 N - -
Undrawnrevolving creditand other facilities - - 30.0 -
Total 71 - 393.0 -
b) Capital risk management
The Group considers capital to be netdebt plus total equity. Net debtis defined as borrowings excluding debtissue costs less cash and
short-term deposits. Total equity isas shownin the consolidated balance sheet.
The calculation of total capitalis showninthe table below:
2018 2017
£m £m
Loans due within one year - -
Loans and overdrafts greater than one year 343.0 363.0
Less: Cashand cashequivalents (4.3) (8.0)
Totalnetdebt 338.7 355.0
Total equity 4.6 (21.4)
Total capital 343.3 333.6

The objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an efficient capital structure to optimise the cost of capital. Inorder to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or take other steps toincrease share capitaland reduce orincrease debt facilities.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had borrowings of £343.0m (2017: £363.0m) throughiits Syndicated Term Loan. Interest was payable on this
facility atarate of LIBOR plusamargin of between1.5%and 3.25% depending on the consolidated leverage ratio of Auto Trader Group plc
andits subsidiaries, which was calculated and reviewed on a biannual basis. Repayments could be made without penalty.

On 6 June 2018, the Group signed into a new Revolving Credit Facility (the ‘'new RCF’) to replace the existing Syndicated Term Loan and revolving
credit facility. The new RCF, whichis unsecured, has totalcommitments of £400m and a termination date of June 2023.

Intereston the new RCFis charged at LIBOR plusamargin of between1.2%and 2.1% depending on the consolidated leverage of Auto Trader
Group plc. Acommitment fee of 35% of the margin applicable to the new RCFis payable quarterly inarrears onunutilised amounts of the new
RCF. Thereisnorequirementto settle all, or part, of the debt earlier than the termination date.

The Group remains in compliance with its banking covenants.

c) Fair value estimation
At 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017, the Group had no financialinstruments held at fair value through profit and loss.
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IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’ requires the Group to determine its operating segments based oninformation whichis providedinternally. Based
ontheinternalreporting information and management structures within the Group, ithas been determined that there is only one operating
segment, being the Group, as the information reportedincludes operating results at a consolidated Group level only. This reflects the nature
of the business, where the major costis to support the IT platforms upon which all of the Group’s customers are serviced. These costs are
borne centrally and are not attributable to any specific customer type or revenue stream. There is also considered to be only one reporting
segment, whichis the Group, the results of which are showninthe consolidated income statement.

Management has determined that thereis one operating and reporting segmentbased on the reports reviewed by the Operational Leadership
Team (‘OLT’) whichis the chief operating decision-maker (‘{CODM'’). The OLT is made up of the Executive Directors and Key Managementandis
responsible for the strategic decision-making of the Group.

To assistinthe analysis of the Group’srevenue-generating trends, the OLT reviews revenue from three customer types as detailed below:

- Trade: revenue fromretailerand home trader customers advertising their vehicles and utilising the Group’s products. Following the acquisition
of Motor Trade Delivery (‘MTD’) in April 2017, this category also includes revenue from logistics firms who pay to access the MTD website;

- Consumer services: revenue from private sellers for vehicle advertisements on the Group's websites. This category alsoincludes revenue
from third-party partners who provide services to consumers relating to their motoring needs, such asinsurance and loan finance; and

- Manufacturer & Agency: revenue from manufacturers and their advertising agencies for placing display advertising on the Group's websites.

Thereportinginformation provided to the OLT, which presents revenue by customer type, has beenvoluntarily disclosed below:

2018 2017
Revenue £m £m
Trade 281.2 2621
Consumerservices 29.8 31.8
Manufacturer & Agency 191 17.5
Totalrevenue 330.1 3.4

Therevenue from external partiesreported to the OLT is measured ina manner consistent with thatin the income statement.

Operating profit

Asdisclosedinthe 2017 Annual Report and Financial Statements, from this financial year, the business now reports against the statutory
measure of Operating profitas opposed to the non-GAAP measure of Underlying operating profit. Areconciliation of prior year comparatives
has beenshown forcompleteness.

2018 2017

£m £m

Operating profit 220.6 2031

- Share-based paymentsand associated NI 3.7 4.5

- Exceptionalitems - (0.4)

Underlying operating profit 224.3 207.2
Areconciliation of the total segment Operating profit to the Profit before taxis provided as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

Total segment Operating profit 220.6 20311

Finance costs - net (9.8) (9.7)

Profit before tax 210.8 193.4

The OLT reviews the balance sheetinformation for the one operating segment. The segment’s assets and liabilities are presented inamanner
consistent with that of these consolidated financial statements.
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The Groupis domiciledinthe UKand the following table details external sales by location of customers and non-current assets
(excluding deferred tax) by geographic area:

2018 2017
£m £m
Revenve:
UK 324.9 306.1
Ireland 5.2 53
Totalrevenue 330.1 3.4
Non-current assets:
UK 329.8 321.0
Ireland 6.0 61
Total non-current assets (excluding deferred tax) 335.8 3271

Duetothelarge number of customers the Group serves, there are noindividual customers whose revenue is greater than10% of the Group's
totalrevenueinall periods presentedin these financial statements.

Operating profitis stated after charging:

2018 2017

Note £m £m

Staff costs 5 54.5 53.6

Contractor costs 0.4 04

Depreciation of property, plantand equipment 1 3.0 3.2

Amortisation of intangible assets 10 41 4.8

Operating leases 2.7 2.7
Exceptionalitems:

2018 2017

£m £m

Restructuring of Group operations - (0.4)

Total exceptionalitems - (0.4)

Exceptionalincome for the year ended 31 March 2017 relates to the reversal of provisions previously made for restructuring costs thatare
no longerrequired.

Services provided by the Company’s auditors
During the year, the Group (including overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the operating company’s auditors:

2018 2017
£m £m
Fees payable for the audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements 0.1 0.
Fees payable for other services:
-the audit of the subsidiary undertakings pursuant to legislation 01 0.1
Total 0.2 0.2
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2018 2017

£m £m

Wages and salaries 441 42.5
Social security costs 4.8 47
Other pension costs (note 20) 1.9 1.9
50.8 491

Share-based payments and associated NI (note 25) 3.7 4.5
Total 54.5 53.6

The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors but excluding third-party contractors) employed by the Group
was as follows:

2018 2017

Number Number

Customer operations 331 339

Productandtechnology 312 31

Display 49 46

Corporate 130 124

Total 822 820
The remuneration of Directors was as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

Aggregate Directors’ emoluments 1.6 1.5

Share-based payments charge 1.5 1.3

Total 3.1 2.8

During the year ended 31 March 2018, three Directors (2017: two Directors) were members of the Group’s defined pension contribution scheme.

The remuneration of the highest paid Director was as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

Aggregate emoluments 0.7 0.7
Share-based payments charge 1.0 0.9
Total 1.7 1.6

During the year to 31 March 2018, Trevor Mather, Sean Glithero and Nathan Coe (2017: Trevor Mather and Sean Glithero) received remuneration
inrespectof their services as Directors of the Company and subsidiary undertakings. Ed Williams (2017: Ed Williams) received remunerationin
respect of hisservices as a Director of the Company.

Referto the Directors’' remunerationreporton pages 74 to 80 for further detail.

Key Management compensation
During the year to 31 March 2018, Key Management comprised the members of the OLT (2017: OLT). The remuneration of all Key Management

(including Directors) was as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

Short-termemployee benefits 4.9 5.0
Share-based payments 2.6 2.6
Termination benefits 0.1 -
Pension contributions 0.2 0.2
Total 7.8 7.8
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2018 2017
£m £m
Finance costs
Onbankloansand overdrafts 6.8 7.5
Amortisation of debtissue costs 3.0 2.2
Total 9.8 9.7
Debtissue costsincurred on the original Senior Facilities Agreement were accelerated in the year with an additional £1.Im recognised
inthe consolidatedincome statement (2017: additional charge of £nil).
2018 2017
£m £m
Current taxation
UK corporation taxation 40.7 39.3
Foreign taxation 0.2 0.2
Adjustmentsinrespectof prioryears (0.9) (0.4)
Total current taxation 40.0 391
Deferred taxation
Originationandreversal of temporary differences (0.3) (0.3)
Adjustmentsinrespectof prioryears (0.2) (0.)
Total deferred taxation (0.5) (0.4)
Total taxation charge 39.5 38.7
The taxation charge for the yearis lower than (2017: the same as) the effective rate of corporation taxin the UK of 19% (2017: 20%).
The differences are explained below:
2018 2017
£m £m
Profit before taxation 210.8 193.4
Taxon profiton ordinary activities at the standard UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2017: 20%) 4041 38.7
Expensesnotdeductible for taxation purposes 0.6 0.6
Adjustmentsinrespect of foreign taxrates (0J) (0.J)
Adjustmentsinrespectof prioryears (19) (0.5)
Total taxation charge 39.5 38.7

Taxation onitems taken directly to equity was a credit of £0.1m (2017: £0.1m) relating to deferred tax on share-based payments.

The tax charge forthe yearis based onthe standardrate of UK corporation tax for the period of 19% (2017: 20%). Deferred income taxes have
beenmeasuredat the taxrate expectedto be applicable at the date the deferredincome tax assets and liabilities are realised. Management

has performedanassessment, for all material deferredincome tax assets and liabilities, to determine the period over which the deferred

income tax assets and liabilities are forecast to be realised, which has resulted in an average deferred income tax rate of 17% being used to

measure alldeferred tax balances as at 31 March 2018 (2017:17%).
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Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue during the year, excluding those held
by the Employee Share Option Trust (‘ESOT’), based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders.

Weighted average Total
number of ordinary earnings Pence
shares £m pershare
Year ended 31 March 2018
Basic EPS 964,516,212 171.3 17.76
Diluted EPS 967,912,689 171.3 17.70
Year ended 31 March 2017
Basic EPS 989,278,991 154.7 15.64
Diluted EPS 991,812,212 154.7 15.60

The number of sharesinissue at the start of the yearisreconciled to the basic and diluted weighted average number of shares below:

Weighted average
Year ended 31 March 2018 number of shares
Issued ordinary shares at 31 March 2017 978,971,146
Weighted effect of ordinary shares purchased for cancellation (9,314,068)
Weighted effect of ordinary shares heldin treasury (4,199,275)
Weighted effect of shares held by the ESOT (941,591)
Weighted average number of shares for basic EPS 964,516,212
Dilutive impact of share options outstanding 3,396,477
Weighted average number of shares for diluted EPS 967,912,689

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue is adjusted to assume conversion of all potentially
dilutive ordinary shares. The Group has potentially dilutive ordinary shares arising from share options granted to employees. Options are
dilutive under the Sharesave scheme where the exercise price together with the future IFRS 2 charge is less than the average market price of
the ordinary shares during the year. Options under the Performance Share Plan, the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan and the Share Incentive Plan
are contingently issuable shares and are therefore only included within the calculation of diluted EPS if the performance conditions, as set out
inthe Board reportonremuneration on pages 74 to 80, are satisfied.

The average market value of the Group's shares for the purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share-basedincentives was based on
quoted market prices for the period during which the share-based incentives were outstanding.
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Software and
website Financial
Goodwill developmentcosts systems Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 31 March 2016 433.6 54.0 1.6 13.3 512.5
Additions - 0.5 0.7 - 1.2
Exchange differences 0.5 0.1 - - 0.6
At 31 March 2017 4341 54.6 12.3 13.3 514.3
Acquired through a business combination 8.5 04 - 3.8 12.7
Additions - 0.3 0.3 - 0.6
Exchange differences 0.2 - - - 0.2
At 31March 2018 442.8 55.3 12.6 174 527.8
Accumulated amortisation
and impairments
At 31 March 2016 120.8 52.3 4.2 1.8 189.1
Amortisation charge - 1.5 2.3 1.0 4.8
At 31 March 2017 120.8 53.8 6.5 12.8 193.9
Amortisationcharge - 0.6 24 11 41
At 31March 2018 120.8 54.4 8.9 13.9 198.0
Netbook value at 31 March 2018 322.0 0.9 3.7 3.2 329.8
Netbook value at 31 March 2017 313.3 0.8 5.8 0.5 320.4
Netbook value at 31 March 2016 312.8 1.7 74 1.5 323.4

Otherintangiblesinclude customer relationships, technology, trade names, trademarks and non-compete agreements.

Intangible assets which have a finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation of these intangible assetsis
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets over their estimated usefullives (three to 15 years). The longest
estimated useful life remaining at 31 March 2018 is five years.

Forthe yearto 31 March 2018, the amortisation charge of £4.1m (2017: £4.8m) has been charged to administrative expensesin the
income statement.

At 31 March 2018, £0.1m (2017: £0.1m) of software and website development costs represented assets under construction. Amortisation
of these assets willcommence when they are broughtinto use.

Inaccordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, goodwillis notamortised, butinstead is tested annually forimpairment, ormore
frequentlyif there are indicators of impairment. Goodwillis carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment test for goodwill

Goodwillis allocated to the appropriate cash-generating unit (‘'CGU’) based on the smallestidentifiable group of assets that generates cash
inflowsindependentlyinrelation to the specific goodwill. The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined from value-in-use calculations
thatuse cash flow projections from the latest three-year plan. The carrying value of CGUs is the sum of goodwill, property, plantand
equipmentandintangiblesandis as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

Digital 330.2 307.6
Webzone 6.1 57
Total 336.3 313.3

Income and costs within the budget are derived on adetailed ‘bottomup’ basis - allincome streams and cost lines are considered and
appropriate growth, ordecling, rates are assumed. Income and cost growth forecasts are risk adjusted to reflect specific risks facing each
CGU and takeinto account the marketsin which they operate. Key assumptionsinclude revenue growth rates, associated levels of marketing
supportanddirectly associated overheads. Cash flows beyond the budgeted period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate stated
below into perpetuity. The growthrate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the markets in which the CGUs operate. Other
thanasincludedin the financialbudgets, itisassumed that there are no material adverse changesin legislation that would affect the forecast
cashflows.
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The pre-taxdiscount rate used within the recoverable amount calculations was 8.0% (2017: 8.0%) and is based upon the weighted average cost
of capitalreflecting specific principal risks and uncertainties. The discount rate takes into account the risk-free rate of return, the market risk
premium and beta factor reflecting the average beta for the Group and comparator companies which are used in deriving the cost of equity.

The same discountrate has beenapplied to both CGUs as the principal risks and uncertainties associated with the Group, as highlighted on
pages 34 to 37, would alsoimpact each CGUinasimilar manner. The Board acknowledges that there are additional factors that could impact
therisk profile of each CGU, which have been considered by way of sensitivity analysis performed as part of the annualimpairment tests.
Significantheadroom existsinboth CGUs. The level of headroom may change if different growth rate assumptions or a different pre-tax
discountrate were usedin the cash flow projections, however there are no likely changes to these assumptions that would resultinany
impairmentrecordedineach of the years presentedin these financial statements.

Land, buildings and
leasehold Office
improvements equipment Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 31 March 2016 3.9 179 21.8
Additions - 2.5 2.5
At 31 March 2017 3.9 204 24.3
Additions - 2.3 2.3
Disposals - (6.0) (6.0)
At 31March 2018 3.9 16.7 20.6
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 March 2016 11 13.3 14.4
Charge forthe year 0.3 29 3.2
At 31 March 2017 14 16.2 17.6
Charge fortheyear 0.3 2.7 3.0
Disposals - (6.0) (6.0)
At31March 2018 1.7 12.9 14.6
Netbook value at 31 March 2018 2.2 3.8 6.0
Netbook value at 31 March 2017 2.5 4.2 6.7
Netbook value at 31 March 2016 2.8 4.6 74

The depreciation expense of £3.0m for the year to 31 March 2018 (2017: £3.2m) has beenrecorded in administrative expenses.

During the year, £6.0m (2017: £nil) worth of of fice equipment with £nil net book values were disposed of.
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Sharesin other undertakings

£m
Cost
At 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 3.2
Provision forimpairment
At 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 3.2

Netbook value at 31 March 2018
Netbookvalue at 31 March 2017

At the balance sheetdate, the Group holds a16.0% (2017:19.4%) interest in the preferred share capital of IAUTOS Company Limited. IAUTOS
Company Limitedisanintermediate holding company through which trading companiesincorporated in the People’s Republic of Chinaare
held. Itis not considered anassociate as the Group does not have significantinfluence over this entity. Thisinvestment was fully impaired
intheyearto 31 March 2014 as the Chinese trading companies are loss-making with forecast future cash outflows.

Subsidiary undertakings

At 31 March 2018 the Group's related undertakings were:

Percentage Percentage

Country of registration or Class of shares owned by the owned by the

Subsidiary undertakings incorporation Principal activity held parent Group
Auto Trader Holding Limited' England and Wales Financing company Ordinary 100% 100%
Auto Trader Limited' England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 100%
Trader Licensing Limited' England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary - 100%
Webzone Limited? Republic of Ireland Online marketplace Ordinary - 100%
Motor Trade Delivery Limited' England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 100%

1 Registered office address for UK companiesis shown on page 131.
2 Registeredoffice address for the Republic of Ireland companiesis Paramount Court, Corrig Road, Sandyford Industrial Estate, Dublin18, D18 R9C7.

Aguarantee existsinrespect of the wholly owned subsidiary thatisincorporatedin the Republic of Ireland and consolidated within these
financial statements. They have availed themselves of an exemption from filing theirindividual financial statementsinaccordance with
Section 357 of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2014, Ireland.
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The accounting policies for financialinstruments have been applied to the loans and receivables and financial liabilities as detailed

inthe table below:

Loans and Non-financial
receivables assets Total
31March 2018 £m £m £m
Financialassets as perbalance sheet:
Trade and otherreceivables 2585 30.0 55.5
Cashand cashequivalents 4.3 - 4.3
Total 29.8 30.0 59.8
Financial liabilities
measured at Non-financial
amortised cost liabilities Total
31March 2018 £m £m £m
Financial liabilities as per balance sheet:
Borrowings (340.8) = (340.8)
Trade and other payables (5.1) (28.2) (33.3)
Total (345.9) (28. (374.1)
Loansand Non-financial
receivables assets Total
31March 2017 £m £m £m
Financialassets as perbalance sheet:
Trade and otherreceivables 214 29.3 50.7
Cash and cashequivalents 8.0 - 8.0
Total 294 29.3 58.7
Financial liabilities
measured at Non-financial
amortised cost liabilities Total
31March 2017 £m £m £m
Financial liabilities as per balance sheet:
Borrowings (357.8) - (357.8)
Trade and other payables (71) (26.2) (33.3)
Total (364.9) (26.2) (391.1)

Non-financial assetsinclude prepayments and accruedincome. Non-financial liabilities include other taxes and social security, accruals and

deferredincome.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values.
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2018 2017

£m £m

Tradereceivables 28.8 24.4

Less: provision forimpairment of trade receivables (3.4) (3.1)

Tradereceivables - net 25.4 21.3

Accruedincome 26.7 261

Prepayments 3.3 3.2

Otherreceivables 0.1 01

Total 55.5 50.7
The ageing analysis of trade receivablesis as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

Fully performing 21.5 17.8

Pastdue but notimpaired:

Up to three months 3.3 2.8

Impaired 4.0 3.8

Total 28.8 24.4

Trade receivables which are less than three months past due are not considered impaired unless specificinformationindicates otherwise.
Tradereceivables greater than three months past due are considered for recoverability,and where appropriate, a provision against bad debt
isrecognised.

It was assessed thata portion of theimpaired receivablesis expected to be recovered.

Movements on the provision forimpairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

At beginning of year 341 3.2
Provision for receivablesimpairment 2.0 1.7
Receivables written of f during the year as uncollectible (1.7) (1.8)
Total 3.4 3.1

The creationandrelease of the provision forimpaired trade receivablesisincludedinadministrative expensesin the income statement.
The other classes within ‘trade and other receivables’ do not containimpaired assets.

The maximum exposure to creditriskat the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable included within ‘trade and other
receivables’. The Group does nothold any collateral as security. Due to the large number of customers the Group services, the credit quality
of tradereceivablesis not deemed asignificantrisk.

The carryingamount of the Group’s trade receivables is denominatedin the following currencies:

2018 2017
£m £m
Sterling 28.0 23.6
Euro 0.8 0.8
Total 28.8 24.4
At 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 all other financial receivables are primarily denominated in sterling.
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Cashatbankandinhandisdenominatedinthe following currencies:

2018 2017
£m £m
Sterling 441 74
Euro 0.2 0.6
Cashatbankandinhand 4.3 8.0
2018 2017
£m £m
Trade payables 3.7 6.1
Accruals 14.6 14.3
Othertaxesandsocial security 1.8 10.0
Deferredincome 1.8 1.9
Other payables 0.9 0.5
Accruedinterest payable 0.5 0.5
Total 33.3 33.3
2018 2017
Non-current £m £m
Syndicated Term Loan gross of unamortised debtissue costs 343.0 363.0
Unamortised debtissue costs (2.2) (5.2)
Total 340.8 357.8
The Syndicated Term Loanisrepayable as follows:
2018 2017
£m £m
Onetotwoyears 343.0 -
Two to five years - 363.0
Total 343.0 363.0
The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair values.
Areconciliation of changesin borrowings arising from financing activitiesis as follows:
At Cash Non-cash At
1April 2017 movement movement 31March 2018
£m £m £m £m
Total borrowings 357.8 (20.0) 3.0 340.8

During the year to 31 March 2018 the Group repaid £20.0m of the Syndicated Term Loan (2017: £40.0m).
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Senior Facilities Agreement (including the Syndicated Term Loan)
On 24 March 2015, the Company and a subsidiary undertaking, Auto Trader Holding Limited, enteredinto a £550.0m Senior Facilities
Agreement. The associated debt transaction costs were £9.4m. The first utilisation was made on 24 March 2015 when £550.0m was drawn.

Interestonthe Syndicated Term Loan was charged at LIBOR plus a margin of between1.5%and 3.25% depending on the consolidated leverage
ratio of the Group. There was norequirement to settle all or part of the debt earlier than the termination date in March 2020.

Under the Senior Facilities Agreement, the lenders also made available to the Company and Auto Trader Holding Limited a £30.0m revolving
credit facility (the 'RCF’). The RCF was undrawn at 31t March 2018 (2017: undrawn). Cash drawings under the RCF would incurinterest at LIBOR
plusamargin of between1.25%and 3.0% depending on the consolidated leverage of the Group (31 March 2017:1.25% and 3.0%). Acommitment
fee of 35% of the margin applicable to the RCF from time to time was payable quarterly in arrears on the unutilised amounts of the RCF.

On 6 June 2018, the Group signed into a new Revolving Credit Facility (the ‘'new RCF’) to replace the existing Syndicated Term Loan and
revolving credit facility. The new RCF, whichis unsecured, has total commitments of £400m and a termination date of June 2023.

Interestonthe new RCFis charged at LIBOR plus a margin of between1.2%and 2.1% depending on the consolidated leverage of
Auto Trader Group plc. Acommitment fee of 35% of the margin applicable to the new RCFis payable quarterlyinarrears on unutilised
amounts of the new RCF. Thereis norequirementto settle all, or part, of the debt earlier than the termination date.

The exposure of the Group's borrowings (excluding debtissue costs) to LIBOR rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the
balance sheet date are as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

Onemonthorless 343.0 363.0
Total 343.0 363.0

Onerous lease and Holiday pay

dilapidations provision provision Total

£m £m £m

At 31 March 2017 11 0.3 14
Chargedtotheincome statement 0.1 0.3 04
Utilisedintheyear (0.1) (0.3) (0.4)
At 31March 2018 11 0.3 14
2018 2017

£m £m

Current 0.3 0.3
Non-current 11 11
Total 1.4 14

The onerous lease provision was provided for future payments under property leases inrespect of unoccupied properties no longer suitable
for the Group’s use. This has been fully utilised in the current year.

Dilapidations have been provided forall UKand Ireland properties based on the estimate of costs upon exit of the leases, which expire
between April 2025 and February 2029.

The holiday pay provisionrelates to liabilities for holiday pay inrelation to the UK and Ireland operations for leave days accrued and not yet
takenatthe end of the financial year,and is expected to be fully utilised in the year to 31 March 2019.
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The movementin deferred taxation assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within
the same taxjurisdiction, is as follows:

Accelerated Other

Share-based capital temporary
pay! ts |l differences Total
Deferred taxation assets £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2016 0.4 3.9 - 4.3
Credited/(charged)to theincome statement 0.4 (01) - 0.3
Credited directly to equity 01 - - 0.1
At 31 March 2017 0.9 3.8 - 4.7
Creditedto theincome statement 0.2 0.1 - 0.3
Credited directly to equity 0.1 - - 0.1
At 31 March2018 1.2 3.9 - 5.1

Accelerated Other

Share-based capital temporary
payments allowances differences Total
Deferred taxation liabilities £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2016 - - 0.3 0.3
Creditedtotheincome statement - - (0.) (0.1)
At 31 March 2017 - - 0.2 0.2
Acquiredin business combination - - 0.7 0.7
Credited totheincome statement - - (0.2) (0.2)
At 31 March2018 - - 0.7 0.7

The Group has estimated that £0.8m (2017: £nil) of the Group’s net deferredincome tax asset will be realised in the next12 months.
Thisis management'’s current best estimate and may notreflect the actual outcome in the next12 months.

Across the UKand Ireland the Group operates several pension schemes. Allexcept one are defined contribution schemes. Within the UK,
all pension schemes set up prior to 2001 have been closed to new members and only one defined contribution schemeis now open to
new employees.

Inthe year to 31 March 2018 the pension contributions to the Group defined contribution scheme amounted to £1.9m (2017: £1.9m). At 31 March
2018, there were £0.3m (31 March 2017: £0.3m) of pension contributions outstanding relating to the Group’s defined contribution scheme.

The defined benefit pension scheme provides benefits based on final pensionable pay and this scheme was closed to new joiners with effect
from May 2002. New employees after that date have been offered membership of the Group’s defined contribution scheme.

The mostrecentactuarial valuation of the defined benefit obligations was performed as at 31 March 2018 by a qualified independent actuary.

The amountsrecognisedin the balance sheetare determined as follows:

2018 2017

£m £m

Presentvalue of funded obligations 19.7 21.0
Fairvalue of planassets (21.0) (21.4)
Effect of surplus cap 1.3 04

Net liability recognised in the balance sheet = -

The surplus of £1.3m (2017: £0.4m) has not beenrecognised asanassetasitisnot deemed to be recoverable by the Group.
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The netretirementbenefitincome before taxationrecognisedintheincome statementinrespect of the defined benefit schemes

issummarised as follows:

2018 2017
£m £m
Interestincome on netdefined benefit obligation - -
Administration expenses paid by the scheme - -
Netretirementbenefitincome before taxation = -
The amountsrecognisedinthe statement of other comprehensive income are as follows:
2018 2017
£m £m
Remeasurement gains/(losses) recognisedin the year (before tax) 0.9 (0.5)
Effect of surplus cap (0.9) 0.5
Total - -
The movementin the defined benefit obligations over the yearis as follows:
Present value Fairvalue
of obligation of plan assets Total
£m £m £m
At 31 March 2016 17.5 (17.5) -
Interestexpense/(income) 0.6 (0.6) -
Remeasurements:
Loss fromchangesinfinancialassumptions 3.9 - 3.9
Gains arising from experience (0.2) - (0.2)
Returnon planassets, excludingamountsincludedininterestincome - (3.2) (3.2)
Benefits paid (0.8) 0.8 -
Effect of surplus cap - (0.5) (0.5)
At 31 March 2017 21.0 (21.0) -
Interest expense/(income) 0.5 (0.5) -
Remeasurements:
Gainfrom changesinfinancialassumptions (0.9) - (0.9)
Loss arising from experience 0.1 - 0.1
Other:
Contributions paid by the employer - (01) (0.1)
Benefits paid (1.0) 1.0 -
Effect of surplus cap - 0.9 0.9
At 31March2018 19.7 (19.7) -
The Company has agreed to contribute £70,000 perannum to the scheme with effect from10October 2016 fora period of three years.
During the year to 31 March 2018, the Group contributed £70,000 to the scheme (2017: £29,165).
As at 31 March 2018, approximately 65% of the liabilities (2017: 65%) are attributable to former employees who have yet toreach retirement
and 35%to current pensioners (2017: 35%).
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The significant actuarialassumptions were as follows:

2018 2017

% %

Discountrate 2.60 2.60
Pension growthrate 2.25 2.35
Inflationrate (‘RPI') 3.35 3.45

Sensitivity to key assumptions has not beendisclosed as any reasonable possible changes would notresultinasignificant change to the
amountsrecordedinthe financial statements.

The Group has assumed that mortality will be in line with nationally published mortality table S2NA with CMI 2017 projectionsrelated to
members’ years of birth with long-term rate of improvement of 1.5% perannum. These tables translate into an average life expectancy for
apensionerretiring atage 65as follows:

2018 2017
Men Women Men Women
Years Years Years Years
Memberaged 65 (current life expectancy) 87 89 88 90
Memberaged 45 (life expectancy atage 65) 89 7N 90 92
Planassets are comprised as follows:
2018 2017
£m % £m %
Equities 14 54.3 12.0 561
Corporate bonds 8.5 40.5 8.3 38.8
Realestate 11 5.2 11 51
Total 21.0 100.0 21.4 100.0

Allplan assets have aquoted market price.
This defined benefit pension scheme exposes the Group to anumber of risks, the most significant of which are:

Assetvolatility

The scheme liabilities are calculated using a discountrate set with reference to corporate bondyields; if assets underperform thisyield,
thiswill create a deficit. The scheme holds a significant proportion of equities, which are expected to outperform corporate bondsinthe
long term while creating volatility and riskin the short term. The allocation to equitiesis monitored to ensure it remains appropriate given
the scheme’slong-term objectives.

Changesinbondyields
Adecreaseincorporate bondyields willincrease the scheme liabilities, although this will be partially offset by anincrease in the value of the
scheme’sbond holdings.

Inflation risk

Aproportion of the scheme’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities (although in most cases
capsonthelevelofinflationaryincreasesarein place to protectagainst extreme inflation). The majority of the assets are either unaffected by
oronly loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that anincrease ininflation will also increase the deficit.

Life expectancy
The majority of the scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, soincreasesin life expectancy willresultinan
increaseinthe liabilities.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligationis 22 years.
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2018 2017
Number Amount Number Amount
Share capital 000 £m ‘000 £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 1p each
At1April 978,971 9.8 1,001,052 10.0
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (26,810) (0.3) (22,081) (0.2)
Total 952,161 9.5 978,971 9.8

Inthe year ended 31 March 2017, the Company commenced a share buyback programme. By resolutions passed at the 2017 AGM, the Company
was authorised to make market purchases of up to 97,476,919 of its ordinary shares, subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions.

Atotal of 26,809,702 ordinary shares of £0.01were purchasedin the year (2017: 26,292,510). The average price paid per share was 358.5p
(2017: 387.9p), with a total consideration paid (inclusive of all costs) of £96.7m (2017: £102.6m).

No shares were purchasedto be heldin treasury (2017: 4,211,957).

Included withinsharesinissue at 31 March 2018 are 932,761(2017: 948,924) shares held by the ESOT and 4,194,989 (2017: 4,203,277) shares held

intreasury,asdetailedinnote 22.

ESOT shares Treasury
reserve shares Total
Own shares held -£m £m £m £m
Ownshares held asat1April 2016 (1.5) - (1.5)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 0.1 - 0.1
Repurchase of ownshares for treasury - (15.5) (15.5)
Ownshares held as at 31t March 2017 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
Ownshares heldasat1April 2017 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2018 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
ESOT shares Treasury Total
reserve shares number of
Number of Number of ownshares

Own shares held —number shares shares held
Ownsharesheldasat1April 2016 1,021,224 - 1,021,224
Transfer of shares from ESOT (72,300) - (72,300)
Shares purchased for treasury - 4211957 4211957
Share-basedincentives exercisedinthe year - (8,680) (8,680)
Ownshares held as at 31t March 2017 948,924 4,203,277 5,152,201
Ownsharesheldasat1April 2017 948,924 4,203,277 5152,201
Transfer of shares from ESOT (16,163) - (16,163)
Share-basedincentives exercisedin the year - (8,288) (8,288)
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2018 932,761 4,194,989 5,127,750
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Dividends declared and paid by the Company were as follows:

2018 2017
Pence Pence

pershare £m pershare £m

2016 final dividend paid - - 1.0 9.9
2017 interim dividend paid - - 1.7 16.7
2017 final dividend paid 3.5 34.0 - -
2018 interim dividend paid 1.9 18.2 - -
54 52.2 2.7 26.6

The proposed finaldividend for the year ended 31 March 2018 of 4.0p per share, totalling £37.9m, is subject to approval by shareholders
atthe Annual General Meeting (AGM’) and hence has not beenincluded as aliability in the financial statements.

The 2018 interim dividend paid on 26 January 2018 was £18.2m, being a difference of £0.Im compared to that reportedin the 2017 half year
results. Thiswas due to adecrease inthe ordinary shares entitled to adividend between the date that the dividend was declared on

9 November 2017 and the dividend record date of 5 January 2018.

The 2017 finaldividend paid on 29 September 2017 was £34.0m, being a difference of £0.1m compared to thatreportedin the 2017 Annual Report.
Thiswas due toadecreaseinthe ordinary shares entitled to adividend between the date that the dividend was proposed on 8 June 2017 and the

finaldividend record date of 1 September 2017.

The Directors’ policy withregard to future dividendsis set outin the Strategicreport on page 31.

2018 2017
£m £m
Profit before taxation 210.8 193.4
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 3.0 3.2
Amortisation 44 4.8
Share-based payments charge (excluding associated NI) 3.3 4.0
Finance costs 9.8 9.7
Changesinworking capital (excluding the effects of exchange differences on consolidation):
Trade and otherreceivables (3.5) 0.7
Trade and other payables (1.5) (2.3)
Provisions 0.1 (0.6)
Cash generated from operations 226.1 212.9
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The Group currently operates four share schemes: the Performance Share Plan, Deferred Annual Bonus Plan, Share Incentive Planand the

Sharesave scheme.

Allshare-basedincentives are subject to aservice condition. Such conditions are not taken into accountin the fair value of the service

received. The fairvalue of servicesreceivedinreturn for share-basedincentivesis measured by reference to the fair value of share-based
incentives granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share-based incentivesis measured using either the Monte Carlo or Black-Scholes

pricing modelasis mostappropriate for each scheme.

The totalchargeinthe yearrelating to the four schemes was £3.7m (2017: £4.5m) with a Company charge of £1.0m (2017: £1.5m). Thisincluded

associated nationalinsurance (‘NI') at13.8%, which management expects to be the prevailing rate when the awards are exercised, and
apprenticeship levyat 0.5%, based onthe share price at the reporting date.

Group Company

2018 2017 2018 2017

£m £m £m £m

ShareIncentive Plan (‘SIP’) 0.8 0.8 - -
Sharesave scheme (‘SAYE’) 0.3 0.3 - -
Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) 1.8 24 0.7 1.0
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan ('DABP’) 0.4 0.5 0.2 0.3
Total share-based payment charge 3.3 4.0 0.9 1.3
Nland apprenticeship levy onapplicable schemes 0.4 0.5 0.1 0.2
Totalcharge 3.7 4.5 1.0 1.5

Share Incentive Plan

In 2015, the Group established a Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’). All eligible employees were awarded free shares (or nil-cost optionsin the case
of employeesinlireland) valued at £3,600 each based on the share price at the time of the Company’s admission to the Stock Exchangein
March 2015, subject to a three-year service period ('Vesting Period’). The SIP shareholders are entitled to dividends over the Vesting Period.
There are no performance conditions applicable to the vesting of SIP shares. The fair value of the SIP awards at the grant date was measured

tobe £2.72 using the Black-Scholes model. The resulting share-based payments charge is being spread evenly over the Vesting Period.

UKSIP
2018 2017
Number Number
Outstanding at1April 776,045 913,917
Dividend shares awarded 9,778 6,139
Forfeited (75,986) (69,589)
Released (19,046) (74,422)
Outstanding at 31 March 690,791 776,045
Vested and outstanding at 31 March - -
Irish SIP
2018 2017
Number Number
Outstanding at1April 44,431 45491
Dividend shares awarded 788 -
Forfeited (7,950) (1,060)
Released (1,347) -
Outstanding at 31 March 35,922 44,431
Vested and outstanding at 31 March - -
The weighted average market value per ordinary share for SIPawards released in 2018 was 372.01p (2017: 387.14p).
The SIPshares outstanding at 31 March 2018 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 0.1years (2017: 1.1 years).
Sharesreleasedrelate to those attributable to good leavers as defined by the schemerules.
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Performance Share Plan
The Group operates a Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) for Executive Directors, the OLT and certain key employees.

On16June 2017, the Group awarded 1,120,267 nil cost options under the PSP scheme. A further 67,882 nil cost option shares were awarded
on 30 August 2017. The extent to which such awards vest willdepend upon the Group’s performance over a three-year performance period
following the award date. The vestingin June 2020 ('Vesting Date’) of 25% of the 2017 PSP award will be dependent on arelative TSR
performance condition measured over the performance period and the vesting of the 75% of the 2017 PSP award will be dependent on

the satisfaction of acumulative Operating profit (‘OP’) target measured over the performance period.

The TSR performance conditions for the awardsissuedin 2015 and 2016 will be dependent on the satisfaction of a cumulative Underlying
operating profit (‘'UOP’) target measured over the performance period. For details of TSR, OP and UOP performance conditionsrefertothe
Directors’ remunerationreporton pages 74to78.

The PSP awards have beenvalued using the Monte Carlo model for the TSR element and the Black-Scholes model for the Operating profit
and Underlying operating profit element and the resulting share-based payments charge is being spread evenly over the period between the
grant date and the Vesting Date.

Share price Exercise Expected Option Risk-free Dividend Non-vesting Fair value

atgrantdate price volatility life rate yield condition peroption

Grantdate Condition (£) (£) (%) (years) (%) (%) (%) (£)
19 June 2015 TSRdependent 3.06 Nil 30 3.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 2.08
19 June 2015 UOPdependent 3.06 Nil n/a 3.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 3.06
17 June 2016 TSRdependent 3.89 Nil 29 3.0 0.4 0.4 0.0 216
17 June 2016 UOPdependent 3.89 Nil n/a 3.0 0.4 0.4 0.0 3.89
16 June 2017 TSR dependent 4.00 Nil 31 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 217
16 June 2017 OPdependent 4.00 Nil n/a 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 4.00
30 August 2017 TSRdependent 3.42 Nil 31 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 217
30 August2017 OPdependent 3.42 Nil n/a 3.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 3.42

Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date.

2018 2017

Number Number

Outstanding at1April 2,682,738 1,641,267
Options grantedinthe year 1,188,149 186,365
Forfeited (766,324) (144,894)
Outstanding at 31 March 3,104,563 2,682,738

Exercisable at 31 March - _

The PSP awards outstanding at 31 March 2018 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 1.2 years (2017: 1.6 years) and a weighted
average contractuallife of 8.2 years (2017: 8.7 years).

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan
The Group operates a Deferred Annual Bonus Plan ('DABP’) for Executive Directors and certain key senior executives.

Awards under the planare contingent on the satisfaction of pre-setinternal targets relating to financialand operational objectives. Awards
have avesting period of two years from the date of the award (the ‘Vesting Period’) and are potentially forfeitable during that period should
the employee leave employment. The DABP awards have beenvalued using the Monte Carlo modeland the resulting share-based payments
chargeis being spread evenly over the combined Performance Period and Vesting Period of the shares, being three years.

On16June 2017, the Group awarded 127,691 nil cost options under the DABP scheme.

Share price Exercise Expected Option Risk-free Dividend Non-vesting Fairvalue

atgrant date price volatility life rate yield condition peroption

Grant date (£) (£) (%) (years) (%) (%) (%) (£)
17 June 2016 3.89 Nil 30 2.0 04 0.4 0.0 3.89
16 June 2017 4.00 Nil 31 2.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 4.00
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Expectedvolatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date.

2018 2017

Number Number

Outstanding at1April 248,263 -
Options granted inthe year 127,691 248,263
Dividend shares awarded 1,306 -
Optionsforfeitedinthe year (73,380) -
Outstanding at 31 March 303,880 248,263
Exercisable at 31 March 74,686 -

The DABP awards outstanding at 31 March 2018 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 1.2 years (2017: 2.2 years) and a weighted

average contractuallife of 8.6 years (2017: 9.2 years).

The charge for the yearincludes an estimate of the awards to be granted after the balance sheet date inrespect of achievement of 2018 targets.

Sharesave scheme

The Group operates a Sharesave (‘SAYE') scheme for allemployees under which employees are granted an option to purchase ordinary shares
inthe Company atup to 20% less than the market price atinvitation, in three years’ time, dependent on their enteringinto a contract to make
monthly contributionsinto a savings account over the relevant period. Options are granted and are linked to a savings contract withaterm

of threeyears. These funds are used to fund the option exercise. No performance criteria are applied to the exercise of Sharesave options.

The assumptionsusedinthe measurement of the fair value at grant date of the Sharesave plan are as follows:

Share price Exercise Expected Option Risk-free Dividend Non-vesting Fair value

at grantdate price volatility life rate yield condition per option

(£) (£) (%) (years) (%) (%) (%) (£)

25 September 2015 3.28 2.64 30 3.0 1.0 0.0 33 0.96
13 December 2017 3.48 2.59 31 3.0 0.6 1.3 14 112

Expectedvolatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date. The requirement thatan employee has
tosaveinordertopurchase sharesunder the Sharesave planis anon-vesting condition. This feature has beenincorporatedinto the fair value

at grant date by applying adiscount to the valuation obtained from the Black-Scholes pricing model.

2018 2017
Weighted average Weighted average
Number of exercise price Number of exercise price
share options £ share options £
Outstanding at1April 919,281 2.64 1,060,225 2.64
Options grantedinthe year 728,520 2.59 - -
Exercised (6,941) 2.64 (8,680) 2.64
Lapsed (110,008) 2.63 (132,264) 2.64
Outstanding at 31 March 1,530,852 2.61 919,281 2.64
Exercisable at 31 March = = - -
The weighted average market value per ordinary share for Sharesave options exercised in 2018 was 372.52p (2017: 369.51p).
The Sharesave options outstanding at 31 March 2018 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 1.7 years (2017: 1.7 years)
and aweighted average contractual life of 2.2 years (2017: 2.2 years).
Sharesave options exercised relate to those attributable to good leavers as defined by the scheme rules.
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On 25 April 2017, Auto Trader Limited, a subsidiary of Auto Trader Group plc, acquired the entire share capital of Motor Trade Delivery Limited
('MTD’),an online real-time marketplace for the trade delivery of vehicles across the UK. Through the platform, car dealerships and rental
companies list ‘jobs’ - vehicles that need moving to another retailer site oracustomer - and logistics providers bid for the jobs viaalive
auction process. Thisacquisitionis an extension of Auto Trader’s overall strategy of using digital technology to improve efficiencies for retailer
customers.

The total cash consideration paid of £12.2 million excludes acquisition costs of £0.2 million, £0.1 million of which was recognised as an expense
inthe yearended 31 March 2017. The remainder has beenrecognised in the current period within administrative expensesin the consolidated
income statement.

The following table provides areconciliation of the amountsincluded in the consolidated statement of cash flows:

2018

£m

Cash paid for subsidiary 12.2
Less: cashacquired (0.3)
Net cash outflow 1.9

From the period fromacquisition to 31 March 2018, MTD contributed revenue of £1.1 million,and aloss of £0.5 million (afteranamortisation
charge of £1.0 million) to the Group's results.

The purchase hasbeenaccounted foras abusiness combination under the acquisition methodinaccordance with IFRS 3. The fair value of net
assetsacquired was assessed and no material adjustments from book value were made to existing assets and liabilities. The following table
represents the fair value of the net assets acquired at the date of acquisition:

Fairvalue
£m

Intangible assets recognised on acquisition:
Customer relationships 3.2
Non-compete agreement 0.6
Website 04
Deferredtaxliability arising onintangible assets (0.7)
3.5

Currentassets

Trade and otherreceivables 0.7
Cashand cashequivalents 0.3
1.0
Current liabilities (0.8)
Totalnetassetsacquired 3.7
Goodwillonacquisition 8.5
12.2
Cash consideration 12.2

The goodwillrecognised on acquisitionrelates to value arising fromintangible assets that are not separately identifiable under IFRS 3.
Thisrepresents synergies expected to arise from combining with the existing business of Auto Trader Limited. None of the acquired
intangible assets or goodwillis expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Inadditionto the goodwill recognised, the customer relationships, non-compete agreement and website obtained through the acquisition
met the requirements to be separately identifiable under IFRS 3.
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Guarantees
Anumber of the Group's entities provide guarantees under the Group's Senior Facilities Agreement. The amount borrowed under this
agreementat 31 March 2018 was £343.0m (2017: £363.0m).

Contingent liabilities

HMRC have identified a potential VAT riskin respect of the rate of VAT applicable to ourinsurance intermediary revenue within Consumer
services, dating back from 2013 onwards. The Group recognises provisions for liabilities whenitis more likely than not that a settlement
will berequired and the value of such apayment can be reliably estimated. A provision has not beenrecognised as the Group does not
considerasettlement will be probable. The Group is providing furtherinformation to clarify the nature of the services supplied but has
estimated the maximum one-off liability at £3.0mincludinginterest and penalties.

During the year, the Group transacted with Burns Sheehan Limited, a third party in which a Director holds a shareholding. This company is

deemedtobearelated party. Costsincurred wereinrespect of recruitment consultancy services whichamounted to £34,737 (2017: £nil).

There were noamounts outstanding at the year end. All transactions were completed onanarm’s length basis.

Key Management personnel compensation has been disclosed innote 6.

Atthe balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases, which falldue as follows:

Land and buildings Other
2018 2017 2018 2017
£m £m £m £m
No laterthanoneyear 2.5 14 0.5 0.6
Later thanoneyearand no later than five years 9.9 9.9 0.3 0.7
Later than five years 9.8 12.4 - -
Total 22.2 23.7 0.8 1.3
At 31 March 2018,£9.3m (2017: £11.8m) of future lease payments payable after five yearsrelate to the Manchesterand London properties.
The lease termsonthese properties are between10and15yearsand both lease agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period
atmarketrate.
On6June 2018, the Group signed into a new Revolving Credit Facility (the ‘'new RCF’) to replace the existing Syndicated Term Loan and
revolving credit facility. The new RCF, whichisunsecured, has total commitments of £400m and a termination date of June 2023.
Intereston the new RCFis charged at LIBOR plusamargin of between1.2%and 2.1% depending on the consolidated leverage of
Auto Trader Group plc. Acommitment fee of 35% of the margin applicable to the new RCF is payable quarterly in arrears on unutilised
amounts of the new RCF. Thereis norequirement to settle all, or part, of the debt earlier than the termination date.
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At 31 March 2018
2018 2017
Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Investments 3 1,212.9 1,210.5
1,212.9 1,210.5
Currentassets
Debtors 4 440.7 4201
Cashandcashequivalents 0.2 -
440.9 4201
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 (288.4) (118.4)
Net currentassets 152.5 301.7
Netassets 1,365.4 1,512.2
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 9 9.5 9.8
Own shares held 10 (16.9) (16.9)
Capitalredemptionreserve 0.5 0.2
Retained earnings 1,372.3 1,5191
Total equity 1,365.4 1,512.2

The financial statements from pages 124 to 130 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised forissue.

Director

7June 2018

Auto Trader Group plc Registered number 09439967
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Company statement of changes in equity

Forthe yearended 31 March 2018

Capital
Share Ownshares redemption Retained Total
capital held reserve earnings equity
£m £m £m £m £m
Balance at March 2016 10.0 (1.5) - 1,630.8 1,639.3
Loss fortheyear - - - (1.9) (1.9)
Totalcomprehensive expense, net of tax - - - (1.9) 1.9)
Transactions with owners:
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (0.2) - 0.2 (871) (871)
Purchase of treasury shares - (15.5) - - (15.5)
Transfer from ESOT - 0.1 - (0.) -
Dividends paid - - - (26.6) (26.6)
Share-based payments - - - 4.0 4.0
Totaltransactions with ownersrecognised directly in equity (0.2) (15.4) 0.2 (109.8) (125.2)
Balance at March 2017 9.8 (16.9) 0.2 1,5191 1,512.2
Loss fortheyear - - - (1.4) (1.4)
Totalcomprehensive expense, net of tax - - - (1.4) (1.4)
Transactions with owners:
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (0.3) - 0.3 (96.7) (96.7)
Dividends paid - - - (52.2) (52.2)
Share-based payments - - - 3.3 3.3
Deferred tax onshare-based payments - - - 0.2 0.2
Totaltransactions with ownersrecognised directly in equity (0.3) - 0.3 (145.4) (145.4)
Balance at March 2018 9.5 (16.9) 0.5 1,372.3 1,365.4

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had distributable reserves of £1,372.3m (2017: £1,519.1m). Whenrequired, the Company canreceive dividends

fromits subsidiaries to furtherincrease distributable reserves.

Auto Trader Group plc

Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2018

125



Notes to the Company financial statements

Auto Trader Group plcis apublic limited company whichis listed on the London Stock Exchange and is domiciled and incorporatedinthe
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The Company was incorporated on13 February 2015 and adopted FRS102 from that date.

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

The Company financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc have been preparedin compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland’
(‘FRS102')and the Companies Act 2006. The Company financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention, as modified
fortherevaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities through profit or loss. The current year financialinformation presentedis atand for
theyear (365 days) ended 31 March 2018. The comparative financialinformation presentedis atand for the 369-day period ended 31 March 2017.
During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Board made the decision to change the period end date to be 31 March every year, to betteralign with our
customers’ needs and to the products and services we offer. Asa consequence of the change, the 2017 financial year was four days longer than
the currentyear.

The Directors have used the going concern principle on the basis that the current profitable financial projections and facilities of the
consolidated Group will continue in operation for a period not less than12 months from the date of thisreport.

The Company financial statements have been preparedin sterling (£), whichis the functionaland presentational currency of the Company,
and have beenrounded to the nearest hundred thousand (£0.1m) except where otherwise indicated.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, an entity profitand loss accountis notincluded as part of the published consolidated
financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc. The loss for the financial period dealt with in the financial statements of the parent Company
was £1.4m (2017: loss of £1.9m).

Asthe Companyisincludedinthe consolidated financial statements andis considered to be a qualifying entity under FRS102 paragraphs
1.8t01.12,the following exemptions have been applied:

- noseparate parent Company cash flow statement with related notes has beenincluded; and
- Key Management personnelcompensation has notbeenincluded asecondtime.

Amounts paid to the Company’s auditorsinrespect of the statutory audit were £56,650 (2017: £55,000).

Estimation techniques

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with FRS102 requires the use of certain criticalaccounting estimates. Italsorequires
management to exercise their judgementin the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areasinvolving ahigher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are:

- share-based payments; and

- carrying value of investments.

Share-based paymentarrangementsin which the Group receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments are
accounted foras equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The accounting policies of such arrangements are disclosed in note 1 of
the Group accounts. The fair value of servicesreceivedinreturn for share optionsis calculated with reference to the fair value of the award on
the date of grant. Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo models have beenused where appropriate to calculate the fair value and the Directors have
therefore made estimates with regard to the inputs to that modeland the period over which the share award is expected to vest (note 25 of
the consolidated Group financial statements).

The Group considersannually whether the carrying value of investments has suffered any impairmentin accordance with the accounting policy
stated. The recoverable amounts of investments have been determined based onvalue-in-use calculations, which require the use of estimates.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investmentsin subsidiaries are held at cost, less any provision forimpairment. Annually, the Directors consider whether any events or
circumstances have occurred that could indicate that the carrying amount of fixed assetinvestments may not be recoverable. If such
circumstances do exist, a fullimpairmentreview isundertaken to establish whether the carrying amount exceeds the higher of net
realisable value orvalueinuse. If thisis the case,animpairment chargeisrecorded toreduce the carrying value of the related investment.

Where equity-settled share-based payments are granted to the employees of subsidiary companies, the fair value of the award s treated
as acapital contribution by the Company and the investmentsin subsidiaries are adjusted to reflect this capital contribution.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shownin equity as a deduction
from the proceeds.

Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from equity attributable to the Group's
shareholders. Where such shares are subsequently cancelled, the nominal value of the shares repurchased is deducted from share capital
and transferredto acapitalredemptionreserve. Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital to holdin Treasury, the consideration
paid for the sharesis shown as own shares held within equity.

Shares held by the Employee Share Option Trust
Sharesinthe Company held by the Employee Share Option Trust ('ESOT’) are included in the balance sheet at cost asadeduction from equity.
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Taxation
UK corporation taxis provided atamounts expected to be paid or recovered using the taxrates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferredtaxisrecognisedinrespectof all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date, where
transactions or events thatresultinan obligation to pay more taxin the future oraright to pay less taxin the future have occurred on the
balance sheet date.

Anetdeferredtaxassetisregardedasrecoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all evidence available, it can be
regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits against which to recover carried-forward tax losses and from
which the future reversal of underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferredtaxis measured at the average rates thatare expected to applyin the periodsin which the timing differences are expected toreverse
based onthetaxratesandlaws that have beenenacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred taxis measuredonan
undiscounted basis.

Financialinstruments
The Company has chosentoadopt Sections1iand12 of FRS102inrespect of financialinstruments.

a) Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances and investments in commercial paper, are initially
recognised at transaction price (unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction) and are subsequently carried atamortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial assets which constitute a financing transaction are measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted ata marketrate
of interest. Such assets are subsequently carried at fair value and the changesin fair value are recognisedin profit or loss, except that
investmentsin equity instruments that are not publicly traded and whose fair values cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost less
impairment.

Atthe end of eachreporting period financial assets measured atamortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment. If an
assetisimpaired theimpairmentlossis the difference between the carryingamountand the presentvalue of the estimated cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective interestrate. The impairmentlossisrecognisedin profit or loss.

If thereisadecreaseintheimpairmentloss arising froman event occurring after the impairment was recognised, theimpairmentisreversed.
Thereversalis such thatthe current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not
previously beenrecognised. Theimpairmentreversalisrecognisedin profit or loss.

Financialassetsare derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or (b) substantially all
therisks and rewards of the ownership of the assetare transferred to another party or (c) despite having retained some significant risks and
rewards of ownership, control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical ability to unilaterally sell the asset to
anunrelated third party withoutimposing additional restrictions.

b) Financial liabilities

Basic financialliabilities, including trade and other payables, bank loans, loans from fellow Group companies and preference shares that are
classified as debt, are initially recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt
instrumentis measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. Debtinstruments are subsequently
carried atamortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent thatitis probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence thatitis
probable thatsome or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility towhichitrelates.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have beenacquiredin the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if paymentis due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction price and subsequently measured atamortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Dividend distribution

Dividends to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statementsin the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Company's shareholdersin the case of final dividends. Inrespect of interim dividends, these are recognised
once paid.

The Company has no employees other than the Directors. Full details of the Directors’ remuneration andinterests are set outin the Directors’
remunerationreporton pages 74to78.
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2018 2017

£m £m

At beginning of the period 1,210.5 1,207.8
Additions 2.4 2.7
At end of the period 1,212.9 1,210.5

The additionsinthe yearand prior year relate to equity-settled share-based payments granted to the employees of subsidiary companies.

Subsidiary undertakings
At 31 March 2018 the Group’s related undertakings were:

Percentage Percentage
Country of registration Classof owned by the owned by the
Subsidiary undertakings orincorporation Principal activity shares held parent Group
Auto Trader Holding Limited' England and Wales Financing company Ordinary 100% 100%
Auto Trader Limited' England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 100%
Trader Licensing Limited' England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary - 100%
Webzone Limited? Republic of Ireland Online marketplace Ordinary - 100%
Motor Trade Delivery Limited' England and Wales Online marketplace Ordinary - 100%
1 Registered office address for UK companiesis shownon theinside back cover.
2 Registered office address for the Republic of Ireland companiesis Paramount Court, Corrig Road, Sandyford Industrial Estate, Dublin 18, D18 R9C7.
2018 2017
£m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 439.9 419.7
Deferredtaxasset 0.8 04
Total 440.7 4201
Amounts owed by Group undertakings are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed date of repayment.
2018 2017
£m £m
Cashatbankandinhand 0.2 -
2018 2017
£m £m
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 287.3 175
Accrualsand deferredincome 11 0.9
Total 288.4 18.4

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed date of repayment.
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Financialinstruments utilised by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2018 and period ended 31 March 2017 may be analysed as follows:

2018 2017
Financial assets £m £m
Financialassets measured atamortised cost 439.9 497
2018 2017
Financial liabilities £m £m
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 288.4 118.4

Current assets and liabilities
Financialinstrumentsincluded within current assets and liabilities (excluding cash and borrowings) are generally short termin nature and

accordingly their fair values approximate to their book values.

Dividends declared and paid by the Company were as follows:

2018 2017
Pence Pence

pershare £m pershare £m

2016 final dividend paid - - 1.0 9.9
2017 interim dividend paid - - 1.7 16.7
2017 final dividend paid 3.5 34.0 - -
2018 interim dividend paid 1.9 18.2 - -
5.4 52.2 2.7 26.6

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2018 of 4.0p per share, totalling £37.9m, is subject to approval by shareholders
atthe Annual General Meeting ((AGM’) and hence has notbeenincluded as aliability in the financial statements.

The 2018 interim dividend paid on 26 January 2018 was £18.2m, being a difference of £0.1m compared to that reportedin the 2017 half year
results. Thiswas due toadecrease inthe ordinary shares entitled to adividend between the date that the dividend was declared on
9 November 2017 and the dividend record date of 5 January 2018.

The 2017 final dividend paid on 29 September 2017 was £34.0m, being a difference of £0.iIm compared to that reportedin the 2017 Annual Report.
Thiswas due to adecreaseinthe ordinary shares entitled to a dividend between the date that the dividend was proposed on 8 June 2017 and the
final dividend record date of 1 September 2017.

The Directors’ policy with regard to future dividends is set outin the Strategic report on page 31.

2018 2017
Number Amount Number Amount
Share capital '000 £m ‘000 £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 1p each
At1April 978,971 9.8 1,001,052 10.0
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (26,810) (0.3) (22,081) (0.2)
Total 952,161 9.5 978971 9.8

Inthe year ended 31 March 2017, the Company commenced a share buyback programme. By resolutions passed at the 20177 AGM, the Company
was authorised to make market purchases of up to 97,476,919 of its ordinary shares, subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions.

Atotal of 26,809,702 ordinary shares of £0.01 were purchased in the year (2017: 26,292,510). The average price paid per share was 358.5p
(2017:387.9p), with a total consideration paid (inclusive of all costs) of £96.7m (2017: £102.6m).

No shares were purchased to be heldin treasury (2017: 4,211,957).

Included withinsharesinissue at 31 March 2018 are 932,761(2017: 948,924) shares held by the ESOT and 4,194,989 (2017: 4,203,277) shares held in
treasury, as detailed innote 10.
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continued
ESOT shares Treasury

reserve shares Total
Ownshares held -£m £m £m £m
Own shares held as at1April 2016 (1.5) - (1.5)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 0.1 - 0.1
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - (15.5) (15.5)
Own shares held as at 31 March 2017 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
Ownshares held asat1April 2017 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
Own shares held as at 31 March 2018 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
ESOT shares Treasury Total
reserve shares number of
Number of Number of ownshares
Own shares held — number shares shares held
Own shares held as at1April 2016 1,021,224 - 1,021,224
Transfer of shares from ESOT (72,300) - (72,300)
Shares purchased for treasury - 4,211,957 4,211,957
Share-basedincentives exercisedinthe year - (8,680) (8,680)
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2017 948,924 4,203,277 5,152,201
Ownshares held as at1April 2017 948,924 4,203,277 5,152,201
Transfer of shares from ESOT (16,163) - (16,163)
Share-basedincentives exercisedinthe year - (8,288) (8,288)
Own shares held as at 31 March 2018 932,761 4,194,989 5,127,750

The Companyisaguarantortoaborrowing facility relating to aloan provided to a Group entity. The amount borrowed under this agreement
at 31 March 2018 was £343.0m (2017: £363.0m).

During the year,amanagement charge of £2.1m (2017: £1.9m) was received from Auto Trader Limited inrespect of services rendered.

Attheyear end, balances outstanding with other Group undertakings were £439.9m and £287.3m respectively for debtors and creditors
(2017: £419.7m and £117.5m) as set outinnotes 4 and 6.

On 6 June 2018, a Group entity signed into a new Revolving Credit Facility (the ‘'new RCF’) toreplace the existing Syndicated Term Loan and
revolving credit facility. The new RCF, whichis unsecured, has total commitments of £400m and a termination date of June 2023. The Company
will continue to be a guarantor under the new RCF agreement.
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Shareholder information

Registered office and headquarters
Auto Trader Group plc

4th Floor,1Tony Wilson Place
Manchester

MI154FN

United Kingdom

Registered number: 09439967

Tel: +44(0)161669 9888

Web: autotrader.co.uk

Web: plc.autotrader.co.uk
Investorrelations: ir@autotrader.co.uk

Company Secretary
Claire Baty

Joint stockbrokers
Bank of America Merrill Lynch
2King Edward Street

London

ECIATHQ

Numis Securities Limited

The London Stock Exchange Building
10 Paternoster Square

London

ECAMT7LT

Independent auditors
KPMG LLP

1St. Peter's Square
Manchester

M2 3AE

Registrar

Link Asset Services
34 BeckenhamRoad
Beckenham
BR34TU

TelUK: +44(0) 871664 0300
(calls cost12p per minute plus network extras;

linesare open9.00amto 5.30pm Monday to Friday,

excluding public holidaysin England and Wales)

Telinternational: +44 (0) 371664 0300
(charged atthe appropriate internationalrate)

Web: linkassetservices.com
Email: enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk

Financial calendar 2018-2019

Annual General Meeting 20 September 2018
2019 Half-year results 8 November 2018
2019 Full-year results June 2019

Shareholder enquiries

Ourregistrars will be pleased to deal withany questions

regarding your shareholdings (see contact details in the opposite
column). Alternatively, if you have internetaccess, you canaccess
https://www.autotradershares.co.uk where you canview and
manage allaspects of your shareholding securely including electronic
communications,account enquiries oramendment to address.

Investor relations website

Theinvestorrelations section of our website,
plc.autotrader.co.uk/investors, provides furtherinformation for
anyoneinterestedin Auto Trader. Inadditionto the Annual Reportand
Financial Statements and share price, Company announcements
including the full-year results announcements and associated
presentationsare also published there.

Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements

Certain statements made in this Report are forward-looking
statements. Such statements are based on current expectations
and assumptions and are subject toanumber of risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ
materially from any expected future events or results expressed
orimpliedinthese forward-looking statements. They appearina
number of places throughout this

Reportandinclude statements regarding the intentions, beliefs

or current expectations of the Directors concerning, amongst
other things, the Group’sresults of operations, financial condition,
liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and the business. Persons
receiving this Report should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements. Unless otherwise required by applicable law,
regulation oraccounting standard, Auto Trader Group plc does
notundertake to update or revise any forward-looking statements,
whetherasaresult of new information, future developments
orotherwise.
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